Aristotle University of Thessaloniki Faculty of Sciences School of Biology Department of Ecology



Investigating climate change impacts on marine biodiversity integrating characteristics of lifecycle, biology and behaviour of species

> Anastasia Chatzimentor PhD Dissertation

Thessaloniki, January 2024



ARISTOTLE UNIVERSITY OF THESSALONIKI FACULTY OF SCIENCES SCHOOL OF BIOLOGY DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY DOCTORATE STUDIES



Investigating climate change impacts on marine biodiversity integrating characteristics of lifecycle, biology and behaviour of species

PhD DISSERTATION

ANASTASIA CHATZIMENTOR Graduate of the School of Biology AUTH

Thessaloniki, January 2024





Διερευνώντας τις επιπτώσεις της κλιματικής αλλαγής στη θαλάσσια πανίδα ενσωματώνοντας χαρακτηριστικά του κύκλου ζωής και της βιολογίας και συμπεριφοράς των ειδών

ΔΙΔΑΚΤΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΤΡΙΒΗ

ΑΝΑΣΤΑΣΙΑ ΧΑΤΖΗΜΕΝΤΩΡ Πτυχιούχος Τμήματος Βιολογίας ΑΠΘ

Θεσσαλονίκη, Ιανουάριος 2024

Εγώ, η Αναστασία Χατζημέντωρ, βεβαιώνω ότι είμαι συγγραφέας της παρούσας εργασίας και ότι έχω αναφέρει ή παραπέμψει σε αυτήν, ρητά και συγκεκριμένα, όλες τις πηγές από τις οποίες έκανα χρήση δεδομένων, ιδεών, προτάσεων ή λέξεων, είτε αυτές μεταφέρονται επακριβώς (στο πρωτότυπο ή μεταφρασμένες) είτε παραφρασμένες.

Η έγκρισις της παρούσης διπλωματικής εργασίας υπό του Τμήματος Βιολογίας της Σχολής Θετικών Επιστημών του Αριστοτελείου Πανεπιστημίου Θεσσαλονίκης δεν υποδηλοί αποδοχήν των γνωμών του συγγραφέως (N.5343/1932, άρθρ. 202, παρ. 2).

Εξεταστική Επιτροπή

Αντώνιος Μαζάρης^{1,2}, Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής, Τομέας Οικολογίας, Τμήμα Βιολογίας, Αριστοτέλειο Πανεπιστήμιο Θεσσαλονίκης, Ελλάδα

Αθανάσιος Τσίκληρας^{2,3}, Καθηγητής, Τομέας Οικολογίας, Τμήμα Βιολογίας, Αριστοτέλειο Πανεπιστήμιο Θεσσαλονίκης, Ελλάδα

Στυλιανός-Μάριος Κατσανεβάκης^{2,3}, Καθηγητής, Τμήμα Ωκεανογραφίας και Θαλασσίων Βιοεπιστημών, Πανεπιστήμιο Αιγαίου, Ελλάδα

Αθανάσιος Καλλιμάνης³, Καθηγητής, Τομέας Οικολογίας, Τμήμα Βιολογίας, Αριστοτέλειο Πανεπιστήμιο Θεσσαλονίκης, Ελλάδα

Αθανάσιος Δάμιαλης³, Επίκουρος Καθηγητής, Τομέας Οικολογίας, Τμήμα Βιολογίας, Αριστοτέλειο Πανεπιστήμιο Θεσσαλονίκης, Ελλάδα

Γεώργιος Κόκκορης³, Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής, Τμήμα Ωκεανογραφίας και Θαλασσίων Βιοεπιστημών, Πανεπιστήμιο Αιγαίου, Ελλάδα

Δρόσος Κουτσούμπας³, Καθηγητής, Τμήμα Ωκεανογραφίας και Θαλασσίων Βιοεπιστημών, Πανεπιστήμιο Αιγαίου, Ελλάδα

¹Επιβλέπων

²Μέλος της συμβουλευτικής επιτροπής

³Μέλος της εξεταστικής επιτροπής

Προτεινόμενος τρόπος αναφοράς της Διδακτορικής Διατριβής

Χατζημέντωρ Αναστασία (2024) Διερευνώντας τις επιπτώσεις της κλιματικής αλλαγής στη θαλάσσια πανίδα ενσωματώνοντας χαρακτηριστικά του κύκλου ζωής και της βιολογίας και συμπεριφοράς των ειδών. Διδακτορική διατριβή. Αριστοτέλειο Πανεπιστήμιο Θεσσαλονίκης, Ελλάδα

Chatzimentor Anastasia (2024) Investigating climate change impacts on marine biodiversity integrating characteristics of lifecycle, biology and behaviour of species. PhD dissertation. Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

ΕΝΙΣΧΥΣΗ ΕΡΕΥΝΑΣ



Η συγγραφέας της παρούσας διδακτορικής διατριβής έχει λάβει οικονομική ενίσχυση από το Ελληνικό Ίδρυμα Έρευνας και Καινοτομίας (ΕΛ.ΙΔ.Ε.Κ.) στο πλαίσιο της Δράσης «1η Προκήρυξη ερευνητικών έργων ΕΛ.ΙΔ.Ε.Κ. για την ενίσχυση των μελών ΔΕΠ και Ερευνητών/τριών και την προμήθεια ερευνητικού εξοπλισμού μεγάλης αξίας» (Αριθμός Έργου: 2340) με τίτλο: "Συστηματικός σχεδιασμός διαχείρισης υπό το πρίσμα της κλιματικής αλλαγής: αναπτύσσοντας μια ολιστική προσέγγιση για την χαρισματική θαλάσσια μεγαπανίδα".

Ευχαριστίες

Σε αυτήν την πολύχρονη προσπάθεια για την ολοκλήρωση της διατριβής δεν ήμουν μόνη, αλλά πλαισιώθηκα από πολλούς καλούς ανθρώπους, τους οποίους θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω για τη βοήθεια, τη συμπαράσταση και την ολότελη παρουσία τους.

Αρχικά, θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω τον επιβλέπων καθηγητή της διατριβής, κ. Αντώνιο Μαζάρη, για την καθοδήγηση που μου παρείχε όλα αυτά τα χρόνια, την έμπνευση, τη δυνατότητα να συμμετέχω σε όμορφες ερευνητικές πρωτοβουλίες και έργα, την ελευθερία να αναλαμβάνω πρωτοβουλίες και την πίστη, την υπομονή και ενθάρρυνση σε αυτά που κάνω και κάνουμε ως ομάδα. Ευχαριστώ πολύ και τα υπόλοιπα μέλη της Τριμελούς Επιτροπής, τον κ. Στέλιο Κατσανεβάκη και τον κ. Αθανάσιο Τσίκληρα για τις πολύτιμες υποδείξεις τους στις εργασίες της διατριβής μου. Επίσης, θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω τα υπόλοιπα μέλη της Επταμελούς Επιτροπής, κ. Δρόσο Κουτσούμπα, κ. Γεώργιο Κόκκορη, κ. Αθανάσιο Καλλιμάνη και κ. Αθανάσιο Δάμιαλη, για την αξιολόγηση της διατριβής, τις εύστοχες ερωτήσεις τους και το γόνιμο διάλογο και συζήτηση που είχα τη χαρά να κάνουμε στην παρουσίαση της διατριβής. Θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω την κ. Αγγελική Δόξα για τη βοήθειά της σε κάθε βήμα αυτής της διατριβής και την ουσιαστική, καθοριστική και ανθρώπινη παρουσία της. Επίσης, καθότι είγα τη χαρά να συνεργαστώ με την κ. Βασιλική Αλμπανίδου στην αρχή της διατριβής, αλλά και πριν από αυτή, θα ήθελα να την ευχαριστήσω για όλα αυτά που μου έμαθε, σε επιστημονικό και ανθρώπινο επίπεδο. Θα ήθελα επίσης να ευχαριστήσω την κ. Στέλλα Βαρελτζίδου για τη φιλία, τη συνεργασία και την αμέριστη υποστήριξη και πίστη της σε εμένα για όλα αυτά τα χρόνια πριν και κατά τη διάρκεια της διατριβής.

Θα ήθελα φυσικά να ευχαριστήσω τους γονείς μου, Αλεξάνδρα και Γαβριήλ, και τα αδέρφια μου, Ρέα και Αντώνη, για την αμέριστη και γεμάτη υπομονή συμπαράσταση και ψυχολογική υποστήριξη στις χαρούμενες και τις πιο δύσκολες στιγμές αυτής της προσπάθειας. Θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω φίλους και συγγενείς με τους οποίους μοιράστηκα τους προβληματισμούς μου και τις χαρές μου όλα αυτά τα χρόνια. Και φυσικά θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω τους συναδέλφους μου και τις συναδέλφισσες μου για την ένθερμη συμπαράσταση, τις ατέλειωτες συζητήσεις, τα πολλά γέλια και την όμορφη παρέα. Θα ήθελα επομένως να ευχαριστήσω τον κ. Αθανάσιο Χαραλαμπόπουλο, την κ. Νατάσα Τσαβδαρίδου, τον κ. Παναγιώτη Πέτσα, την κ. Αμαλία Κυπριώτη, την κ. Ιλάειρα Γιατρουδάκη, την κ. Δάφνη Χατζηνικολάου, την κ. Κατερίνα Κώνστα και την κ. Δήμητρα Δάλλα. Για την εικόνα του εξώφυλλου θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω θερμά την κ. Έρικα Τσιουκαντάνα.

Περίληψη

Ο βαθμός της επίδρασης της κλιματικής αλλαγής στους θαλάσσιους οργανισμούς αποτελεί ένα ζήτημα πολύπλοκο, καθώς εξαρτάται από τη συνέργεια πολλαπλών παραγόντων. Ακόμη και αν η έκθεση τους στις μεταβαλλόμενες συνθήκες είναι παρόμοια, ο κίνδυνος των οργανισμών μπροστά στην κλιματική αλλαγή ποικίλει και διαφέρει. Με βάση την τρέχουσα οικοθέση των ειδών, είναι δυνατόν να προβλέψουμε τη μελλοντική πιθανή κατανομή της στο χώρο και να αξιολογήσουμε πιθανές νέες περιοχές καταλληλότητας αλλά και περιοχές όπου η κλιματική κατανομή και την αφθονία τους εξαρτώνται και από άλλους παράγοντες, όπως είναι η συμπεριφορά, η φυσιολογία και ο κύκλος ζωής τους.

Μπροστά στην κλιματική αλλαγή, υπάρχουν χαρακτηριστικά τα οποία καθιστούν τους οργανισμούς περισσότερο ευάλωτους στις αλλαγές των περιβαλλοντικών τους παραγόντων, όπως είναι το στενό θερμοκρασιακό εύρος. Ενώ, αντίστοιχα, κάποια από τα χαρακτηριστικά αυτά μπορούν να προσδώσουν υψηλή ικανότητα για προσαρμογή, όπως είναι για παράδειγμα η υψηλή ικανότητα διασποράς. Στην αξιολόγηση της πιθανής απόκρισης των ειδών μπροστά στην κλιματική αλλαγή, είναι σημαντικό να λαμβάνονται υπόψιν τα αντίστοιχα χαρακτηριστικά που μπορεί να συνδέονται άμεσα με τις αναμενόμενες περιβαλλοντικές μεταβολές.

Στην παρούσα διατριβή επιχείρησα να συμβάλλω στην τρέχουσα επιστημονική συζήτηση σχετικά με την επίδραση της κλιματικής αλλαγής στη θαλάσσια βιοποικιλότητα, σε μία προσπάθεια να βελτιώσω τις προβλέψεις και τις αξιολογήσεις που πραγματοποιούνται για τους διάφορους οργανισμούς. Στην προσπάθεια αυτή, έλαβα υπόψιν οικολογικά και συμπεριφορικά χαρακτηριστικά των ειδών, τον κύκλο ζωής τους καθώς και τα ενδιαιτήματα που χρησιμοποιούν. Η διατριβή επικεντρώθηκε στη χωρική κλίμακα της Μεσογείου, μίας περιοχής που φιλοξενεί και αναμένεται να φιλοξενήσει σημαντικές μεταβολές στα πρότυπα κατανομής και αφθονίας της θαλάσσιας βιοποικιλότητας της. Η διερεύνησή μου εστίασε τόσο σε ήδη καλά μελετημένα, μεμονωμένα είδη, όπως οι θαλάσσιες χελώνες *Caretta caretta*, όσο και σε ευρύτερες ομάδες θαλάσσιων ειδών, συμπεριλαμβάνοντας θαλάσσια θηλαστικά και χελώνες, θαλάσσια ασπόνδυλα, καρχαρίες, σελάχια και ψάρια.

Πιο συγκεκριμένα, στην παρούσα διατριβή (Chapter B), προσδιόρισα πιθανές αλλαγές στην καταλληλότητα των θαλάσσιων ενδιαιτημάτων των θαλάσσιων χελωνών λόγω αύξησης της μέσης θερμοκρασίας της επιφάνειας της θάλασσας, λαμβάνοντας υπόψιν διάφορα στάδια του κύκλου ζωής τους. Ενήλικα και ανώριμα άτομα διαφοροποιούνται στη συμπεριφορά τροφοληψίας και τις οικολογικές τους απαιτήσεις. Χρησιμοποιώντας παρουσίες ατόμων που πραγματοποιούσαν τροφοληψία στη Μεσόγειο, εφάρμοσα συζευγμένα μοντέλα κλιματικής καταλληλότητας, με τα οποία προβλέφθηκε η κατανομή των θερμοκρασιακά κατάλληλων περιοχών των δύο σταδίων ζωής για τις παροντικές και μελλοντικές κλιματικής συνθήκες. Οι προβλέψεις αυτές διέφεραν, γεωγραφικά και τοπογραφικά. Ενώ οι κατάλληλες περιοχές των ανώριμων ατόμων εντοπίστηκαν κυρίως στο κεντρικό και ανατολικό τμήμα της λεκάνης. Ένα ενθαρρυντικό εύρημα της έρευνας ήταν ότι η έκταση των κατάλληλων περιοχών που κατάλληλων περιοχών που κατάλληλων περιοχών που κατάλληλων περιοχών των ανώριμων ατόμων

ατόμων παραμένει σχετικά σταθερή. Λαμβάνοντας υπόψιν τα διαφορετικά στάδια του κύκλου ζωής των θαλάσσιων ειδών στις προβλέψεις μπορεί να συνεισφέρει στην αξιολόγηση των αποκρίσεών τους στην κλιματική αλλαγή, ακόμη και για τα ανώριμα στάδια που είναι περισσότερο ευάλωτα και λιγότερο μελετημένα.

Παρόλα αυτά, οι θαλάσσιες χελώνες αποτελούν είδη με υψηλή κινητικότητα σε όλη τη στήλη του νερού, ένα χαρακτηριστικό της συμπεριφοράς τους το οποίο αγνοείται στις προβλέψεις για τις επιπτώσεις της κλιματικής αλλαγής στη γωρική τους καταλληλότητα. Βασιζόμενη σε αυτόν τον προβληματισμό, επιγείρησα στο επόμενο κεφάλαιο της διατριβής (Chapter C) να προβλέψω τις πιθανές αλλαγές στη θερμοκρασιακή καταλληλότητα των θαλάσσιων χελωνών σε διαφορετικά βάθη, για τα ανώριμα και ενήλικα άτομα στη Μεσόγειο θάλασσα. Επιγείρησα να προσδιορίσω τρισδιάστατες περιοχές κλιματικής καταλληλότητας, χρησιμοποιώντας παρουσίες των θαλάσσιων χελωνών στη Μεσόγειο, καθώς και προβλέψεις για τη θερμοκρασία της θάλασσας σε τρεις βαθυμετρικές ζώνες. Η κατανομή των ενδιαιτημάτων διέφερε για κάθε στάδιο του κύκλου ζωής, αντικατοπτρίζοντας τη στρατηγική τροφοληψίας που ακολουθείται από τα ανώριμα και τα ενήλικα άτομα. Η ανάλυση κατέδειξε μία πιο εκτενή κατανομή των ανώριμων ατόμων σε περιοχές κοντά στην επιφάνεια της θάλασσας σε σχέση με βαθύτερες περιοχές και με περιοχές που εκτείνονται σε όλη τη στήλη του νερού. Στο μέλλον, οι προβλέψεις των μοντέλων διέφεραν για τα διακριτά ενδιαιτήματα. Ενώ για το νοτιοανατολικό άκρο της κατανομής των ανώριμων ατόμων προβλέφθηκε συρρίκνωση των περιοχών κοντά στην επιφάνεια της θάλασσας, ωστόσο στην κεντρική και βόρεια Μεσόγειο προβλέφθηκε αύξηση της καταλληλότητας για περιοχές σε όλη τη στήλη του νερού. Από την άλλη, για τα ενήλικα άτομα προβλέφθηκε κυρίως εξάπλωση των θερμοκρασιακά κατάλληλων περιοχών κοντά στην επιφάνεια της θάλασσας προς τη δυτική Μεσόγειο. Καθώς τα παραγόμενα πρότυπα θερμοκρασιακής καταλληλότητας διαφέρουν ανάλογα με το βάθος που αντιπροσωπεύουν για τις παροντικές και μελλοντικές συνθήκες, καθίσταται αναγκαία η ενσωμάτωση του τρισδιάστατου χαρακτήρα των ενδιαιτημάτων των θαλάσσιων ειδών.

Στο επόμενο κεφάλαιο της διατριβής (Chapter D), διεύρυνα το εύρος της μελέτης από ένα μεμονωμένο είδος σε μία ευρύτερη ομάδα ειδών της Μεσογείου. Στόχος του κεφαλαίου ήταν η αξιολόγηση του κινδύνου μπροστά στην κλιματική αλλαγή μίας ομάδας θαλάσσιων ειδών που διατρέχει υψηλό κίνδυνο εξαφάνισης, όπως τα απειλούμενα θαλάσσια ζώα της Μεσογείου με βάση την Κόκκινη Λίστα της IUCN. Επιγείρησα να εκτιμήσω τα επίπεδα του κινδύνου που διατρέγουν διαφορετικά είδη, όπως επίσης να προσδιορίσω περιοχές στις οποίες φιλοξενούνται είδη που προβλέπεται να διατρέγουν τον υψηλότερο κίνδυνο. Για το σκοπό αυτό επέλεξα ένα σύνολο χαρακτηριστικών που υποδηλώνουν τρωτότητα και ικανότητα προσαρμογής στις επιπτώσεις της κλιματικής αλλαγής, αλλά και δείκτες έκθεσης της κατανομής των διαφορετικών ειδών απέναντι στην προβλεπόμενη αύξηση της θερμοκρασίας της θάλασσας σε διαφορετικές βαθυμετρίες. Η ανάλυση προσδιόρισε ένα σημαντικό αριθμό θαλάσσιων ειδών με υψηλό κίνδυνο κινδύνου, με αντιπροσώπους σε ποικίλες ταξινομικές ομάδες, όπως τα θαλάσσια ασπόνδυλα, κορυφαίους θηρευτές όπως ψάρια, καρχαρίες, σελάχια, θηλαστικά και θαλάσσιες χελώνες. Περιοχές με αυξημένη παρουσία ειδών με υψηλό κλιματικό κίνδυνο βρέθηκαν στη δυτική Μεσόγειο, την Αδριατική θάλασσα και το βόρειο Αιγαίο πέλαγος. Καθώς όλες οι θαλάσσιες προστατευόμενες περιοχές της Μεσογείου φιλοξενούσαν μέρος της κατανομής τουλάγιστον ενός είδους με υψηλό κλιματικό κίνδυνο, οι μελλοντικές διαχειριστικές ενέργειες μπορούν να δομηθούν με προτεραιότητα στα είδη αυτά, βασιζόμενες σε βάση

μία οικοσυστημική προσαρμοστική προσέγγιση η οποία θα λαμβάνει υπόψιν την τρωτότητα, τα επίπεδα έκθεσης αλλά και την προσαρμοστική τους ικανότητα.

Τέλος, επιχείρησα να διερευνήσω πιθανές αλλαγές στη σύνθεση βασικών λειτουργικών χαρακτηριστικών της ιχθυοπανίδας των ρηχών υφάλων σχετικών με την ιστορία ζωής, την αύξηση και την αναπαραγωγή τους. Για το σκοπό του πέμπτου κεφαλαίου της διατριβής (Chapter E), συνδύασα προβλέψεις τους μελλοντικής αφθονίας των ψαριών των ρηχών υφάλτους της βορειοανατολικής Μεσογείου έτσι ώστε να προσδιορίσω αλλαγές στη μέση σύνθεσή τους στην περιοχή μελέτης, για ένα μεσοπρόθεσμο και ένα μακροπρόθεσμο μελλοντικό σενάριο. Η ανάλυση προέβλεψε ότι οι μελλοντικές συνθήκες είναι πιθανόν να ευνοήσουν μία μετατόπιση της λειτουργικής σύνθεσης προς είδη με μικρότερο σωματικό μέγεθος, μικρότερη διάρκεια ζωής και μικρότερη ηλικία ωρίμανσης στα ψάρια των ρηχών υφάλων στις παράκτιες περιοχές της βορειοανατολικής Μεσογείου. Αυτή η πιθανή αλλαγή στα λειτουργικά πρότυπα μπορεί με τη σειρά της να επηρεάσει τις οικοσυστημικές υπηρεσίες. Για αυτό, πέρα από τη διερεύνηση των μεταβολών στην κατανομή και στην αφθονία των ειδών, είναι σημαντικό να εξετάζονται και οι επιδράσεις που μπορεί να έχουν και στη σύνθεση των μέσων χαρακτηριστικών των θαλάσσιων βιοκοινοτήτων.

Συμπερασματικά, η ενσωμάτωση της γνώσης μας για τις οικολογικές απαιτήσεις, τα ενδιαιτήματα, τη φυσιολογία, τη συμπεριφορά και τον κύκλο ζωής των θαλάσσιων ειδών μπορεί να παράγει νέα αποτελέσματα, ενημερωμένα ως προς τη διάσταση της βιολογίας των θαλάσσιων ειδών. Τα ευρήματα αυτά μπορούν να βελτιώσουν ακόμη περισσότερο τις προβλέψεις μας για τις μελλοντικές κατανομές των ειδών, τις αξιολογήσεις του κινδύνου που πραγματοποιούμε για τις ομάδες ειδών και για τα μελλοντικά λειτουργικά πρότυπα μπροστά στην κλιματική αλλαγή. Με βάση τα παραπάνω, μπορούμε να διευρύνουμε και να εμπλουτίσουμε τα μεθοδολογικά πλαίσια μοντελοποίησης και αξιολογήσεων που χρησιμοποιούμε, με τα χαρακτηριστικά των ειδών να αποτελούν αναγκαίες παραμέτρους που πρέπει να λάβουμε υπόψιν για τα τρέχοντα και τα μελλοντικά σχέδια διατήρησης.

Abstract

Climate change impacts on marine organisms constitutes a highly complex issue, as it depends on the interaction of multiple factors. Even if species are exposed to similar environmental changes, their risk in face of climate change varies and differs. Based on their current ecological niche, it is possible to predict new potential areas of suitability for species as well as areas where climatic suitability might be decreased. However, potential changes in their spatial distribution and abundance also depends on other factors, such as their behavioral characteristics, physiological mechanisms and life cycle.

Certain characteristics could render species vulnerable to environmental changes, such as a narrow thermal range. Others, however, could in turn, confer a high capacity for adaptation, such as a high dispersal ability. In order to predict species' response to changing conditions, it is important to take also into account the corresponding characteristics of species that could be directly linked to environmental changes in face of climate change.

In the present thesis, I attempted to contribute to the current scientific discourse regarding the potential effect of climate change on marine biodiversity, in an effort to improve predictions and assessments undertaken for organisms. In this endeavor, I took under consideration their interaction with species ecological and behavioral characteristics, their life cycle, as well as the habitats they utilize. The spatial scale of the thesis referred to the Mediterranean sea, a region that already hosts and is expected to undergo significant changes in distribution patterns and abundance of its biodiversity. My investigation focused on both the impacts on well-studied species, such as the loggerhead sea turtle (*Caretta caretta*), and broader groups of marine species, including marine mammals and turtles, marine invertebrates, sharks, rays, and fish.

Specifically, in Chapter B of the thesis, I identified potential changes on the suitability of marine foraging habitats of sea turtles under the predicted increase in sea surface temperature, taking into account both the immature and adult stages of their life cycle. Adult and immature individuals differ in foraging behavior and ecological requirements. Using presences of foraging adult and immature individuals in the Mediterranean sea, I applied an ensemble of climate suitability models that predicted the distribution of suitable areas for the two life stages under current and future climatic conditions. These predictions differed geographically and topographically. While suitable areas for immature individuals were mainly identified in the central and western Mediterranean, suitable areas for adult individuals were mainly located in the central and eastern basin. An encouraging finding of this research was that adults' suitable areas were predicted to increase in extent, and shift towards the western Mediterranean in the future, while the extent of areas for immature individuals was predicted to remain relatively stable. Consideration of the different stages of the life cycle of marine species in predictions could improve the assessment of their responses to climate change, even for immature stages that are more vulnerable and less-studied.

Nevertheless, sea turtles constitute species with high mobility throughout the water column, a characteristic of their behavior that is overlooked in predictions for the impacts of climate change on their spatial suitability. Based on this consideration, in the next chapter of the thesis (Chapter C), I attempted to assess the predicted changes in thermal suitability for loggerhead sea turtles at different depths under the projected increase in sea temperature, for immature and adult individuals in the Mediterranean Sea. I intended to identify three-dimensional areas of climatic suitability, utilizing the presences of sea turtles in the Mediterranean, as well as predictions for sea surface temperature in three depth zones. The distribution of suitable areas differed for each life stage, reflecting the foraging strategy followed by immature and adult individuals. The analysis revealed a more extensive distribution of immature individuals for nearsurface habitats compared to deeper habitats and water-column habitats. Future model predictions differed along distinct bathymetric habitats. While immatures' near-surface areas were predicted to contract in the south and central Mediterranean, an increase in suitability was predicted for water-column areas in the central and northern Mediterranean. As the resulting patterns of thermal suitability differed according to respective depth, the incorporation of the three-dimensional nature of marine species' habitats becomes essential for present and future predictions and assessments.

In the following chapter of the thesis (Chapter D), I expanded the scope of the research from an individual species to a broader group of marine species in the Mediterranean. The aim of this chapter was to assess the risk faced by a group of marine species that undergo great danger of extinction, the threatened marine animals of the Mediterranean Sea based on the IUCN Red List. I attempted to estimate the levels of risk faced by different species, as well as to identify marine areas where species of high risk are hosted. For this purpose, I selected a set of species characteristics indicating vulnerability and adaptive capacity to climate change impacts, as well as exposure indices of species distributions to the predicted increase in sea temperature at different depths. The analysis identified a significant number of marine species at high climate risk, representing various taxonomic groups, such as marine invertebrates, top predators like fish, sharks, rays, mammals, and sea turtles. Areas with increased presence of species with high climate risk were found in the western Mediterranean, the Adriatic Sea, and the northern Aegean Sea. As all marine protected areas in the Mediterranean were predicted to host part of the distribution of at least one species with high climate risk, management actions should be articulated prioritizing the identified high-risk species, based on an ecosystem-based approach taking into account vulnerability, exposure levels and adaptive capacity.

Finally, I attempted to explore potential changes in the future synthesis of key functional characteristics of the fish fauna in shallow coastal areas related to their life history, growth, and reproduction. For the purpose of the fourth chapter of the thesis (Chapter E), I combined predictions of future abundance of shallow-water fish in the northeastern Mediterranean to identify changes in their average functional composition across the entire study area for the mid-term and long-term future. The analysis predicted that future conditions might favor a shift in the functional composition towards species with smaller body size, shorter lifespan, and earlier maturation in shallow-water fish in the coastal areas of the northeastern Mediterranean. This potential change in functional patterns may, in turn, affect ecosystem services. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate how changes in the distribution and abundance of species may also impact the synthesis of functional characteristics of marine biota.

In conclusion, the integration of our knowledge about the ecological requirements,

habitats, physiology, behavior, and life cycle of marine species could generate novel and more biologically informed results. These findings could further improve our predictions for the future distributions of species, risk assessments in face of climate change and future functional patterns, enriching the methodological frameworks of modelling and assessments we use, with species characteristics constituting necessary parameters that must be taken into account for current and future conservation plans.

Table of Contents

| Ευχαριστίες | xi |
|---|-------------------------|
| Περίληψη | xiii |
| Abstract | xvii |
| Table of Contents | 1 |
| Chapter A. Introduction – State of the art | |
| A.1 Climate change and potential impacts on marine biodiversity | |
| A.2 The mediating role of species characteristics in their response to climate change | s 6 |
| A.3 Current research challenges | |
| A.4 Goals and thesis diagram | |
| Chapter B. Projected redistribution of sea turtle foraging areas reveals imports for conservation. | a nt sites 13 |
| B.1 Introduction | 14 |
| B.2 Methodology | 16 |
| B.3 Results | |
| B.4 Discussion | |
| Chapter C. Diving into warming oceans: assessing 3D thermally suitable foragi of loggerhead sea turtles under climate change | ng areas 27 |
| C.1 Introduction | |
| C.2 Methodology | 29 |
| C.3 Results | |
| C.4 Discussion | |
| Chapter D. Are Mediterranean marine threatened species at high risk by clim- change? | a te 41 |
| D.1 Introduction | |
| D.2 Methodology | 43 |
| D.3 Results | |
| D.4 Discussion | 53 |
| Chapter E. Climate change favours reef fish communities of reduced size and I the northeast Mediterranean Sea. | ifespan in 57 |
| E.1 Introduction | 58 |
| E.2 Methodology | 59 |
| E.3 Results | 63 |
| E.5 Discussion | 66 |
| Chapter F. Conclusions | 69 |
| F.1 Synopsis | 69 |
| F.2 Discussion of results and potential applications | |
| F.3 New research proposals and challenges | 75 |
| F.4 Conclusions | 77 |
| G. References | |

| H. Appendix with supplementary methods and results | |
|--|-----|
| Supplementary material – Chapter B | |
| Supplementary Material – Chapter C | 111 |
| Supplementary Material – Chapter D | |
| I. Glossary of key terms | 121 |
| J. Index of tables and figures | |

Chapter A. Introduction – State of the art

A.1 Climate change and potential impacts on marine biodiversity

Historically, marine ecosystems have been continuously exposed to changes in their climatic conditions, either as part of the ongoing geological and climatic history of the planet (Nogués-Bravo et al., 2018) or as significant fluctuations in climatic conditions shorter in duration, such as the El Niño phenomenon or seasonal variations (Dowd et al., 2015; Slein et al., 2023). Species encounter variations in their environmental conditions within their distribution range (Bertrand et al., 2020), and most of them demonstrate an ability to adapt to these changes. In recent decades, the ongoing climate change stands apart from previous shifts. The current alterations in climatic conditions primarily result from human activities, particularly the intense industrial activity over the last 200 years (Barnett et al., 2001; Hansen & Stone, 2016). Changes in mean air temperature and greenhouse gas concentrations are rapid, and the impacts of these changes are often combined with various existing anthropogenic pressures on marine and terrestrial ecosystems (Henson et al., 2017). The oceans continually absorb the additional heat resulting from the increase in mean air temperature and the released carbon dioxide, having profound impacts on the conditions that support marine life. This phenomenon results in increasing sea temperature, alterations in the intensity and frequency of extreme weather events, rising sea level, and a decrease in ocean pH (Garcia-Soto et al., 2021).

Marine organisms respond to gradients in physicochemical parameters in their environment based on a curve of optimal conditions and resources that allow them to maintain a sustainable population, grow and reproduce. These conditions represent the ecological niche of a species and involve a range of environmental parameters and their corresponding values within which the species are capable of surviving. The realized niche of a species includes also its biotic interactions with other organisms, and collectively, these parameters determine species distributions world-wide. So, an increase in sea temperature could positively or negatively impact the realized niche of species (Hillebrand et al., 2018). Species ecological niche could be achieved in a new area outside their distribution range when conditions there meet their minimum temperature requirements, after a sea temperature increase. This would allow individuals to populate the area, as observed for certain tropical whale species in colder waters (Kerosky et al., 2012). However, when temperatures exceed the maximum tolerable temperatures of a species, the niche is theoretically not accomplished. This poses the survival of the species at risk, as for example a reduction in larval survival was observed for commercially important fish species like Sparus aurata (Madeira et al., 2016). Cumulative impacts also may affect the physiological tolerances of species compromising their functions, as sea temperature increase interacts with changes in other physicochemical factors, such as decrease in oxygen availability and reduction in sea pH (Garcia-Soto et al., 2021).

As highlighted, species survive within a range of environmental parameters. However, for other processes such as reproduction, suitable environmental conditions and essential necessary resources may be restricted to a smaller portion of the niche (Bykova et al., 2012). Therefore, if temperature increase is not expected to threaten the

survival of a species, it does not exclude the possibility of impacting other processes, such as reproduction and fertility. For instance, sea turtles' eggs can survive up to a critical maximum temperature (Howard et al., 2014), while the prolonged exposure of female sea turtles to higher temperatures is linked to lower rates of conception, with similar effects on their reproductive success (Albouy et al., 2020). Similarly, for sea urchins, a reduction in their respiratory activity (e.g., *Paracentrotus lividus* (Yeruham et al., 2020)) and negative impacts on their fertilization (e.g., *Lytechinus variegatus* (Lenz et al., 2019)) have been observed. Corals, on the other hand, exhibit bleaching when exposed to higher temperatures (Hughes et al., 2018).

Apart from an optimal temperature range, marine species niche involves a variety of environmental factors within which species survive, grow, and reproduce, such as seawater pH (Talukder et al., 2022). For example, experiments have shown that changes in environmental pH impact the metabolic activity of Antarctic fish and the phenology of their reproduction (Todgham & Mandic, 2020). This is also observed in the mobility and sperm velocity of marine stars (Uthicke et al., 2013) and the respiratory rate of cold-water corals like Lophelia pertusa (Hennige et al., 2015). Certain taxonomic groups in marine environments exhibit increased vulnerability to changes in temperature and ocean acidity, such as mollusks, compared to others like nematodes and flatworms (Hale et al., 2011; Ricevuto et al., 2015). However, some species may experience positive effects, as seen in the increased survival of immature stages of Ruditapes decussatus (Range et al., 2011). The combined effects of ocean temperature increase and acidification can adversely affect the survival of certain organisms, as observed in the coral-producing algae Lithophyllum cabiochae. Its mortality increased 2-3 times under higher CO2 pressure due to tissue dissolution of its skeleton (Martin & Gattuso, 2009; Diaz-Pulido et al., 2012). Similar impacts may arise from the synergistic effects of rising temperature and decreasing oxygen availability (hypoxia) in marine ecosystems, negatively affecting the survival and embryonic development of species like the catshark Scyliorhinus canicula, leading to reduced survival and decreased length and mass of newly hatched individuals (Musa et al., 2020).

In case that conditions become more favourable for a species, it can colonize a region by expanding its current distribution range. Alternatively, if conditions become more favourable in an area where the species already exists, local population abundance may increase. Climate change has been associated with the redistribution and abundance changes of numerous marine species worldwide (Hastings et al., 2020). For instance, many fish and marine invertebrate species have exhibited contractions or expansions of their distribution ranges in the southern Australia region (Wernberg et al., 2011). The drivers behind these changes are not solely attributable to temperature increases but also involve alterations in the circulation and intensity of local sea currents, along with historically existing anthropogenic pressures in the area (Wernberg et al., 2011). In a literature review by Simpson et al. (2011), 72% of the 177 studied marine species were impacted by temperature changes, in the northeast Atlantic. Increased abundance was observed near the polar end of their distribution, while decreased abundance was encountered towards the equator-side of their distribution (Hastings et al., 2020). For example, the tropical and subtropical whale Balaenoptera brydei has been observed in colder waters near California over the past decade (Kerosky et al., 2012). In contrast, the white-beaked dolphin Lagenorhynchus albirostris, which prefers colder waters, has experienced a reduction in both its range and abundance (Albouy et al., 2020). This shift occurs at faster rates at their leading edges compared to their trailing edges, a phenomenon linked, among other factors, to the magnitude of changes in these regions (Poloczanska et al., 2013).

Furthermore, some of the most important species in the sea, such as corals, have limited dispersal ability. The adaptation of these species in front of the shifting favourable conditions presents a challenging endeavor. Organisms like seagrasses, mangrove forests, salt marshes, and oysters represent formations on which multiple species depend on for both habitat and resources. So, impacts on them could affect hundreds of species that rely upon them (Gutiérrez et al., 2011). For example, mass bleaching of corals and their mortality due to increased temperatures have already influenced the reduction in the diversity and density of fish in coral reef areas (Hoegh-Guldberg & Bruno, 2010). These organisms, due to their sessile lifestyle, are simultaneously the most exposed ones to extreme temperature events and long-term trends in sea temperature increase (Smale et al., 2019). So far, marine heatwaves of the last decades in the Mediterranean Sea have caused massive mortality events, impacting various species, such as seagrasses, macroalgae, and corals, along with their associated fish and invertebrates (Garrabou et al., 2022). As these complex and extensive formations on the seafloor serve as substrates, food sources, and breeding grounds for the early life stages of many fish species, impacts on them trigger a series of cascading effects on other species. Depending on the characteristics and functions of each species, impacts on community's functions and ecosystem services were analogous, with negative consequences for commercial fishing, the survival of charismatic species, reduction of carbon sequestration by primary producers, and the deterioration of water quality due to the decline of filter-feeding organisms (Smith et al., 2021).

Understanding the aforementioned impacts of climate change on species, at both the level of individuals and populations, at the community and ecosystem level, will contribute to a comprehensive assessment of their vulnerability and adaptive capacity within their respective communities. Such insights will be crucial in constructing useful material for proposing more effective and specific strategies and measures for the adaptation of organisms and marine ecosystems to both climate change and the broader environmental changes occurring in ecosystems.

A.2 The mediating role of species characteristics in their response to climate change

The response of marine organisms to the changing climate is complex and dependent on the synergy of multiple factors. Their exposure to environmental changes is expected to vary, according to the magnitude of changes at the local level (Walther et al., 2002; Tingley et al., 2012; Pinsky et al., 2013), or even management measures that may be taken (O'Regan et al., 2021). For instance, there may be areas within the range of a species that could undergo considerable changes in their climatic conditions due to local topography and interactions with pre-existing environmental pressures (Helmuth et al., 2006). Thus, local populations could face different levels of risk, with exposure to a combination of environmental and existing anthropogenic pressures implying higher vulnerability to stress and lower adaptive capacity (He & Silliman, 2019).

However, even under similar environmental conditions, organisms' responses vary depending on their functions and behaviour, which differ based on their life history, genetic variability, and ecological requirements (Poloczanska et al., 2016). Under altering climate conditions, there are three possible cases for species response: either species distribution will shift as they follow their favourable conditions (Perry et al., 2005), local populations do not shift their position but adapt to changes (Hoffmann & Sgrò, 2011), or local populations experience a decrease to the point of local or even total disappearance (Wiens, 2016). Depending on their position along their distribution range and whether the new environmental conditions align with their ecological requirements, environmental changes may be favourable for them.

Based on the current distribution of species, we can predict their future potential distribution and evaluate possible new areas suitable for species as well as areas where their climatic suitability is limited (Elith & Leathwick, 2009). However, potential changes in their spatial distribution and/or abundance also depend on other factors, such as their behaviour, physiological mechanisms, and life cycle. As a first point, while adult individuals are usually the focus of studies, some species have complex life cycles and early life stages before the adult phase may be more vulnerable to the impacts of climate change (Dahlke et al., 2020; Crozier et al., 2021). For example, vulnerability in immature life stages constitutes a crucial factor in the distribution of adult stages in marine invertebrates (Pandori & Sorte, 2019). Therefore, for a comprehensive assessment of species potential responses to climate change, incorporating species life cycle can contribute to improving our predictions and determine the climatically vulnerable life stages of each species.

Ecological requirements, physiological functions and life cycle characteristics are expected to play an intermediate role in differentiated responses of marine organisms to environmental changes (Foden et al., 2019). For instance, narrow thermal tolerance of some species renders them susceptible to a potential increase in temperature and extreme weather events (Crabbe, 2008). While the high dispersal ability of pelagic species may provide increased adaptive capacity compared to benthic species (Poloczanska et al., 2016). Physiological functions, ecological requirements, life cycle, and behaviour of species can be summarized into broader categories of measurable traits (Violle et al., 2007). Knowledge of these characteristics can enrich and enhance predictions of species responses and their ability to adapt to a changing climate. For instance, stenothermal species are at a higher risk compared to eurythermal species, as

their temperature tolerance range is smaller, rendering them more susceptible to temperature changes (Foden et al., 2019). For certain species' functions are directly correlated with climate change. For example, the predicted decrease in seawater pH and the concentration of carbonate ions and biologically important calcium carbonate salts is expected to affect organisms that construct their skeletons and shells using calcium carbonate as a structural element (Fabry et al., 2008; Doney et al., 2020). Organisms relying on calcification processes, such as calcifying corals, mollusks, and echinoderms, are much more vulnerable to such changes, followed by crustaceans and fish, whereas marine mammals are not expected to be directly affected.

In addition, the life cycle of a species and its distinct characteristics can be a valuable source of information for our climate change assessments. Marine organisms go through discrete life stages during their life cycle, with varying vulnerability of each life cycle stage (Dahlke et al., 2020). Specifically, for immature stages, temperature influences the survival and development of larvae for some marine invertebrates and fish (Fredston-Hermann et al., 2020), and the use of marine habitats may vary spatially and bathymetrically (e.g., marine turtles and fish (Juan-Jordá et al., 2013; Casale et al., 2018)). The majority of predictions of climate change impacts are based on an examination of impacts only on the adult life stage, however, stages before reproductive maturity, which are often the most vulnerable ones, could be greatly affected by climate change (Russell et al., 2012).

The life cycle of the majority of marine organisms unfolds across various bathymetric layers in relation to the sea surface, which is almost exclusively analyzed and for which data are generally available. Many organisms continuously move among habitats at different depths (Derville et al., 2022; Schaber et al., 2022), with certain of them inhabiting and foraging in habitats of varying depths at different stages of their life cycle, such as marine turtles and benthic fish with a larval pelagic form (Leis & McCormick, 2002; Petitgas et al., 2013; Casale et al., 2018). Climate change will affect physiological functions of organisms as well as species habitats, with some habitats being more exposed to change than others (Donner, 2009). Based on habitat type used by a species and its geography, it may be more exposed compared to other ones. Environmental factors that determine habitat use by organisms, such as temperature, vary with depth (Venegas-Li et al., 2018). Specifically, the increase in sea surface temperature is expected to induce changes at different depths in both temperature and other abiotic factors (Levin & Le Bris, 2015). As changes in climate conditions across different depths are projected to be disproportionate (Brito-Morales et al., 2020), the suitability of three-dimensional habitats of marine organisms may be altered in the future, affecting the vertical migration of species (Jorda et al., 2020). However, only few studies explore the delineation of marine areas with vertical coherence (Brito-Morales et al., 2022; Doxa et al., 2022). Including different habitats used by species throughout their life cycle in predictions is an important next step, as use of deeper habitats in the sea may represent a trait supportive of species adapting to the increased sea surface temperature.

In conclusion, predictions and assessments of marine biodiversity, encompassing individual species or broader groups of species, need to consider various additional factors that influence the future vulnerability or adaptive capacity of marine organisms, ensuring a comprehensive understanding of climate change impacts. This includes considering their life cycle, habitats they move along the horizontal and vertical axis, as well as their physiology and behaviour.

A.3 Current research challenges

In a changing climate, range shifts and/or changes in population abundance have been observed and are also predicted for multiple species and taxonomic groups (Pinsky et al., 2020; Poloczanska et al., 2016). Current management efforts are focused on establishing marine protected areas (MPAs) and actively or passively managing a portion or the entire range of species distributions under protection. In this context, there is an urgent need for mapping the significant areas of species in the marine environment (e.g., IMMAs for marine mammals, Corrigan et al., 2014), especially migratory species utilizing multiple habitats in space and time. Sea turtles constitute such a group, and efforts have been made to spatially define their distributions in the Persian Gulf and the Indian Ocean (Pilcher et al., 2014; Hays et al., 2014). However, a systematic effort for the spatial determination of their important areas in the Mediterranean Sea is still lacking. Even if we manage to identify important areas for their conservation, these may change over the years due to potential shifts caused by individuals seeking more favourable conditions due to climate change (O'Regan et al., 2021). Therefore, besides spatially determining important areas under current climatic conditions, it is essential for a long-term and meaningful species conservation to consider potential future shifts. Predictions of the suitability of these important areas under future climate change scenarios can help identify vulnerable areas of change and potential new areas that may already be inhabited by smaller local populations. Incorporating the elements of change over time, new areas could be identified as candidate protection zones or connectivity nodes between existing marine areas (Rilov et al., 2019).

While most predictions regarding species suitability focus almost exclusively on information of environmental variables at the sea surface for which data are available, a large number of marine species possess a broader bathymetric range due to either active movement along the vertical axis or the ability to disperse into deeper waters (Brierley, 2014; Doherty et al., 2019). Specifically, marine turtles perform daily movements across various bathymetric layers for performing migration, foraging, and reproduction (Casale et al., 2018). Therefore, a step closer to a more comprehensive determination of their important areas, both at present and future conditions, involves the inclusion of all bathymetric layers they move along. Such information would be valuable in designing a three-dimensional spatial conservation plan, especially as anthropogenic activities intensify throughout the entire water column (Fanelli et al., 2021). Additionally, it could serve as input for investigating the vertical displacement of suitable climatic conditions for species and exploring their potential for adaptation. Therefore, it is essential to collect predictions for species suitability along the bathymetry and the potential impacts of climate change on them, especially considering that human activities, whether extracting minerals or biological resources, shift focus on deeper waters.

Taking a step further on, predictions about the impacts of climate change on individual species, as demonstrated earlier for marine turtles, are equally crucial for informing assessments of the vulnerability of larger groups of species. The Mediterranean Sea, being the second, largest region hosting a significant portion of global species richness (Coll et al., 2010), already experiences reported impacts of the changing climate on its marine biodiversity (Marbà et al., 2015; Garrabou et al., 2022). These include alterations in fish assemblage composition (Albouy et al., 2012), habitat loss and the

shifting distributions of many emblematic indicator species such as seagrasses (Chefaoui et al., 2018) and coastal fish (Albouy et al., 2013). Species face pressures from existing anthropogenic threats, causing a loss of biodiversity and historically leading to a declining trend in populations of 93 out of the 104 threatened species in the Mediterranean (IUCN, 2021). However, there is no systematic and comprehensive assessment of the risk they face under the pressure of a changing climate. Their overall vulnerability is predicted to depend on a combination of traits that confer susceptibility or adaptation to change and their overall exposure to changing conditions (Foden et al., 2019). Such a species-specific approach allows for comparisons among different species under a common set of characteristics related to physiological functions, ecological requirements, and behaviours, for which their vulnerability may differ. This approach is essential in order to consider additional important factors, beyond temperature requirements, in our ecological modelling assessments.

Research connecting species traits to anticipated responses to climate change is still limited but growing (Green et al., 2022). Within a marine community, when species with decreasing abundance share common traits with species whose abundance is increasing, a functional overlap occurs (Fonseca & Ganade, 2001). In such cases, the overall ecosystem functions remain largely unaltered, a phenomenon known as functional redundancy (Fonseca & Ganade, 2001). However, if their traits differ, and either the functions of species with decreasing abundance disappear or new functions appear or are added in the community, a functional change, a shift in the functional patterns within ecosystem, occurs. This can have implications for the provided ecosystem services and biotic interactions within community. Examples of such changes are documented, mainly concerning the alteration of macrophytic ecosystems in the Southern Aegean and Levantine Sea due to the grazing impact of invasive species such as Siganus rivulatus and Siganus luridus. This change is facilitated by increasingly favourable conditions for their population establishment, inherent traits of high competitiveness and the absence of top predators due to overfishing (Rilov, 2016; Nikolaou et al., 2023). Particularly for the Mediterranean, environmental changes are expected to favour the spread and increase in abundance of thermophilic species towards the north, transforming marine communities into more tropical-like ecosystems (Coll et al., 2012). Winter temperatures and temperature seasonality play a crucial role in this transition (Titelboim et al., 2019). Some areas in the Mediterranean may act as thermal refugia due to cooler conditions they will host, such as the Gulf of Lions, the northern Adriatic Sea and the North Aegean Sea until the mid-21st century, providing a refuge for cold-adapted species. However, by the end of the century, these areas are predicted to function as potential traps leading to their extinction as climatic conditions shift northward (Ben Rais Lasram et al., 2010). Therefore, beyond identifying potential species shifts and abundance changes in front of climate change, evaluating the likelihood of a functional change in the community and the ecosystem due to certain prevailing or disappearing characteristics is equally important (Levin & Möllmann, 2015; Möllmann et al., 2015).

In conclusion, in the present thesis, I attempted to address the aforementioned gaps and research questions, focusing spatially on the Mediterranean Sea, a global biodiversity hotspot that has already started to be significantly affected by the changing climate conditions, predicted to cause a 'tropicalization' of its climate, with a faster pace than other marine areas (Marbà et al., 2015). Results of the present thesis aim to contribute to a much more efficient planning for marine biodiversity protection.

A.4 Goals and thesis diagram

Although the literature on predictions for climate change impacts on marine life is extensive and continually expanding, at this stage, the integration of information on life cycle, physiology and behaviours of marine species can provide significant insights for an improved assessment of their vulnerability to climate change. In this direction, such steps can contribute to a much more comprehensive and holistic methodological approach in the way we assess the impacts of climate change, taking into account the complexity of the above-mentioned characteristics of marine animals, as well as the complexity of the habitats they use in the Mediterranean Sea. Therefore, in this doctoral thesis, I aim to investigate the following research questions:

- 1. Assessing the impact of changing sea temperature conditions on the spatial distribution and extent of marine habitats for Mediterranean sea turtles, considering different suitability predictions for adult and immature individuals.
- 2. Assessing the effect of selecting different bathymetric layers on the final suitability prediction for the marine areas of sea turtles in the Mediterranean Sea under current and future conditions, considering different suitability predictions for adult and immature individuals.
- 3. Evaluating the risk of threatened marine species to changing temperature conditions based on the combination between their vulnerability and adaptive capacity, considering both their life cycle and the bathymetric range of species distribution in the Mediterranean Sea.
- 4. Assessing the predicted impacts of changing environmental conditions on the patterns of mean functional characteristics of the fish fauna. Using field data on the abundance of shallow-water species in the Aegean and Ionian Seas I run predictios for their future abundance, combining information on the functional characteristics of these species, to evaluate possible changes in functional patterns due to climate change.

The first research objective was explored through Chapter B, where I developed a modelling methodology, combining information on the presence of marine turtles for both immature and adult individuals, current average sea surface temperature in the Mediterranean, and projections for the future. The models developed allowed the spatial determination of climatically suitable marine areas for the present and the future in the Mediterranean Sea. Comparing the results of the models for the present and the future allowed me to identify changes in the suitability of areas (loss, gain, maintenance of suitability) and assess the different predictions for different life stages.

The second research objective was explored through Chapter C. Based on a climate suitability modeling framework, using the presence of immature and adult marine turtles and predictions for sea surface temperature in three depth zones, I attempted to identify areas of climate suitability that extend across more than one depth zone. In addition, I assessed future predictions on their thermal suitability and projected changes in the climate change scenario.

The third research objective was explored through Chapter D. Using information on the vulnerability and adaptive capacity of species, as well as their exposure to increased sea temperatures within their bathymetric range, I built a methodological framework for

assessing the climate risk of threatened Mediterranean species. This framework allowed me to incorporate information on their life cycle, functions, and behaviour representing characteristics of increased or decreased vulnerability.

The fourth research objective was explored through Chapter E and aimed to evaluate possible changes in functional patterns of swallow-water fish species due to the changing climate, based on present and future community mean weighted traits of swallow reef fish. For this, I combined information on present-day abundance and predictions I performed for their future abundance coupled with information on the functional characteristics of respective species.

Chapter B. Projected redistribution of sea turtle foraging areas reveals important sites for conservation.

Publication:

[Chatzimentor A., Almpanidou V., Doxa A., Dimitriadis C., Mazaris A. D. (2021). Projected redistribution of sea turtle foraging areas reveals important sites for conservation. Clim. Change Ecol. 2, 100038. doi: 10.1016/j.ecochg.2021.100038]

B.1 Introduction

Marine ecosystems globally have experienced significant loss in biodiversity, with around one-third of large migratory marine species currently facing extinction risk (Pimiento et al., 2020). They possess critical roles in marine communities (Estes et al., 2016) and their wide-ranging distributions expose them to different resources (Learmonth et al., 2006). However, they are susceptible to human-induced pressures within their broadly distributed habitats, threatening their long-term survival (Albouy et al., 2017). Consequently, many species of the charismatic marine megafauna are under high risk, underscoring the urgent need for targeted and adaptable management strategies (Lascelles et al., 2014).

A first step fostering our conservation efforts is the identification of key areas for migratory marine species (Hays et al., 2019). There have been endeavors towards this direction, delineating significant areas to prioritize actions in species important habitats (Corrigan et al., 2014). However, distribution shifts and significant habitat loss in front of the changing climate (Learmonth et al., 2006; Willis-Norton et al., 2015; Birkmanis et al., 2020) could pose challenges in determining crucial areas for conservation actions (Gissi et al., 2019),). Nonetheless, the precise effects of climate change across their various habitats remain uncertain (Albouy et al., 2020; Payne et al., 2016). Thus, identifying key areas under different climate change scenarios emerges as a critical focus for ongoing and future conservation efforts to protect these species.

Sea turtles, with their complex life cycle and migratory behavior, utilize various habitats for breeding, development, and foraging, often distinct from one another (Bolten et al., 2003). Foraging habitats are particularly vital for population persistence, serving as areas where individuals replenish energy reserves, promote population growth, and facilitate successful breeding migrations. However, identifying important foraging habitats for different life cycle stages of sea turtles remains unclear. Sea turtles employ diverse foraging strategies and consume a variety of food resources. Additionally, individuals hatched from the same site may disperse to different foraging grounds (Hays et al., 2010), and mature animals breeding at a particular rookery may also utilize distinct and distant foraging sites (Schofield et al., 2013).

Limited efforts have been made to determine important areas for sea turtles within the marine environment, such as in the Arabian region (Pilcher et al., 2014), the Caribbean for hawksbill sea turtles (Nivière et al., 2018), and the Indian Ocean for green sea turtles (Hays et al., 2014). However, these studies have typically been conducted on a smaller spatial scale compared to regional management units, which are spatially defined areas hosting sea turtle populations with distinct genetic, demographic, and behavioral characteristics (Wallace et al., 2010). In the Mediterranean, previous studies have aimed to delineate important foraging habitats for sea turtles, offering either a general overview based on literature synthesis (e.g., Hawkes et al., 2009) or focusing on specific foraging grounds (e.g., through genetic analyses, Clusa et al., 2014). While there's a consensus that climate change could impact sea turtle distribution (Poloczanska et al., 2009; Hawkes et al., 2009), research evaluating how climate change projections might alter the distribution of potential foraging habitats on a broad scale remains limited (Payne et al., 2016) (but see Patel et al., 2016; Maffucci et al., 2016).

In this study, my aim was to delineate important foraging habitats for loggerhead sea turtles (Caretta caretta) in the Mediterranean basin. The loggerheads in the

Mediterranean face numerous anthropogenic pressures at sea, highlighting the need for their protection (Rees et al., 2013). To achieve this goal, I compiled a digital database of all published data on foraging individuals collected through satellite telemetry in the Mediterranean region. Using this dataset, I developed and applied a modeling framework to identify climatically suitable marine habitats under current conditions, focusing on two distinct life stages of loggerheads: juveniles and adults. Additionally, I explored potential shifts in these habitats due to climate change. This approach, which considers both life-cycle specific and climatically stable habitats of sea turtles, could provide new insights into the spatial configuration of the species' habitats and valuable information for future conservation planning that accounts for the impacts of climate change.
B.2 Methodology

I applied the following methodology, in order to determine important foraging areas for loggerhead sea turtles in the Mediterranean. At first, I compiled a digital database based on collected and digitized data of satellite tracked sea turtles, juvenile and adult individuals foraging. As a second step I extracted data of sea surface temperature (SST) with which I constructed a set of bioclimatic variables. Based on previously collected information I developed a series of climatic niche models for the different life stages and with their final projections I was able to produce maps of climatically suitable areas for the species under current and future conditions.

Species presence data

I performed an extensive literature review in relevant scientific papers and grey literature (e.g., technical reports, conference proceedings, book chapters) included in the search engine of Google Scholar, in order to collect presence information of juvenile loggerhead sea turtles in the Mediterranean. The search strategy involved the terms: ("marine turtle*" OR "sea turtle*") AND "Mediterranean" AND ("subadult*" OR "juvenile*" OR "immature*"). I identified 248 references for juvenile satellite-tracked sea turtles by July 2020. I only included sources that met the following criteria: i) the geographical extent of the provided data should be within the Mediterranean Sea, ii) data should have been obtained through satellite telemetry for greater accuracy and precision in spatial occurrence information, iii) spatial information should be provided in the form of a map or coordinates, and iv) sea turtles caught should have been alive and healthy to maximize the likelihood that they actually used the area for foraging and minimize the possibility of being carried away passively due to injury. For sources that did not explicitly mention tracked individuals as juveniles, a threshold value based on the reported curved carapace length (CCL) was used to select presence data. Individuals with a CCL equal to or less than 66.5 cm were defined as juveniles, representing the minimum of the range of means of the size of loggerhead sea turtles found nesting in the Mediterranean (Casale et al., 2018). The size of individuals ranged from 26 cm to 66.5 cm CCL. Individuals above 40 cm CCL are considered subadults, capable of swimming more independently of sea currents (Casale et al., 2018). However, due to unclear distinctions and complexity among different life stages, individuals both above and below 40 cm CCL were included to avoid setting arbitrary thresholds. Therefore, the search yielded 10 source papers [list of papers; Supp. Methods], including data for 51 juvenile loggerhead sea turtles.

The collected tracks of juvenile sea turtles were georeferenced and digitized using ArcGIS 10.1 (ESRI, 2011). Initially, the entire track line was digitized. Then, to convert the line to presence points, the digitized route was overlaid with a grid of cell size $0.0625^{\circ} \times 0.0625^{\circ}$ (approximately 7km x 7km), consistent with the resolution of climatic data (see section 2.2). If the tracked line intersected a cell of the grid, a presence point was assigned to the centroid of that cell. This process resulted in 3105 presence points for juvenile sea turtles.

On what concerns adults, presence points were derived from 126 satellite-tracked foraging individuals, extracted through a literature review following similar procedures and rules as for juveniles. A total of 1300 references concerning satellite-tracked sea turtles in the Mediterranean were identified and reviewed [list of papers; Supp.

Methods]. The extracted locations of foraging adult loggerheads were georeferenced and digitized. For data on post- or pre-nesting migration, the end or start point of the route that each tracked individual followed to reach the foraging area was considered as a presence point. When multiple satellite telemetry points were provided for a tracked animal exhibiting foraging behavior, the presence point was determined as the centroid of the 50% data distribution isopleth derived from kernel density estimations. If a specific point was indicated as the location of a foraging turtle, this information was extracted for use as a presence point.

Climatic data

I obtained the climatic information from the Centro Euro-Mediterraneo sui Cambiamenti Climatici (CMCC), which provided climatic data on SST for the Mediterranean region (Cavicchia et al., 2015). The dataset included historical and projected mean daily SST data covering the Mediterranean Sea for the period from 1950 to 2100, at a 0.0625° spatial resolution. Present climatic conditions were defined based on SST data for the period of 1991 – 2020, while future climatic conditions were based on SST data covering the period of 2051 - 2080, based on projections of the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change and the rcp8.5 worst-case emission scenario.

I used year-round SST data for juveniles for the construction of the bioclimatic variables, as they actively forage during the whole year (Bolten et al., 2003; Hawkes et al., 2009), whereas for adults, that forage areas during all year, except for their reproduction and post- and pre-migration phase (Rees et al., 2013), I used SST data from September (i.e., after the completion of the nesting season) to March (i.e., before the beginning of pre-nesting migration).

As a next step, I constructed bioclimatic variables based on SST data (sensu (Hijmans et al., 2011) so as to have an ecological meaning for sea turtles, whose viability is linked to temperature (Davenport, 1997; Mrosovsky, 1980). Bioclimatic variables were constructed in R studio (version 4.0.0), using ncdf4 (Pierce, 2019), raster (Hijmans & Etten, 2012) and dismo packages (Chambault et al, 2021). I used the nine bioclimatic variables relevant to temperature: Mean annual temperature, Mean diurnal range, Isothermality, Temperature seasonality, Max temperature of warmest month, Min temperature of coldest month, Temperature annual range, Mean temperature of warmest quarter and Mean temperature of coldest quarter. There are no previous studies that use climatic niche models for assessing sea turtle distribution suggesting the usage of specific ones (Chambault et al., 2021; Pikesley et al., 2015), therefore, I applied here a principal component analysis (PCA) to produce a number of new predictors, based on the RStoolbox package (Leutner et al., 2022), that allowed to capture the grand majority of the variance of the bioclimatic variables (Tourne et al., 2019). I chose the first three axes of the PCA (accounting for 99.4% of data variability, Fig. S1) and used them as predictor variables in the models, a choice which was based on the selection of principal components with an eigenvalue greater than the value one (Table S2) (Cliff, 1988).

Climatic suitability models

To determine the important foraging areas for juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles, a series of climatic niche models with an ensemble modeling approach, as to ensure the best predictability and mitigate the uncertainty associated with the selection of a single model (Hao et al., 2019). This approach combines different algorithms to consider both simple and complex models in the final output of climatic suitability (Le Heron, 2006). This method was developed using the sdm package in R (Naimi and Araujo, 2016). The algorithms used herein included Generalized Linear Models (GLM), Generalized Additive Models (GAM), machine-learning Random Forest (RF), and Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines (MARS).

Since reliable data on the true absence of the species were unavailable, cells with no presence records were used to extract potential pseudoabsences. Pseudoabsences were randomly selected with a standard distance (buffer) away from the presence data. By applying alternative distances (3, 5, 8, and 10 cells away from presence data), it was observed that as the distance increased, the performance of the models improved, reaching a plateau at a distance of 8 cells (Table B.S1). Therefore, a buffer of 8 cells was used as the threshold above which pseudoabsences were sampled. A total of 3105 pseudoabsences were selected for juveniles, as an equal number of presence and absence points is suggested for large datasets (Barbet-Massin et al., 2012). For adults, a set of 1000 pseudoabsences was selected, as recommended for low prevalence datasets (Barbet-Massin et al., 2012). To avoid sampling bias, ten random sets of pseudoabsences were sampled for each of the two life stages.

To assess the predictive accuracy of the models, a ten-fold cross-validation was applied. For the evaluation of the models, we used the Area Under the Curve (AUC; (Fielding and Bell, 1997)) and the True Skill Statistics (TSS; (Allouche et al., 2006)). The final model was produced as the mean value of probabilities given by all cross-validated models and ten random sets. It should be noted that the final ensemble models exhibited a very good predictive accuracy for juveniles and adults, based on both metrics (AUC equal to 0.91 for juveniles and 0.82 for adults; TSS equal to 0.75 for juveniles and 0.62 for adults).

At last, I converted the final model outputs, which represented continuous distributions, to binary ones (presence-absence maps) based on the threshold of maximization of the True Skill Statistic (TSS), which is a method frequently recommended in the literature (Comte, 2013; Liu et al., 2016). I estimated changes between present and future distributions by comparing the differences in the number of cells with a projected sea turtle presence for each raster. Presence in neritic and oceanic grounds was determined using the 200m isobath adapted from the General Bathymetric Chart of the Oceans -GEBCO_2014, version 20150318 (https://www.gebco.net/data_and_products/gridded_bathymetry_data/). It is known that foraging grounds are often frequented by both juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles, especially when subadults begin approaching neritic grounds for feeding (Clusa et al., 2016). To identify possible common foraging grounds, overlapping surfaces between juvenile and adult potential distributions in the Mediterranean Sea were identified. Specifically, rasters of adult and juvenile present and future potential distributions were overlapped using the ArcGIS 10.1 environment.

Using the projections of climatically suitable habitats generated under present and future climate conditions, I spatially delineated the important foraging areas in the

region. In this context, important foraging areas were defined as sites capable of hosting climatically suitable foraging grounds for both juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles under both current and future conditions.

B.3 Results

Delineation of potential foraging areas under present-day conditions

The analysis revealed that foraging areas for juvenile loggerhead sea turtles were widespread, encompassing 56% of the entire Mediterranean basin. These areas predominantly spanned the central and western parts of the study area, with the majority (73%) located in oceanic waters. Additionally, they extended across the Ionian and Aegean Seas (Figure B.1a). Conversely, foraging areas for adult loggerheads were more spatially restricted, covering 16% of the entire basin, primarily in the eastern and central Mediterranean Sea. Over half (57%) of these areas were situated within the neritic zone (Figure B.1b).

Approximately 6.7% of the Mediterranean surface contains suitable areas for both juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles. Two-thirds of these areas were identified within the neritic zone, primarily in the central Mediterranean region (Figure B.3). In addition to sites located in the Tunisian plateau and the northwestern Adriatic Sea, suitable areas for both life stages were also identified along the western coasts of Turkey and the northern Aegean Sea in the eastern Mediterranean, as well as along the Spanish and French coasts in the western Mediterranean. The remaining one-third (33%) of common foraging grounds were found in the oceanic zone, predominantly in the Tyrrhenian Sea and the area near Sicily in the central Mediterranean.



Figure B.1: The distribution of foraging grounds of (a) juvenile and (b) adult loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, under present (1991-2020) climatic conditions across the Mediterranean Sea. Neritic grounds are colored in purple, while oceanic ones are colored in

dark green. Marine ecoregions (sensu (Spalding et al., 2007)) comprising the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black dashed lines.

Assessment of potential foraging areas under climate change

The models indicated a redistribution of juvenile foraging grounds, both within the neritic and oceanic zones, while the overall coverage remained relatively stable (Figure B.2a). By 2080, it is projected that new suitable habitats, covering a total of 5% of the Mediterranean, may emerge in the Aegean Sea, the Ionian Sea (eastern Mediterranean), and the Gulf of Gabes (central Mediterranean). These gains would offset the loss of sites currently identified as suitable, primarily in the Tunisian plateau and the area near Sicily in the central Mediterranean (resulting in a loss of 6% of the Mediterranean coverage) (Figure B.S2a).

The future climate is anticipated to favor the expansion of foraging grounds suitable for adult loggerhead sea turtles, increasing their coverage from 16% to 19% of the entire Mediterranean surface. This increase results from a notable redistribution of sites across the basin. While a significant portion of the projected suitable habitats is expected to remain stable, covering 11.8% of the Mediterranean, potential new suitable sites, encompassing an additional surface area of 6.8% of the Mediterranean, are likely to emerge in the future (Figure B2b). Some of these suitable areas are projected to be located in regions with limited previous coverage, such as the Balearic Islands, while others are expected to expand, such as suitable areas in the Tyrrhenian Sea (Figure B.2b). The analysis also revealed a potential shift in the distribution of foraging habitats towards the western Mediterranean Sea. However, approximately one-fourth of the current foraging sites may no longer support suitable conditions in the future; particularly critical oceanic sites currently located in the central Mediterranean and the southern Ionian Sea might experience contractions (Figure B.S2b).

In summary, the coverage of future neritic suitable sites is projected to remain stable across the entire Mediterranean basin (Figure B.2b). Conversely, oceanic areas suitable for adult loggerheads, currently covering 7% of the Mediterranean, are expected to increase their coverage to approximately 10% of the total marine surface of the Mediterranean, with more significant changes occurring in the western part of the basin (Figure B.S3).

For foraging areas capable of hosting both adult and juvenile loggerheads, their coverage is expected to increase in the future from 7% to 11% of the Mediterranean basin. These new areas are projected to be situated in both the western (Balearic Islands, Tyrrhenian Sea) and eastern Mediterranean (Ionian and Aegean Sea). This increase is primarily driven by the projected expansion of oceanic sites in the western Mediterranean (i.e., the Balearic Islands and the Tyrrhenian Sea) and the eastern part (i.e., the Ionian and Aegean Sea; Figure B.S3b). However, neritic areas in the Tunisian plateau and the Spanish coasts are likely to lose their current climatic suitability for hosting both life stages in the future.

In general, significant areas where both juvenile and adult loggerheads are predicted to coexist under both current and future conditions are sparsely distributed throughout the Mediterranean basin, covering 3% of the sea's surface. These areas are predominantly located in the neritic zone, accounting for 77% of the coverage. Our analysis highlights that the northwestern Adriatic Sea in the central Mediterranean hosts an extensive

important foraging area. Similarly, smaller important sites were identified along the coasts of the Aegean and Ionian Seas in the eastern Mediterranean, the coasts of the Tunisian shelf in the central Mediterranean, the Gulf of Lions in France, and the Tyrrhenian Sea in the western Mediterranean (Figure B.S3c).



Figure B.2: The distribution of foraging grounds of (a) juvenile and (b) adult loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, under present (1991-2020) and future climatic conditions (2051-2080) across the Mediterranean Sea. Areas that will persist on supporting foraging both in the present and future conditions are delineated in pink color, while new potential foraging areas are in green. Present areas that might no longer support foraging in the future are colored in dark red. Marine ecoregions (sensu (Spalding et al., 2007)) comprising the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black dashed lines.

The future climate is likely to favor the expansion of foraging grounds suitable for adult loggerheads, which were found to increase in cover from 16% to 19% of the entire Mediterranean basin. Actually, this increase was the result of a notable redistribution of sites located throughout the basin. While a large portion of the projected suitable habitats would remain stable (covering 11.8% of the Mediterranean), potential new suitable sites, covering an additional surface of 6.8% of the Mediterranean, would probably emerge in the future (Fig. B.2b). Some of these suitable areas were projected to be hosted in regions with limited previous cover such as the Balearic Islands while others were predicted to be expanded such as suitable areas in the Tyrrhenian sea (Fig. B.2b). This analysis further revealed a likely shift in the distribution of foraging habitats towards the western Mediterranean Sea. Still, approximately one fourth of the current

foraging sites may no longer support suitable conditions in the future; particularly critical oceanic sites currently found in the central Mediterranean and the southern Ionian Sea might experience contractions (Fig. B.S2b).

Overall, the coverage of future neritic suitable sites is expected to remain stable throughout the entire basin (Figure B.2b). Conversely, oceanic areas suitable for adult loggerheads, currently covering 7% of the Mediterranean, are projected to increase their coverage to approximately 10% of the total marine surface of the Mediterranean, with more notable changes occurring in the western part of the basin (Figure B.S3).

Regarding foraging areas capable of hosting both adults and juveniles, their coverage is expected to increase in the future from 7% to 11% of the Mediterranean basin. These new areas are predicted to be located in both the western (Balearic Islands, Tyrrhenian Sea) and eastern Mediterranean (Ionian and Aegean Sea). This increase is primarily driven by a projected expansion of oceanic sites in the western Mediterranean (i.e., the Balearic Islands and the Tyrrhenian Sea) and the eastern part (i.e., the Ionian and Aegean Sea; Fig. B.S3b). However, neritic areas in the Tunisian plateau and the Spanish coasts are expected to lose their current climatic suitability for hosting both life stages in the future.

Overall, significant areas where both juvenile and adult loggerheads are predicted to coexist under both current and future conditions are sparsely distributed throughout the Mediterranean basin, covering 3% of the sea's surface. These areas are mainly located in the neritic zone, accounting for 77% of the coverage. Analyses highlighted that the northwestern Adriatic Sea in the central Mediterranean hosts an extensive important foraging area. Similarly, smaller important sites were identified along the coasts of the Aegean and Ionian Seas in the eastern Mediterranean, the coasts of the Tunisian shelf in the central Mediterranean, the Gulf of Lions in France, and the Tyrrhenian Sea in the western Mediterranean (Fig. B.S3c).

B.4 Discussion

This analysis delineated critical foraging grounds for juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles under both present and future conditions in the Mediterranean Sea. While juveniles' habitats were primarily predicted in the central and western Mediterranean, adults' habitats dominated the central and eastern parts of the basin. An encouraging outcome of this study was the projected increase in suitability for adult foraging sites, with a projected shift of adult foraging grounds towards the western Mediterranean. For juveniles' foraging areas, a relative stability was observed with a potential redistribution of potential suitable habitats eastward. Overall, our analysis identified several important foraging areas for both life stages which are expected to maintain their climatic suitability.

Models revealed that the future distributions of adults and juveniles might change, in different directions, however. For juveniles, the overall cover of suitable areas would remain relatively stable, with some large areas however gaining and losing suitability in the central and eastern Mediterranean. On the other side, findings revealed new foraging areas at the western Mediterranean in the future for adults, suggesting a potential distribution shift. Their presence at the west Mediterranean has already been observed, however probably at lower abundances (Carreras et al., 2004; Luschi et al., 2018). Their highly motile behaviour could prove adaptive and help them search for more suitable habitats avoiding unfavorable climatic conditions (Luschi et al., 2003; Hawkes et al., 2009), mediated possibly by the degree of their fidelity to certain foraging (Casale et al., 2018; Casale et al., 2012). Still, evidence suggests species show flexibility and could relocate to new foraging sites (Shimada et al., 2020). The passive dispersal of post-hatchlings in new climatically suitable areas could influence the subsequent selection of foraging sites, possibly leading to new colonizations by future generations (Hays et al., 2010).

Keeping track of key neritic areas for the two life stages of loggerheads should be prioritized in order to set up long-term monitoring programs assessing population trends and movement patterns for loggerhead sea turtles (Davenport, 1997). The analysis revealed that adults' main foraging areas were inside the neritic zone, consistent with previous findings (Patel et al., 2015; Luschi & Casale, 2014). Warm neritic waters favor food availability helping mature and immature sea turtles increase their size and satisfy their energy needs (Bolten et al., 2003). In addition, mortality rate in the Mediterranean has been shown to be higher for adults foraging closer to the shore (Schofield et al., 2020). An indicative example consists the Adriatic Sea, a mainly neritic region, which is considered to be a hotspot of risk of fisheries interaction (Lucchetti et al., 2017). However, the northern Mediterranean is much more protected by the Nature 2000 sites, whereas the southern Mediterranean Sea, a neritic region inhabited by sea turtles from nesting rookeries throughout the entire basin (Casale et al., 2018) and predicted to host many foraging grounds shared by adults and juveniles (i.e., at Tunisian Plateau), is actually covered by a limited number of marine protected areas (MPAs) (Rodríguez-Rodríguez et al., 2020).

Apart from near-shore waters, the oceanic zone was highlighted as an additionally important zone for individuals' foraging activity. Immature individuals were predicted to use a vast oceanic foraging area, a finding in agreement with species' behavior mainly exhibited at this life stage, wandering over wide oceanic areas (Cardona & Hays, 2018). However, there is great complexity in different foraging strategies followed by

both smaller and larger juveniles (Peckham et al., 2011), and an absolute distinction seems to be rather ambiguous. Our analysis delineated oceanic areas previously identified by other studies, which used alternative type of data, i.e., bycatch incidents, aerial counts and stranding individuals (e.g., in the western Mediterranean; (Revelles et al., 2007), in the Ionian Sea; (Rees et al., 2017)). Presence of both life stages at oceanic foraging grounds (Schofield et al., 2010) emphasizes the need to better understand to what extent the oceanic environment contributes to their foraging activity and the potential contribution to serve as migratory corridors used by mature individuals in migrations between their breeding habitats and the neritic foraging sites. Protection of these distant foraging areas would need transboundary cooperation of neighboring countries, as some larger areas may be shared by the exclusive economic zones of two or even three states or areas could be hosted within the international waters (Petersen-Perlman et al., 2017).

Previous research has utilized distribution models based on various climate-related factors to determine sea turtle species ranges (Elith and Leathwick, 2009; Chambault et al., 2021; Pikesley et al., 2015), still, I have to acknowledge the existence of additional environmental factors (e.g., SST and ocean currents circulation patterns and/or primary productivity) and behavioral traits (e.g., site fidelity; (Schofield et al., 2010), species interactions; (Spotila, 2004)) that could also affect the distribution of foraging sea turtles in the future. Additionally, gaps in published information may limit our ability to identify other potential foraging areas. For instance, there's a shortage of satellite telemetry data for juveniles in the eastern Mediterranean, although other studies using different data types suggest this region may be utilized for foraging (Encalada et al., 1998). Future studies should aim to validate findings with additional telemetry data when available. Finally, in order to address the arising uncertainty, an integrated approach was employed, utilizing ensemble modeling, alternative sets of pseudo-absences, and different accuracy metrics (Elith and Leathwick, 2009).

Attempting to delineate the potential climatic impacts on marine ecosystems is crucial, no matter the level of uncertainty it embeds, it represents a useful tool for long-term conservation and management strategies (Learmonth et al., 2006). For sea turtles, a marine megafauna species with a greatly complex biology, whose persistence depends both on land and marine (neritic and oceanic) habitats, identification of climatically stable, life-stage specific habitats represents an important first step for present and future conservation planning (Corrigan et al., 2014), which could support the spatial dimension of systematic conservation planning of this species and its marine habitats. Along with that, anticipated shifts in habitat suitability for different life stages due to climate change can provide valuable insights to inform adaptive management strategies in a changing environment.

Chapter C. Diving into warming oceans: assessing 3D thermally suitable foraging areas of loggerhead sea turtles under climate change.

Publication:

[Chatzimentor A., Doxa A., Butenschon M., Kristiansen T., Peck M., Katsanevakis S., Mazaris A. D. (2024). Diving into warming oceans: assessing 3D climatically suitable foraging areas of loggerhead sea turtles under climate change. Journal of Nature Conservation – under review]

C.1 Introduction

As climatic conditions shift, the abiotic and biotic conditions at habitats across the current distribution of organisms may become partly or fully unsuitable. Consequently, a mounting body of evidence reveals distribution shifts for many marine species in response to climate change (Poloczanska et al., 2013; Pecl et al., 2017; Alabia et al., 2018). Range shifts represent a critical mechanism offering many species the ability to avoid extinction in front of climate change (Donelson et al., 2019). Scientists attempt to project future key habitats, however, with the vast majority of projections being based on present and future sea surface temperature (Robinson et al., 2017), ignoring the fact that many marine organisms move horizontally but also vertically in the marine space (Brierley, 2014).

Many organisms, such as marine megafauna, constantly move among different habitats of differentiated depth (Schaber et al., 2022; Derville et al., 2022), while others inhabit and forage in habitats of different bathymetry among distinct life stages, such as benthic fish with a pelagic larval phase (Leis & McCormick, 2002; Petitgas et al., 2013). In addition, crucial environmental factors for species persistence and habitat use vary with depth (Venegas-Li et al., 2018). As climate change is expected to occur disproportionally at different depths (Brito-Morales et al., 2020) and affect species vertical migration, three-dimensional habitats of marine organisms may be subjected to changes in the future (Jorda et al., 2020). Therefore, the delineation and protection of habitats promoting the vertical coherence across different depths, thereby minimizing species exposure to climate change, present a more holistic and viable conservation strategy (Brito-Morales et al., 2022). Still, identifying critical marine habitats by considering the three-dimensionality of the seascape remains a great conservation challenge and only a few publications attempt to identify vertically coherent conservation areas (Doxa et al., 2022; Brito-Morales et al., 2022).

As more historical data and scenario projections of changes in ocean climate are becoming available for various depths, new perspectives, opportunities and challenges arise in species distribution modelling and marine spatial planning (Levin et al., 2018). Currently, however, two-dimensional approaches are predominantly used, with marine scientists often constrained to select one bathymetric level to represent the habitats utilized by species, which most commonly is the sea surface (Zintzen et al., 2010; Costello et al., 2015; Chatzimentor et al., 2021). Although often unavoidable, this is an over-simplification for marine animals that exhibit movements along the water column across their life cycle, such as Chondrichthyes (Doherty et al., 2019), or that routinely use different depths for daily foraging, such as marine megafauna (Fortune et al., 2020). Considering the uneven warming of the sea across depths (Brito-Morales et al., 2020), temperature projections from multiple bathymetric levels in species distribution. 2020).

An ideal species to assess the importance of the vertical dimension in conservation planning are sea turtles. They use various and distinct habitats for breeding, development, and foraging, which span across various depths (Bolten et al., 2003), using habitats along a bathymetric gradient during a single day but also during different

phases of their lifecycle (Casale et al., 2018). Adults usually forage on benthic organisms and on prey found in the water column, while emerge very often on the sea surface to breathe, rest and bask (Iverson et al., 2017). Before reaching maturity, juvenile sea turtles usually forage in the water column of oceanic waters (Bolten et al., 2003). Both juvenile and adult life stages are expected to be subjected to range shifts, altered foraging activities or even phenological shifts (Poloczanska et al., 2009; Almpanidou et al., 2019). Indeed, empirical evidence (Girard et al., 2021; Mancino et al., 2022; Santidrian Tomillo et al., 2022; Cardona et al., 2023) as well as projections (Dudley & Porter, 2014; Patel et al., 2021) suggest a poleward expansion of habitats used by sea turtles in the Atlantic Ocean and Mediterranean Sea and contraction of habitats used in the Eastern Pacific Ocean (Willis-Norton et al., 2015; Wallace et al., 2023). In the Mediterranean Sea, a climate-change hotspot, life cycle specific shifts were projected to include a westward expansion for adults and an eastward expansion for juveniles (Chatzimentor et al., 2021). Still, such modelling efforts have been based solely on sea surface warming scenarios (Chatzimentor et al., 2021), however habitats in deeper waters were also predicted to be warming in the region (Danovaro et al., 2018). As Mediterranean marine habitats are in risk due to increasing human pressures along the water column (Fanelli et al., 2021) and sea turtles take advantage of both shallow and deep waters to feed, it is important to identify hotspots of potential foraging which might be vertically cohesive.

To contribute to this conservation challenge, using the loggerhead sea turtles as a model species, I developed and applied a climate niche-based framework, both horizontally and vertically. This framework enabled me to: a) explore 3D habitat suitability for loggerhead sea turtles in the Mediterranean Sea incorporating knowledge on depthdependent movements and strategies of the species, b) project the suitability of 3D marine habitats under future climate scenarios, and c) assess whether present-day and future suitable areas consistently host habitats spanning over different depths. As a first thing, I developed ensemble models for the two different life stages (i.e., juvenile and adult) of loggerheads by considering layers of 5m, 25m and bottom neritic waters (Kristiansen et al., 2024). Next, I explored the degree of consistency of the identified suitable marine habitats across different depths (i.e., near-surface, deep or watercolumn zones), and the potential future shifts of these sites due to climate change. This approach could offer an advanced and more holistic understanding over the spatial delineation of the species' habitats at the 3D marine space and useful insights for future conservation planning towards climate-smart conservation networks that would integrate the aspect of bathymetry.

C.2 Methodology

To spatially delineate important foraging areas in various bathymetric layers, I developed and applied a methodological framework that included six key steps: (i) extraction of presence data on juvenile and adult foraging loggerhead sea turtles (for details, please refer to Chatzimentor et al., 2021), (ii) compilation of sea temperature data based on present-day and future projections for 5m, 25m depth and sea bottom

depths layers, (iii) construction of bioclimatic variables for each depth layer, (iv) development of climatic niche models for the different life stages over different depth layers. Next, I (v) identified the overlap of thermally suitable marine habitats for different categories of depth (near-surface, deep and water-column habitats) under present-day and future thermal conditions and (vi) assessed potential changes in the distribution of these suitable, overlapping depth habitats under climate change.

Species presence data

I used presence data extracted from all available satellite track data for loggerhead sea turtles in the Mediterranean Sea as reported in an extensive (>1500 sources) literature review (Chatzimentor et al., 2021) in which collected tracks of juvenile and adult sea turtles were georeferenced and digitized. Based on this review, a digitalized database was compiled, containing a total of 3105 presence points derived from satellite tracks of 51 juveniles and 126 presence points derived from an equal number of adult sea turtles for which spatial information, in the form of a map or provided geographical coordinates, was available. For a post- or pre-nesting migrating adult, the end or start point of the route that it followed to arrive to its foraging area was identified as presence points. Kernel density estimations were also applied to define the centroids of broader surfaces associated with the final location of many tracks (for more details see Chatzimentor et al., 2021).

Climatic data

Climatic data for the Mediterranean region were obtained from statistically downscaled climate projections as part of the EU FutureMARES project (Kristiansen et al., 2024; Kristiansen & Butenschön 2022; doi:10.5281/zenodo.6523926). The dataset was created by bias-correcting and statistically downscaling Earth System and Climate Model simulations from a range (4-8) of CMIP6 model, prior to creating an ensemble dataset that contained the ensemble average along with information on the uncertainty across models. The downscaled dataset provided monthly averaged spatially resolved temperature data at three different depth layers 5m, 25m, and bottom depths, for the historical (1993-2022) and future (2023-2100) period, resolved at 1/12° degree longitude-latitude. This study focused on the Shared Socioeconomic and Representative Concentration Pathway (SSP, O'Neill et al. 2016) SSP5-8.5 (fossil fuel driven future), largely considered as unmitigated case scenario, to assess the risk of climate change. To define present-day climate conditions, I used sea temperature data for the period of 1993–2022 and for the future the period of 2051–2080.

Three depth layers were used to represent the vertical habitats used by juvenile and adult loggerheads. The first two layers (5 and 25m) represented the near-surface habitats while the third (bottom depth to 200 m) represented neritic bottom waters representative for the behavioural and biological attributes of the species. Both juvenile and adult loggerheads are capable of foraging throughout the water column but they only reach the seabed when found in the neritic zone (<=200m depth) (Casale et al., 2018). Larger juveniles are able to reach deeper waters in order to feed (Chimienti et al., 2020). Individuals mainly feed on gelatinous zooplankton in oceanic habitats (water depths > 200 m) and switch to a diet of benthic invertebrates such as molluscs and crustaceans when the recruit to neritic habitats (depths < 200 m) (Hatase et al., 2007).

As large juvenile and adult sea turtles in neritic waters are known to forage at all depths on pelagic and benthic prey (Bolten et al., 2003), I defined 'water-column' habitat, as thermally suitable areas where all three depth layers (5m, 25m and neritic bottom layers) overlapped for each life stage (juvenile, adult). Both life stages frequent more surface waters in order to breathe, wander and also forage on pelagic species, so 'nearsurface habitats' were defined as suitable areas where both 5 and 25m depths overlapped. Finally, 'deep habitats' were identified where thermally suitable depths of 25m and bottom neritic waters overlapped, as individuals also rest for extended periods on the seabed during overwintering (Hochscheid et al., 2005) or perform in-water behaviours such as burying themselves under the sand in the seabed (Papafitsoros, 2022).

Adults use foraging areas all year, except during reproduction and post- and premigration phases (Rees & Margaritoulis, 2013). So, to define the most representative foraging period, I used sea temperature data from September (i.e., after the completion of the nesting season) to March (i.e., before the beginning of pre-nesting migration). Juveniles exhibit year-round foraging (Bolten et al., 2003; Hawkes et al., 2009) so sea temperature throughout the year was used for habitat suitability modelling.

Based on sea temperature data, I constructed bioclimatic variables (sensu Hijmans et al., 2011) that have an ecological meaning for sea turtles, whose viability and activities are linked to temperature (Mrosovsky, 1980; Davenport, 1997; Pikesley et al., 2015). Bioclimatic variables were constructed in R (version 4.0.0), using ncdf4 (Pierce, 2009), raster (Hijmans & Etten, 2012) and dismo packages (Chambault et al., 2021). We used the nine bioclimatic variables relevant to temperature: mean annual temperature, mean diurnal range, isothermality, temperature seasonality, max temperature of warmest month, min temperature of coldest month, temperature annual range, mean temperature of warmest quarter and mean temperature of coldest quarter. Furthermore, I applied a principal component analysis (PCA) to produce several new predictors to capture the grand majority of the variance of the bioclimatic variables (Tourne et al., 2019). The RStoolbox package (Leutner et al., 2022) was used to conduct the PCA. The first two axes of the PCA (accounting for greater than 99% of data variability) were chosen for our analysis and used as predictor variables in the models (Table C.S1).

Climatic suitability models

To determine the important foraging areas for juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles across each depth layer, I developed a series of climatic niche models, by using several alternative algorithms: Generalized Linear Models, Generalized Additive Models, machine-learning Random Forest and Multivariate Adaptive Regression Spline using the `sdm` package (Naimi & Araujo, 2016). For ensuring the best predictability, I applied an ensemble modelling approach, combining outputs of the different algorithms (Heron, 2006) as the mean to limit the uncertainty of the selection of a single model (Hao et al., 2019). This way, overfitting of a model is avoided and the ability of the model to be transferred in time and space is enhanced (Araujo & New, 2006).

Since reliable data on the true absence of the species were unavailable, the cells of no presence records served to extract potential pseudoabsences. Pseudoabsences were randomly selected with a standard distance (buffer) away from the presence data. A buffer of 8 cells was used as the threshold above which pseudoabsences were sampled. A total of 3105 pseudoabsences was selected for juveniles, as an equal number of

presence and absence points is suggested for large number of datasets (Barbet-Massin et al., 2012). A set of 1000 pseudoabsences was selected for adults, as suggested for low prevalence datasets (Barbet-Massin et al., 2012). In order to overcome sampling bias, ten random sets of pseudoabsences were sampled for the two life stages.

To assess the predictive accuracy of the models, a ten-fold cross-validation was applied. For the evaluation of the models, we used the Area Under the Curve (AUC; Fielding & Bell, 1997) and the True Skill Statistics (TSS; Allouche et al., 2006). The final model was produced as the mean value of probabilities given by all cross-validated models and ten random sets. Final ensemble models exhibited a good predictive accuracy for juveniles and adults, based on both metrics (AUC>0.72, TSS>0.53; Table S2). The conversion of the final model outputs that represented continuous distributions to binary, indicative of a presence-absence distribution, was based on the threshold of maximization of TSS, a method frequently used and suggested by the literature (Comte, 2013; Liu et al., 2016).

I identified potential present-day and future distributions of thermally suitable areas for the different layers of 5m, 25m and bottom neritic waters (Fig. C.1). In order to investigate whether thermal suitable areas span across different water depths, defining areas of 3D suitability, I identified overlaps among suitable habitats for the three depth levels, considering near-surface, deep and water column habitats (Fig. C.1). Next, I estimated the change between the potential present-day and future suitable habitats by comparing their spatial distributions and estimated thermal stable sites by calculating their overlapping distributions. I defined as losses, areas that appeared as thermally suitable in the present-day conditions but not under future conditions, whereas gains were areas that were not suitable in the present-day conditions but were projected to be suitable in the future. Thermally stable areas were areas that appeared suitable both for the present-day and the future conditions.



Figure C.1: Flowchart of the methodology followed in order to delineate present-day and future 3D thermally suitable habitats (near-surface, water-column, deep) for adult and juvenile loggerhead sea turtles.

C.3 Results

Distributions of potentially suitable habitats for adult loggerhead sea turtles were similar among single depth layers (i.e., for sea temperatures at 5m, 25m, or bottom) under both present-day and future climatic conditions (Fig. C.2a-c and Fig. C.2d-f). Most suitable areas were predicted to maintain their suitability in the future and were concentrated at the neritic zone both in the North Mediterranean, such as the Balearic Islands (west Med), the northern Adriatic Sea (central Med) and the Aegean Sea (east Med), as well as in the southern Mediterranean, in the coasts of Tunisian plateau (central Med) and the Levantine Sea (east Med) (Fig. C.2a-f).

In contrast, the distribution of suitable habitats for juvenile loggerhead sea turtles differed among the three depth layers (Fig. C.2g-l). When considering the 5m depth or the 25m depth layer, suitable foraging habitats covered the entire western and central Mediterranean Sea, whereas suitable bottom neritic waters were restricted to those of adult loggerheads (Fig. C.2g-k vs Fig. C.2i&l). Under future conditions, the bottom neritic habitats for juveniles were projected to expand from 8.8 to 13.6% of the Mediterranean Sea (Fig. C.2i&l).



Figure C.2: Potential distribution of thermally suitable foraging areas for 5m, 25m and neritic bottom habitats for adult (a-f) and juvenile (g-l) loggerhead sea turtles under present-day and future conditions in the Mediterranean Sea.

Water-column habitats (i.e., overlap of the three single layer distributions) of adults mainly concentrated in the central and eastern Mediterranean Sea, were distributed at areas of well-known foraging sites such as the north Adriatic Sea, the Tunisian plateau and the coasts of the Levantine Sea (Fig. C.3a). These sites covered a 6.2% and a 6.1% of the Mediterranean surface under present-day and future conditions, respectively (Fig. C.4b). Within the sites of the north Adriatic Sea, the 3D habitats seemed to maintain their thermal suitability in the future (Fig. C.3a).

For juveniles, water-column habitats were concentrated in the north Mediterranean Sea coasts and the Tunisian plateau, covering 6% of the Mediterranean basin under presentday climatic conditions and 8.9% under future climatic conditions (Fig. C.4b). Potential new suitable habitats were projected to occur in the future in the Adriatic Sea, the coasts of North Aegean and sparse areas in the western coasts of west Mediterranean Sea (Fig. C.3b). However, the foraging ground of the Tunisian plateau was predicted to become thermally unsuitable in the future for juvenile loggerheads. The North Adriatic Sea was predicted to remain as thermal stable under future conditions (Fig. C.3b).



Figure C.3: Water-column habitats, near-surface habitats and deep habitats of juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles as a proportion of (a) the potential distribution of all thermally suitable areas and (b) the total percentage cover of the Mediterranean Sea.

For adults, near-surface and deep habitats were characterized by a similar distribution as water-column habitats (Fig. C.3a,c,e), with the exception of a potential future western expansion of near-surface habitats and, in particular, including coastal waters of the Balearic Islands (Fig. C.3c). Near-surface and deep habitats for adults covered 7.8% and 7.4% of the surface area of the Mediterranean Sea, respectively (Fig. C.4b).

For juveniles, near-surface habitats covered half of the Mediterranean Sea (52.6%; Fig. C.4b) spanning across the entire western and central Mediterranean Sea (Fig. C.3d). The vast majority of those near-surface habitats were projected to be suitable in the future, except areas in the southern-central limit of the present-day distribution (Fig. C.3d). Juveniles' deep foraging habitats covered 6.6% of the Mediterranean Sea (Fig. C.4b) and had a similar distribution as suitable water-column habitats (Fig C.3b,f). Potentially new deep habitats for juveniles were projected to occur mainly in the Adriatic Sea and the North Aegean coasts while losses were projected for the foraging ground of the Tunisian plateau (Fig. C.3f).

Overall, I observed a large overlap of near-surface, deep and water-column habitats for adults over the whole Mediterranean Sea under both present-day and future conditions (Fig. C.3). The coverage of the three types of 3D habitats was comparatively similar, covering respectively 38%, 36% and 30% of the potential distribution of suitable habitats for adults at present-day (33%, 26% and 23% respectively in future distributions) (Fig. C.4a). Contrarily, near-surface habitats for juveniles prevailed in cover in comparison to deep and water-column habitats, with the first covering 82% of the potential present-day distribution (respectively 76% for future distribution), while

the latter sharing a percentage of 10% and 9% respectively (15% and 14% respectively in future distributions) (Fig. C.4a).



Figure C.4: Water-column habitats, near-surface habitats and deep habitats of juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles as a proportion of (a) the potential distribution of all thermally suitable areas and (b) the total percentage cover of the Mediterranean Sea.

C.4 Discussion

This study aimed to investigate potential thermal suitability of loggerhead sea turtles' habitats across various depths, and to explore whether suitability was distributed consistently at different depths. This analysis delineated a range of thermally suitable habitats near the surface, across the water column and in deeper waters, with potential suitability distributions being variant between juvenile and adult loggerheads for different depths. In front of the projected climate change, projected changes in thermal suitability of each depth layer produced altered patterns of thermal coherence, with gains and losses of favourable thermal conditions spanning across their distribution in the Mediterranean. Differences obtained suggest that the parameter of bathymetry should be incorporated in assessing the distribution of suitable habitats for marine species, using either the entire water-column or even part of it, however this task requires caution.

Similar to sea turtles, there are many marine organisms that utilize the whole watercolumn such as sharks (Coehlo et al., 2015; Doherty et al., 2019), while other animals exhibit much more restricted depth ranges in the water column, such as micronekton and zooplankton (Brierley, 2014). Ecology and behaviour of a species largely determine the selection of bathymetric layers. Here I illustrated how the selection of particular bathymetric zones, as opposed to others, can influence projections of suitable habitats or alternatively the combination of various depth-specific distributions might produce different results. For instance, combining 5m, 25m and bottom neritic temperature projections resulted in a distribution pattern of limited oceanic areas thermally suitable for adults, opposed to previous analyses utilizing the sea surface layer (Almpanidou et al., 2021; Chatzimentor et al., 2021). Moreover, juvenile sea turtles displayed distinct spatial patterns of near-surface 3D space compared to deep and water-column habitats, with the former covering broader areas in the western and central Mediterranean waters and the latter being spatially restricted.

Even though sea turtles frequently move around the seabed to feed, previous efforts have not yet considered deeper layers in spatial projections. Previous research findings have reported the use and suitability of coastal foraging areas, primarily in the central and eastern Mediterranean Sea for adults (Mazor et al., 2016; Casale et al., 2018; Haywood et al., 2020; Almpanidou et al., 2021) and mainly in the west and central Mediterranean for juveniles (Chimienti et al., 2020; Chatzimentor et al., 2021). The location and extent of the thermally suitable foraging areas identified here were consistent to a large extent with previous results obtained when only sea surface temperatures were considered (Almpanidou et al., 2021; Chatzimentor et al., 2022). The extent and distributions of depth-specific habitats depended on the life stage, reflecting the distinct foraging and life-history strategy adopted by juvenile and adult loggerheads. Despite possessing a range of foraging behaviors, adults use neritic habitats and mostly frequent them with increasing body size (Reich et al., 2007; Hatase et al., 2007). This model predicted that a variety of depth-specific habitats could be suitable for adults, with whole water-column prevailing over a mosaic of near-surface or deep habitats. On the other hand, juveniles have been reported in the oceanic zone but have been less

frequently observed in very deep waters (Freitas et al., 2018; Chimienti et al., 2020). This model predicted large areas of suitable habitat including not only shallow waters but also the deeper layers of the water column. Some restricted yet important habitats were identified that spanned the entire water-column, mainly in the northern Mediterranean basin, potentially reflecting coastal areas where larger-sized juveniles reach to forage on benthic and pelagic prey (Blasi et al., 2017).

Dissimilarities among different bathymetric habitats were observed in areas that will potentially gain or lose thermal suitability in the future. For instance, juveniles were predicted to expand their water-column habitats eastwards. However, the southeast edges of near-surface habitats would probable become unsuitable in the future. In general, populations of marine species at both polar and equatorial range margins are observed to be undergoing abundance changes, with decreased abundance towards the equatorial side of range (Hastings et al., 2020). Following these observations, it is possible that the potential loss of suitability on the southern edges of the juveniles' predicted distribution could drive a potential reduction in the abundance of loggerheads there (Mancino et al., 2022; Hochscheid et al., 2022). This is also the case with the predicted westward expansion of the thermally suitable habitats for adults, also supported by a growing number of observations of nesting events in western areas (Maffuci et al., 2016; Hochscheid et al., 2022; Mancino et al., 2022; Cardona et al., 2023;). Foraging areas in the west Mediterranean are much less frequented by adult sea turtles than by juveniles (Casale et al., 2018), however if thermal conditions improve in locations such as the Balearic Islands, this might enable adults to persist in the region supporting their reproductive potential (Hochscheid et al., 2022).

In the present study, I used a simplified approach to predict the potential distribution of sea turtle habitats based on a suite of climate variables. However, I acknowledge that there are additional factors affecting the selection and suitability of foraging habitats, as for example patterns of ocean current circulation and primary productivity, aspects of behaviour such as site fidelity (Schofield et al., 2010) and species interactions 2004). Loggerheads are known to forage mainly on (Spotila, benthic macroinvertebrates, on pelagic tunicates crustaceans and molluscs, and occasionally on fish. Key prey species may be affected by climate change, as has already been observed for the North Sea, where long-term changes in the abundance of jellyfish species have been linked to climatic signals (Thorpe et al., 2022). Strong associations between ocean productivity, the associated plankton landscapes and turtle distributions have been suggested (Pechham et al., 2011). Future alterations of open-ocean prey abundance may be a critical issue for marine turtles, but this topic has yet received very little attention. I, thus, encourage future studies on distribution modelling of marine turtles to integrate data on prey species. Furthermore, in order to reduce the uncertainty that is inherent to climatic suitability modeling (Elith & Leathwick, 2009), I applied statistical downscaling of an ensemble of estimates from global climate models to increase spatial resolution which is recommended as best practice for examining climate-driven changes in suitable habitats for both terrestrial and marine plants and animals (Storlie et al., 2014: Drenkard et al., 2021). To this direction, I also employed alternative sets of pseudo-absences and different accuracy metrics (such as AUC and TSS). Due to sea temperature projections been restricted to three depth layers, the estimation of habitat suitability across a full dept continuum, from the surface to the seafloor, was not feasible. This limitation highlights the need for improved habitat projection models, for this and other species. Finally, I highlight the need to produce additional telemetry studies and data for sea turtle presence in the Mediterranean sea in order to corroborate these findings and gain insights for less sampled marine areas in the basin.

For organisms moving along the water-column, it is particularly important to identify the consistency of suitable habitats at different depths (Levin et al., 2018; Doxa et al. 2022; Brito-Morales et al., 2022). However, incorporating different bathymetric zones is not negligible, and uncertainty as well as differences in projected climate-driven changes among different bathymetric habitats, might render this task even more challenging, especially considering the various scenarios of climate change (Thuiller et al., 2019). Projections suggest that well-known foraging areas of sea turtles will preserve their thermal suitability in the future and often, but not always, among different depths. As scientists, managers and policy makers urgently seek for advanced adaptive ways for biodiversity protection, the identification of important areas for highly migratory marine species, like sea turtles, is an essential step to reach future conservation goals (Hays et al., 2019). However, as most marine organisms move along a bathymetric gradient in the open sea, the three-dimensionality of marine space should be incorporated in the designation of spatial management plans. Both existing and newly established marine protected areas hold potential as valuable tools for sea turtle conservation. Global evidence indicates that conservation measures could mediate in halting declines in sea turtle abundance (Mazaris et al., 2017). However, the broad distribution of sea turtles and their extensive movements across seas mean that individuals are unlikely to spend their entire life cycle, or even their adult lives, within these designated areas. While we acknowledge the significance of marine protected areas in enhancing sea turtle protection, safeguarding this highly mobile species requires a more comprehensive conservation approach. Recognizing limitations in protecting every part of their distribution range, prioritizing the delineation of crucial habitats and the establishment of key marine turtle areas becomes essential within this context. Moreover, the impact of climate change, leading to shifts in distribution and habitat loss, may pose additional challenges for efficient spatial management measures (Gissi et al., 2019). Conservation efforts should therefore adopt an adaptive approach, regularly revisiting and updating predictions based on the best available data, methodologies and projections.

Thermal stable habitats identified for loggerhead juveniles and/or adults across the shores of multiple Mediterranean counties highlight the need for transnational cooperation including increased knowledge exchange and common actions for sea turtle conservation (Mazaris et al., 2023). I highly recommend that future research focus on spatially delineating important depth-specific habitats for marine species that would effectively feed into marine spatial planning schemes enriching our insights on the three-dimensionality of ocean habitats. In this regard, depth-specific human activities should also be included, thus producing more robust estimates of spatial impacts of human pressures on marine life than when only surface waters are considered.

Chapter D. Are Mediterranean marine threatened species at high risk by climate change?

Publication:

[Chatzimentor, A., Doxa, A., Katsanevakis, S., & Mazaris, A. D. (2023). Are Mediterranean marine threatened species at high risk by climate change? *Global change biology*, *29*(7), 1809–1821. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16577</u>]

D.1 Introduction

As over 1,500 marine species face a serious risk of extinction (IUCN, 2021), conservation policies, such as the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), are urging efforts to prevent this and improve their conservation status (Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, 2010). On top of current local stressors faced by species, climate change will exacerbate the pressure faced by threatened species, pushing them closer to extinction (IPCC, 2014; Delach et al., 2019). Identifying species at high risk will prioritize our conservation efforts towards adapting to climate change (Foden et al., 2019).

The susceptibility of species to climate change is influenced by both their intrinsic vulnerability and the external threats they are exposed to (IPCC, 2014; Jones & Cheung, 2018). Vulnerability primarily stems from inherent biological or ecological traits of the species which determine their ability to cope with changing environmental conditions (Fortini & Schubert, 2017). For instance, ocean acidification would greatly impact particularly species relying on calcification processes (Pacifici et al., 2015). However, their sensitivity could be mitigated by their adaptive capacity, such as a highly mobile nature helping them to relocate away from unfavourable habitats (Lascelles et al., 2014). An additional factor that could elevate their risk to climate change is an increased exposure to altering conditions, for example, rising sea levels may lead to nest inundation for sea turtles, posing a threat to their reproductive success (Poloczanska et al., 2009).

Risk assessments using traits have become widely utilized across various organisms and associated human activities (Dawson et al., 2011; Pacifici et al., 2015). In marine ecosystems, climate vulnerability assessments sparse across several topics such as region-specific or species-specific assessments (Albouy et al., 2020; Hare et al., 2016; Stortini et al., 2015; Mamauag et al., 2013; Chin et al., 2010). Nevertheless, assessing climate risk across larger regions based on a diverse range of threatened species has been limited (but see, Gardali et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2015; Pacifici et al., 2017).

In one of the largest marine biodiversity hotspot such as the Mediterranean Sea (Coll et al., 2010), such climate risk evaluations are essential, as it is forecasted to experience significant climate change impacts (Marbà et al., 2015; Frihy & El-Sayed, 2013). Altering climatic conditions have already affected its marine biodiversity with distributions shifts and habitat degradation been observed (Garrabou et al., 2022; Chatzimentor et al., 2021; Chefaoui et al., 2018; Marbà et al., 2015; Albouy et al., 2013; Albouy et al., 2012). The combined impacts of anthropogenic threats have resulted in a concerning loss of biodiversity, with threatened species in the Mediterranean experiencing population declines (IUCN, 2021).

Herein, I aimed to conduct a climate change risk assessment for the critically endangered, endangered and vulnerable marine species of the Mediterranean Sea as defined by the IUCN Red List of Threatened species, based on the framework of the recent fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). So, I considered risk to climate change as a function of a species' vulnerability traits (sensitivity and adaptive capacity) in interaction with the level of its exposure to a climate hazard. Most studies use convergent traits of vulnerability (Foden et al., 2019), however, there is limited evidence to identify which traits are most determinant (Pearson et al., 2014; Wheatley et al., 2017). Thus, I selected predominant traits of previous climate risk assessments by reviewing the related literature. I focused on endangered marine species as a group of species already of high priority and interest to conservation (Bianchi & Morri, 2000; Coll et al., 2010). Currently endangered marine species are characterized by high vulnerability under present conditions, so they are a priori under high risk to any other pressure, like that of climate change. So, I aimed to identify species with the greatest vulnerability, exposure and risk to changes in ocean temperature in the Mediterranean Sea, as well as delineate high-risk areas which host most of them. Research findings could help steer our sight towards species and areas at highest risk in the Mediterranean and prioritize their monitoring and conservation.

D.2 Methodology

Collection of species data and traits

In order to identify the species' list, I collected information on all 104 critically endangered, endangered, and vulnerable species of the Mediterranean Sea (further referred to as 'threatened species') from the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (IUCN, 2021), including a variety of taxa from benthic invertebrates to large marine mammals. Fourteen species were excluded from the dataset, such as three marine birds, two Lessepsian migrants (*Coryogalops ocheticus, Himantura uarnak*), the endemic *Paranemonia vouliagmeniensis* as it solely inhabits a brackish lake, and eight species with distribution ranges including the Mediterranean Sea according to the IUCN, but considered vagrants in the region (*Acipenser stellatus, Acipenser gueldenstaedtii, Acipenser nudiventris, Entomacrodus solus, Eretmochelys imbricata, Pristis pristis, Pristis pectinata, Pomatoschistus tortonesei*). Thus, eventually 90 threatened species were collected at the end.

Building upon previous climate change vulnerability and risk assessments (Foden et al., 2013; Gaichas et al., 2014; Hare et al., 2016; Stortini et al., 2015), I gathered eleven ecological and life history characteristics, which depict the general susceptibility of the studied species. These traits encompass a variety of species-level attributes, such as ecological preferences and life history information (Foden et al., 2019). The initial three traits pertain to species' intrinsic sensitivity traits responding to the impacts of climate change: (1) Preference in narrow thermal conditions. I considered that species with narrow thermal ranges would have a greater probability of being impacted by temperature increase due to climate change (Foden et al., 2019). (2) Use of habitats likely to be impacted by sea level rise (e.g., marshes, sea grass beds, beaches, river deltas, and adjacent coastal areas) (Cazenave & Cozannet, 2014). (3) Dependence on calcification processes. I considered that species employing calcification processes, such as corals and mollusks, would be impacted the most by the reduction of the ocean pH. Fish were considered of medium sensitivity because of calcification processes for otolith formation and the impacts of ocean acidification on the survival of their larvae (Koenigstein et al., 2016; Poloczanska et al., 2016; Jones & Cheung, 2018).

The remaining eight traits referred to species' adaptive capacity: Specialized requirements on (4) habitat and (5) diet. We considered that species not tightly connected to specific conditions and requirements in habitat and diet might show greater resilience towards climate change impacts due to a broader niche (Foden et al., 2013). (6) Impact score of other non-climatic threats, reflecting the overall population

health and thus its ability to cope with added impacts and adapt to new conditions (Davies et al., 2004). Climate change impacts may interact with anthropogenic threats, such as overfishing or pollution, exacerbating the pressure on marine species. Therefore, I used the level of impact from anthropogenic threats of the IUCN Red List as a "trait" reflective of the added vulnerability due to additional pressures (Foden et al., 2013). (7) Conservation status, obtained from the IUCN Red List of Threatened species. (8) Dispersal ability, as species with low dispersal ability were assumed to have a lower ability for adaptation since they are less capable of shifting their ranges according to altering climatic conditions (Foden et al., 2019). (9) Vertical migration ability as an adaptive mechanism that species may use to avoid the warming marine surface (Jorda et al., 2020). (10) Generation length. We considered species with longer generations to have slower life histories and lower reproductive output. Long generation length and slow growth rate are often linked to an increased risk of extinction (Pearson et al., 2014). (11) Body size. The larger the body size of a given species, the higher its assumed position in the marine trophic guild, indicative of a K-strategy species (Gaichas et al., 2014; Hare et al., 2016). I considered species with larger body sizes more vulnerable to warming, as they have lower heat tolerance thresholds than smaller organisms (IPCC, 2014; Jones & Cheung, 2018).

I employed five databases, namely IUCN, Fishbase, SeaLifeBase, WORMS, and Aquamaps, to gather data on species traits. Information regarding habitat and dietary requirements was sourced from literature review and expert consultations. Vulnerability levels were categorized into three modalities (high/moderate/low) for all traits except diet specialization, which had two levels (low and high). For a comprehensive understanding of the acquisition of trait information and the assignment of ordered levels, please refer to Table D.S1 and the supplementary material.

Estimation of Climatic Vulnerability

To assess species vulnerability, I employed two distinct methods: a semi-quantitative and a quantitative approach. This dual-method approach was adopted to mitigate uncertainties stemming from relying solely on one vulnerability estimation method. The scores derived from both methods were subsequently combined into a single integrated vulnerability score.

According to the semi-quantitative approach, a species was classified as highly vulnerable if it exhibited a specified number of traits associated with a high level of vulnerability. To determine a minimum number of traits needed to assign high vulnerability at the species level, I followed a stepwise process; first, I assumed that if a species had at least one trait linked to a high level of vulnerability, then this species would be highly vulnerable. I repeated the process by gradually increasing the number of traits used as thresholds. Next, I plotted the number of species assigned as highly vulnerable against the corresponding thresholds; I observed that a certain plateau was reached for threshold ≥ 3 (Figure D.S1). According to this threshold, I considered highly vulnerable species with three or more highly vulnerable traits. Species with less than three highly vulnerable traits were characterized as having moderate or low vulnerability based on the prevailing vulnerability level of traits. If more traits of the species were of moderate level, then the species was characterized as moderately vulnerable, while it was characterized as having low vulnerability if more traits were of low level.

Following the quantitative approach, I assigned scores to the designated levels of vulnerability traits, where high, moderate, and low vulnerability received descending scores from 3 to 1, respectively. Subsequently, I calculated the sum score of all vulnerability traits for each species (Gaichas et al., 2014; Hare et al., 2016). Next, I divided the range of values into three equal intervals, corresponding to categories of high, moderate, and low vulnerability. In the final step, to generate an integrated vulnerability score for each species, I merged the scores obtained from both the semi-quantitative and quantitative approaches using a logical matrix (Jones & Cheung, 2018). This matrix facilitated assigning species into categories of high, moderate, or low overall vulnerability, as illustrated in Figure D.S2.

Estimation of exposure to increased sea temperature

To generate a comprehensive exposure assessment for each species, I integrated results from two metrics based on the characteristics of the species' existing distribution. The first metric analyzed maps illustrating the projected current distribution of each species alongside anticipated changes in ocean temperature within their projected habitat range. This metric quantified the percentage of the species' current thermal range that is expected to diminish in future scenarios. Species were deemed highly exposed if a significant portion or none of their current thermal range would be retained under future conditions. The second metric assessed the extent to which the current distribution of species might encounter elevated climatic conditions in the future compared to their present habitat. Species exhibiting a substantial portion of their distribution projected to experience heightened climatic conditions were considered highly exposed. For each studied species, I derived maps of current distribution from Aquamaps (Kaschner et al., 2019), a website providing predictions on marine species distribution based on ecological niche models built on environmental variables such as temperature, primary production, and salinity. Model outputs represent the probability of species occurrence (0-1) at a 0.5° spatial resolution. Cells with a probability equal to or greater than 0.5 were considered as cells where the species is present, whereas cells with a probability less than 0.5 were considered cells where the species is absent (Klein et al., 2015).

Before calculating the two metrics used to determine exposure scores for the species under study, I categorized each species based on depth. Utilizing data from Fishbase and SeaLifeBase, I compiled estimates of depth ranges for all species and classified them into one of three depth categories: a) sea surface, b) mean depth, or c) maximum depth. Species such as marine mammals and sea turtles, which primarily inhabit the water column but regularly surface for respiration, were assigned to the sea surface layer. Subsequently, I obtained current and projected sea surface, mean depth, and maximum depth temperature data from Bio-ORACLE (Tyberghein et al., 2012). Projected future temperatures for the period 2040-2050 were based on the "business as usual" climatic scenario RCP8.5 (Representative Concentration Pathway), derived from Atmospheric Ocean General Circulation Models (AOGCM). The first exposure metric was calculated as the proportion of the present thermal range that would be lost in the future. Exposure was estimated through equation (1):

(1)
$$E_1 = 1 - \frac{\theta_{max,p} - \theta_{min,f}}{TR_p}$$

- $\theta_{max,p}$: maximum temperature of species' present thermal range

- $\theta_{\min,f}$: minimum temperature of species' future thermal range
- TR_p: present thermal range

To explore the exposure of the current species distribution to increased ocean temperature, I calculated the number of cells for which future temperature was projected to be higher than the species' upper thermal limit and estimated the percentage of current distribution for which future temperatures will exceed reported thermal range, based on equation (2):

(2)
$$E_2 = \frac{Nb \ of \ cells \ \theta_f \ge \theta_{max,p}}{total \ Nb \ of \ cells}$$

- total Nb of cells: the number of all cells of the present distribution of the species
- Nb of cells $\theta_f \ge \theta_{max,p}$: Total number of cells (of the current distribution) where the future temperature will be higher than the species' upper thermal limit

Ultimately, I computed the average value of the two exposure metrics to generate an integrated exposure score for each species. The overall exposure scores ranged from 0 to 1, where a score of 1 indicated that a species' entire future distribution is projected to occur in regions with higher temperatures than the maximum temperature of their current distribution, while a score of 0 indicated that a species' entire future distribution is expected to remain below current maximum temperatures. Species were categorized into high, moderate, or low exposure based on equal intervals of the overall exposure score: [0, 0.33] for low exposure, [0.34, 0.66] for moderate exposure, and [0.67, 1] for high exposure levels.

Table D.1: The list of 11 vulnerability traits of the 90 threatened marine species along with their modalities (low, moderate, high), their source of extraction and the type of variable (continuous or categorical).

| Traits of Vulnerability | Vulnerability ranking | | | Databasa | Tama of an ishia |
|--|---|--|--|---|--|
| | low | moderate | high | Database | Type of variables |
| Preference in narrow thermal conditions | $Q2 < \Delta\theta < Q3$ | $Q1 < \Delta \theta <= Q2$ | Δθ= <q1< th=""><th>Fishbase, SeaLifeBase</th><th>continuous (extraction of quantiles)</th></q1<> | Fishbase, SeaLifeBase | continuous (extraction of quantiles) |
| Dependence on calcification processes | rest of the species (marine mammals, sea turtles) | species which possibly will be impacted by OA (fish) | species using calcification processes primarily for their survival (corals, molluscs, malacostraca, bivalvia) | Literature | categorical |
| Use of habitats likely to be impacted by SLR | absolute dependence on oceanic habitats | dependence on neritic habitats as well as oceanic ones | absolute dependence on coastal terrestrial and neritic habitats | IUCN | categorical |
| Specialized requirements on habitat | Habitat generalist, in common physical habitats | Strongly prefers a particular habitat but can survive in other habitats | Specialist on a restricted biological habitat | IUCN, Group of experts | categorical |
| Specialized requirements on diet | Prey generalist | - | Very specific requirements in prey selection | Group of experts | categorical |
| Impact score of non-climatic threats | low or unknown impact from human threats | medium impact from human threats | high impact from human threats | IUCN | categorical |
| IUCN status | Vulnerable | Endangered | Critically endangered | IUCN | categorical |
| Dispersal ability | migratory species | motile species, at least at one life stage | sessile species | Fishbase, SeaLifeBase | categorical |
| Vertical migration ability | species that occur in deeper waters (greater than 200m) | species occuring from 40m to 200m depth, with moderate ability to reach greater depths | species occuring only in shallow waters with low ability to reach deeper waters (up to 40m) | Aquamaps | categorical |
| Generation length | yrs <= Q1 | Q1 < yrs <=Q2 | Q2 < yrs <= Q3 | Fishbase, SeaLifeBase, WORMS, literature | continuous (extraction of quantiles) |
| Body size | cm <=Q1 | Q1 <cm<=q2< th=""><th>Q2<cm<=q3< th=""><th>Fishbase, SeaLifeBase, WORMS, literature</th><th>continuous (extraction of quantiles)</th></cm<=q3<></th></cm<=q2<> | Q2 <cm<=q3< th=""><th>Fishbase, SeaLifeBase, WORMS, literature</th><th>continuous (extraction of quantiles)</th></cm<=q3<> | Fishbase, SeaLifeBase, WORMS, literature | continuous (extraction of quantiles) |

Overall climatic risk score

The climate risk index was computed for each species by combining vulnerability and exposure scores, following the guidelines of a logical matrix (Jones & Cheung, 2018) as depicted in Figure D.1. Based on this index, each species was categorized into high, moderate, or low risk levels. Utilizing these risk levels alongside the current spatial distribution of species (obtained from Aquamaps distributions), I generated a regional map highlighting climate risk hotspots. These hotspots represent areas where a significant number of species with high climate risk are concentrated. Additionally, I investigated the coverage of marine protected areas (MPAs) in the Mediterranean Sea concerning these risk hotspots. MPA boundaries were obtained from the World Database on Protected Areas (UNEP-WCMC, 2019), focusing on sites identified as coastal or exclusively marine.

To identify traits that possibly relate to species' climate high-risk category, I performed a Joint Correspondence Analysis (JCA) using the "ca" package (Nenadic and Greenacre, 2007). JCA is an improved approach of Multiple Correspondence Analysis, that enables to explore the relationships among multiple categorical variables (Giusti et al., 2013). Specifically, it permits to reduce the dimensionality of a data matrix and visualize it in a low dimensionality subspace (Camiz & Gomes, 2013), while adjusting the overestimation of the total explained inertia (Greenacre, 2006).



Figure D.1: Overview scheme of the estimation of climate risk. The estimation of the overall risk categories was based on the combination of vulnerability and exposure scores and categories. The table of risk estimation is adapted from (Jones & Cheung, 2018), for the three categories of risk and the estimation of the overall vulnerability.

D.3 Results

Nearly one-quarter (n=25) of the 90 threatened species inhabiting the Mediterranean Sea were predicted to be at high levels of climate risk (Table D.S2). Species of high climate risk belonged to Anthozoa (6 out of 16), Chondrichthyes (12 out of 45), sea turtles (3 out of 3), marine Mammals (3 out of 6) and Actinopterygii (1 out of 18; *Anguilla anguilla*) (Figure D.2). The risk to climate change and vulnerability significantly differed by taxonomic group ($\chi^2 = 26.381$, p < 0.05 and $\chi^2 = 31.735$, p < 0.01, respectively). Also, the risk to climate change for threatened species was significantly associated with climatic vulnerability ($\chi^2 = 66.534$, p < 0.01) and exposure to increased ocean temperature ($\chi^2 = 69.9$, p < 0.01).

Nearly two-thirds (n=55) of the 90 threatened species were characterized by high vulnerability to climate change, with species with high vulnerability spanning across diverse taxonomic groups, such as Anthozoa (n = 13 out of 16), Chondrichthyes (n = 30 out of 45), Actinopterygii (n = 6 out of 18), marine mammals (n = 2 out of 6), sea turtles (n = 2 out of 3), Bivalvia (n = 1) and Malacostraca (n = 1). Our findings demonstrated that a rather limited number of species (n = 12) exhibited high exposure to increased ocean temperature. Across the Mediterranean Sea, Chondrichthyes (n = 4), Actinopterygii (n = 1; *Balistes capriscus*), Anthozoa (n = 3), marine mammals (n = 2) and the two sea turtles reproducing in the Mediterranean Sea (n = 2; *Caretta caretta* and *Chelonia mydas*) showed the highest exposure under the projected ocean warming for the period of 2040 - 2050.

Two principal dimensions were retained by the JCA, explaining 62.5% of the total variance, while dimensions with inertias lower than 0.01 were discounted (Table D.S3). JCA results demonstrated that high-risk species were grouped together in the 3^{rd} quadrant (Figure D.3a) and were associated (Figure D.3b). Other traits, such as low vertical migration ability, moderate thermal ranges and use of habitats likely to be impacted by SLR were also associated to high climate risk but to a lesser extent. Indeed, the traits situated close to the origin (0,0) of the JCA graph represent the ones that are close to the weighted mean of all traits for the analysed species, while those located away from the origin (0,0) are the more discriminated ones, representing those that contribute more to the high-risk trait profile (Khangar & Kamalja, 2017). Loadings of each trait modality on the selected dimensions are provided in the Appendix (Table D.S4).



Figure D.2: Percentages of threatened marine species at high climate risk in the Mediterranean Sea. Risk is depicted with dark blue colour, vulnerability with magenta and exposure with light blue. Taxonomic group (and the corresponding total number of species considered) belong to high climate risk category, with the class of Cephalopoda (1 species) missing.

Across the Mediterranean Sea, a greater abundance of species at high climate risk was observed in neritic waters, with an average occurrence of eight species, compared to oceanic waters, where the average was 4.5 species. Among the marine ecoregions in the Mediterranean, the Alboran Sea and the Western Mediterranean exhibited the highest concentrations of high climate risk species, followed by the Adriatic and the Aegean Sea (see Figure D.4, Table D.S1). However, the percentage of high climate risk species relative to the total number of species varied from 21% to 31% across different ecoregions (see Figure 2, Table D.S1). These same regions were also identified as hosting significant concentrations of threatened species highly vulnerable and exposed to ocean warming (see Figure D.5). Given the distribution of threatened species at high climate risk throughout the basin, it was found that every Mediterranean Marine Protected Area (MPA) encompasses at least one of these species within its boundaries. Moreover, over 64% of MPAs, primarily situated in the Western Mediterranean (see Figure D.6), harbor more than ten species at high levels of climate risk. The highest concentrations of high climate risk species were documented in MPAs within the Alboran Sea, located in Spain's national waters. Notably, MPAs with extensive coverage are home to numerous high climate risk species, such as those along the Spanish coasts, the Ligurian Sea, and the Balearic Sea (comprising 14 species).



Figure D.3: a) Species inertias along the first and second dimension produced by the JCA, categorized according to their level of risk. b) Traits inertias along the first two dimensions produced by the JCA. Each trait modality is represented by a different shape (high; square, moderate; circle, low; triangle). Traits associated with high risk are depicted in red. The abbreviations of traits in the figure stand for: Gnrt: Generation length, Thrml: Preference in narrow thermal conditions, Depth: Vertical migration ability, Dsp: Dispersal ability, Calc: Dependence on calcification processes, IUCN: IUCN status, Size: Body size, SLR: Use of habitats likely to be impacted by SLR, Diet: Specialized requirements on diet, Hbt: Specialized requirements on habitat, Thrt: Impact score of other non-climatic threats.


Figure D.4: Hotspot areas of threatened marine species at high climate risk in the Mediterranean Sea. In the right, the average number of threatened species at high and very high climate risk for each marine ecoregion of the Mediterranean Sea. Marine ecoregions (*sensu* Spalding et al., 2007) of the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black lines.



Figure D.5: Hotspot areas with high concentrations of threatened marine species at (a) high climatic vulnerability and (b) high exposure to ocean warming in the Mediterranean Sea. (c) the average number of threatened species at high vulnerability (purple) and high exposure (orange) for each marine ecoregion of the Mediterranean Sea. Marine ecoregions (*sensu* Spalding et al., 2007) of the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black lines.

D.4 Discussion

This research underscored the likelihood that a substantial portion of endangered marine species in the Mediterranean Sea could face significant risks due to climate change. The effects of global warming are especially pronounced in regions where distribution shifts face physical limitations, such as the semi-enclosed Mediterranean Sea (Ben Rais Lasram et al., 2010). Coupled with the impacts of migrating thermophilic Indo-Pacific species, alterations in physicochemical conditions and ensuing shifts in biotic interactions are expected to intensify pressure on susceptible marine ecosystems (Ben Rais Lasram et al., 2010).

Given their diverse characteristics, species are affected by various aspects of climate change. Research indicates that Anthozoa are proportionally at higher climate risk compared to other threatened biodiversity in the Mediterranean Sea. Anthozoans, characterized by low dispersal capacity and a sessile nature, have been significantly impacted by past marine heatwaves, such as the substantial mortality events observed in 1999 and 2003 in the western Mediterranean (Rivetti et al., 2014). Furthermore, it is projected that a significant portion of Anthozoans' current distribution will encounter markedly different climatic conditions in the future, extending beyond their existing thermal range. This heightened risk to climate change poses a threat to the valuable ecosystem services provided by Anthozoans, as they form dense colonies that serve as crucial habitats for larval settlement and recruitment processes of various benthic species (Ponti et al., 2014; Angiolillo & Canese, 2018).

Risk to climate change may interact with pre-existing local stressors, as a lot of highrisk identified species undergo human-derived pressures. Charismatic marine megafauna, for instance, have been identified as facing moderate to high climate risk, with additional non-climatic threats potentially exacerbating the overall risk posed by climate change (Chatzimentor et al., 2021; Gissi et al., 2021). For instance, local stressors like eutrophication, which are likely to be intensified by climate change, could contribute to population declines (Rodgers, 2021). Several iconic marine mammal species in the Mediterranean Sea, such as the fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus), the sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus), and the monk seal (Monachus monachus), were identified as highly vulnerable and at high climate risk in the current analysis. Their vulnerability and risk are further heightened by ongoing threats such as ship collisions and harmful fishing practices (Notarbartolo di Sciara, 2016). Additionally, sharks and rays face a serious risk of extinction in the Mediterranean, largely due to overfishing (Dulvy et al., 2014), which is likely to compound the impacts of climate change on species with narrow climatic ranges, such as the blacktip reef shark (Carcharhinus melanopterus) (Ben Rais Lasram et al., 2010; Chin et al., 2010). These findings underscore the importance of considering the combined effects of multiple stressors, as while highly commercial fish species like the Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus), the common dentex (Dentex dentex), and the critically endangered common goby (Pomatoschistus microps) were predicted to face moderate climate risk, they were found to be highly vulnerable. Therefore, strategic and climate-smart spatial planning and management are crucial for addressing the interacting impacts of anthropogenic stressors and climate change (Almpanidou et al., 2021; Doxa et al., 2022; Bastardie et al., 2022).

This analysis has identified numerous climate risk hotspots scattered throughout the Mediterranean Sea. However, different regions within the Mediterranean basin face unique challenges due to the specific local pressures they encounter, thus requiring tailored management approaches. For instance, the Aegean Sea, projected to harbor a significant number of high-climate-risk species, is already grappling with the proliferation of invasive species, many of which are Lessepsian thermophilic migrants (Katsanevakis et al., 2020b). Nevertheless, a considerable portion of Mediterranean coastal environments still maintain relatively good ecological health (Bevilacqua et al., 2020), underscoring the imperative for integrated conservation planning. Such planning should encompass conflict resolution management strategies and species monitoring efforts tailored to the challenges posed by climate change.

The crucial role of protected areas in climate change adaptation is underscored by the discovery that Mediterranean Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) encompass overlapping habitats of a significant number of high-climate-risk species. Given that many MPAs in the region predominantly cover coastal and shallow waters, it is imperative that current management plans integrate climate-smart conservation strategies into systematic conservation planning (Katsanevakis et al., 2020a). These strategies should include robust monitoring of high-climate-risk species, bolstering population recovery capabilities, and implementing measures to control unsustainable anthropogenic practices that may exacerbate the impacts of climate change (e.g., marine litter; Soto-Navarro et al., 2021). Aligned with the EU biodiversity strategy for 2030, which aims to protect at least 30% of European seas, with 10% under strict protection, this study offers valuable insights for regional planning prioritization, as it offers an additional layer of spatially delineated hotspots of the most vulnerable species to climate risk.

Linking species' traits to climate change impacts and defining vulnerability thresholds can be challenging, however ecological, physiological, and life-history traits present a valuable approach for multispecies conservation planning, allowing for the functional grouping of species with similar characteristics (Gallagher et al., 2021). I aimed to address this challenge by employing a methodology based on well-established and widely used datasets, such as Fishbase, to gather species traits and exposure data, which were then combined with climate change model projections. To assess species vulnerability, I utilized an ensemble method and derived an integrated overall risk score to mitigate uncertainty associated with using a single estimation method (Araujo & New, 2007). While traits are often treated equally, it's important to acknowledge that certain characteristics may be more critical than others in determining vulnerability to climate change. Regarding the exposure of marine species to climate change, I attempted to address potential inaccuracies in distribution data used in this analysis by considering each species as present only for cells with a probability of occurrence of 0.5 or higher, a commonly used threshold for Aquamaps (e.g., see Brito-Morales et al., 2022; Doxa et al., 2022), improving the reliability of the data used in the assessment. Finally, I accounted for the three-dimensionality of the marine environment by calculating ocean temperatures within each species' distribution based on their respective depth range. This approach considers the possibility of species finding thermal refuges in deeper waters, instead of solely relying on estimations of sea surface temperature.

This study identified climate risk hotspots for threatened marine species in the Mediterranean Sea, along with prioritizing key species most at risk. It emphasizes the necessity for a systematic conservation planning approach to develop species-specific scenarios and management guidelines. Such an approach would build upon the ecological and life history traits of species and integrate current risk assessments, ensuring targeted and effective conservation efforts. The planet's oceans are undergoing global impacts of climate change and our efforts should focus on the deeper comprehension of the interaction of marine biodiversity and its natural coping mechanisms to pressures, but in parallel, on delineating the grounds of our interventions in the vast areas of oceans and seas. Therefore, there remains an ongoing imperative to direct our conservation efforts towards ecosystems and species that are particularly vulnerable and exposed to environmental change. However, it's also crucial to consider highly adaptive species, as they may serve as valuable stepping-stones in the effective management of environmental change. By focusing on both vulnerable and adaptive species, we can enhance our understanding of ecosystem dynamics and develop more robust conservation strategies that promote resilience and sustainability in the face of ongoing environmental challenges.

Chapter E. Climate change favours reef fish communities of reduced size and lifespan in the northeast Mediterranean Sea.

Δημοσίευση:

[-]

E.1 Introduction

Warming oceans drive changes in marine physicochemical profile, with marine biodiversity following the redistribution of favourable conditions, performing range shifts, local population decline or increase and phenological shifts. Some species might expand their range, whereas other species are almost subjected to local population extinctions (Poloczanska et al., 2013). As species synthesis profile are expectedly changing inside marine communities, however functional changes might not follow. Despite the fact that distribution shifts and abundance changes might be more evident, changes in functional patterns might be not affected by the loss or abundance reduction of certain species due to functional redundancy and the migration or abundance increase of species with similar characteristics to those decreased or locally extinct (Fonseca & Ganade, 2001). However, if species-level shifts are accompanied by a change in traits synthesis, then this might indicate a possible change in ecosystem functioning, and consequences for the ecosystem services provided in human societies (Smith et al., 2021). Therefore, it is equally important also to monitor respective functional changes for marine communities in relation to the changing environmental conditions, by incorporating and processing information on species traits and functions along with observations and predictions performed.

Current research has revealed a lot about traits-environment relationships of the present marine communities in face of changing environmental conditions, although still limited for the marine realm in comparison to the terrestrial. Indicatively, many studies perform experiments exposing marine species in changing environmental conditions and identify consequent impacts on species functions, perform correlations among predicted range shifts and traits, observations on the community synthesis and functional changes along environmental gradients (Green et al., 2022). Research findings reveal useful implications for potential functional patterns and species synthesis profile on future marine communities. Evidence up until now suggests that marine communities among different marine regions might present common functional responses to the changing climatic conditions. Particularly it has been shown that in front of the increasing sea water temperatures during the past years, in regions like the North Sea and the Mediterranean Sea smaller sized fish have been observed to dominate population abundance (Baudron et al., 2014; Damalas et al., 2015a; Damalas et al., 2015b). Also, marine species traits have been identified as acting as mediators of additional sensitivity or adaptive capacity to environmental changes (Pearson et al., 2014; Pacifici et al., 2017). For instance, pelagic species have been observed to illustrate greater latitudinal shifts in response to warming, so use of pelagic habitat might infer a greater responsiveness to changing conditions compared to the demersal and benthic one (Poloczanska et al. 2016). Among all studies, a smaller branch of research is devoted to investigating future functional responses, with predictions for future functional patterns still being limited (Green et al., 2022).

Acknowledging such information offers us insights on species capacity to track changes related to the altered climate and what implications are supposed for marine and human coastal communities, as species response to climate-related stresses and changes could be linked to their characteristics and functions (Hadj-Hammou et al., 2021). For instance, fish are likely to follow a fast-slow continuum of life-history traits ranking species according to their life-history traits from early-maturing, short-living and fast-growing to late-maturing, long-living and slow-growing across environmental gradients at the sea (Beukhof et al., 2019). To this direction, accelerating ocean warming has been

assumed to lead to an increasing dominance and geographical expansion of fastgrowing, early-maturing and short-lived species (Beukhof et al., 2019), with many studies supporting a shift to smaller-sized species. Organisms becoming smaller would have important effects as the size of animals mediates their contribution to how ecosystems function, and how human societies benefit from fisheries (Smith et al., 2021). Therefore, present conservation strategies would have the opportunity to incorporate more meaningful measures towards the monitoring of, among others, also trait-based indicators, functional changes in marine communities and be more prepared for human-related consequences of them.

Especially for a region like the Mediterranean Sea, this is highly important, as it constitutes a semi-enclosed basin with minimum potential on marine species performing northern migrations, as they are largely limited by the presence of land. Functional patterns might change dramatically with the predicted tropicalization of fish communities following the introduction of non-indigenous species (Ben Rais Lasram et al., 2010; Marbà et al., 2015). This indeed has caused chain-reactions in eastern marine communities of the Levantine and Aegean Sea, with the limitation of macroalgae canopy. However, many parts of the Mediterranean still serve as thermal refugia of colder conditions, like the Gulf of Lions, north Adriatic Sea and North Aegean Sea until the middle of the 21st century, offering a sanctuary for cold-water species, however by the end of the century, these areas are likely to become a trap for the whole coastal fish assemblage (Ben Rais Lasram et al., 2010).

Building on the aforementioned concerns, I tested the hypothesis that the changing environmental conditions will drive functional changes in swallow reef fish in a climate change hotspot like the Northeast Mediterranean Sea. For this, I modelled reef fish community mean weighted traits' variation as a function of reef fish predicted abundance levels, focusing on key functional traits associated with fish lifespan, growth and reproduction. I predicted the potential trait composition under future conditions of climate change as a function of predicted species abundance in the future and identified changes in the functional patterns of swallow reef fish. This work could offer a first insight on what functional patterns and changes might future environmental conditions favour in a climate change hotspot in the Mediterranean, such as the Northeast Mediterranean, and could support the identification of potential response traits in face the rapidly changing climate and subsequent impacts on provided ecosystem services.

E.2 Methodology

In order to predict potential shifts in the functional patterns of reef fish in the Northeast Mediterranean, I delineated present and future functional synthesis of reef fish communities. I collected information on the presence and abundance of reef fish species over the Northeast Mediterranean Sea and projected their present and future distributions based on abundance-based models. I then combined information on their traits, to estimate the present and future community mean-weighted traits, and identify changes in traits' values and distribution, testing for a middle-term (2030-2060) and a long-term scenario of climate change (2060-2090).

Study area and data collection

The study area encompasses all shallow territorial waters of the Aegean and Ionian Sea, situated in the north-eastern Mediterranean Sea. The Aegean Sea is divided into the North and the South Aegean basin, which are characterized by distinct oceanographic conditions, with the South Aegean Sea being more oligotrophic. The Ionian Sea is located in the west of the continental Greece and surrounds the southernmost Hellenic, hosting the deepest basins of the Mediterranean Sea. Abundance data were estimated for a total of 56 fish species, which were collected in 100 sampling stations, by means of underwater visual surveys performed by SCUBA divers at 5m depth (Sini et al., 2019). As abundance-based models are highly recommended for highly frequent and common species but might respond poorly on rare species (Waldock et al., 2022), we selected fish species for which we had abundance data from at least 20 sampling stations, resulting to a total of 26 species.

To run the species distribution abundance-based models, we selected important oceanographic parameters for fish, that are commonly used to predict potential fish species distributions. A total of 6 environmental variables were selected: (i) average sea temperature, (ii) min and max temperature of the coldest and warmest month, (iii) temperature seasonality, (iv) average salinity, (v) average oxygen concentration and (vi) average chlorophyll concentration. Sea temperature is largely documented to be correlated to marine species' richness and diversity in coastal and oceanic areas (e.g., sharks, tunas and billfishes; Tittensor et al., 2010). Temperature seasonality was selected, as it has been shown that fish assemblages vary over seasons, particularly in temperate coastal waters (Franco et al., 2006; Perry et al., 2018). We also selected min and max temperature of the coldest and warmest month as a proxy for the thermal extremes experienced in the area. Finally, salinity and chlorophyll-a represent important oceanographic parameters for fish, commonly used to predict potential fishing grounds (Tseng et al., 2011) and account for key processes in fish life history (Bœuf & Payan, 2001).

Environmental data for the Mediterranean region were obtained from statistically downscaled climate projections at different depth levels (Kristiansen et al., 2022; Kristiansen and Butenschön 2022l; doi:10.5281/zenodo.6523926). The dataset was created by bias-correcting and statistically downscaling Earth System and Climate Model simulations from a range (4-8) of CMIP6 model, prior to creating an ensemble dataset that contained the ensemble average along with information on the uncertainty across models. The downscaled dataset provided monthly averaged spatially resolved temperature, chlorophyll, salinity and oxygen concentration data at three different depth layers 5m, 25m, and bottom depths, for the historical (1993-2022) and future (2022-2100) period, resolved at $1/12^{\circ}$ degree longitude-latitude. Our study focused on the Shared Socioeconomic and Representative Concentration Pathway (SSP, O'Neill et al. 2016) SSP5-8.5 (fossil fuel driven future), largely considered as unmitigated case scenario, to assess the risk of climate change. To define present-day climate conditions for model predictions, I used environmental data for the period of 1993-2022. For middle-term future we considered the period of 2031–2060 and for long-term future the period of 2061-2090. All analyses were realized in R studio using R packages raster and ncdf4 and ArcGIS 10.1.

Regarding the selection of traits, I considered five broadly used traits that represent aspects of growth, morphology and reproduction: (i) Longevity as the maximum years a species has been observed to live (years), (ii) maximum body size as the maximum length reported (cm), (iii) age at maturity as the years that a species on average reaches maturity (years), (iv) fecundity as the log likelihood of maximum eggs produced annually by the species and (v) the growth performance index phi (GPI), as a growth index encompassing the K parameter and L_{∞} , under the equation: $\varphi' = \log_{10}K + 2\log_{10}L_{\infty}$. GPI enables a comparison of growth rates among different species of fish and invertebrates reflecting the growth rate of a fish of unit length (Ragonese et al. 2012). Information on the traits of each fish species was derived from the database of Fishbase (Froese and Pauly, 2023) and in the case of absence of information from relevant publications (Tzanatos et al., 2020). When information on traits was not available at the species levels, I considered a phylogenetically relative species or estimated the mean trait values at the genus level, or even the family level when information at the genus level was unavailable.

Delineating observed trait-environment relationships.

In order to delineate the observed functional composition and relationships in the species pool, I performed descriptive statistics and Spearman correlation tests for the functional traits of swallow reef fish of the sampling stations in R studio, under package 'corrplot' (Wei & Simko, 2021). Using the information on species traits, their abundance in the sampling stations and environmental conditions there, I identified the observed trait - environmental relationships in the study area performing an RLQ analysis (Dray et al., 2014). RLQ allows for the investigation of the joint structure of three tables: sites x environmental variables (table R), species x functional traits (table Q), and species x sites (table L). Following the methodology of (Dray et al., 2014) we combined three separate analyses to maximize the cross-covariance between the environmental and trait ordinations. More specifically, a Correspondence Analysis (CA) was performed for the L table, a Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was used for the R and Q table using the CA site scores as row weights to couple R and L, and also using the CA species scores as column weights to couple Q and L, respectively. The three independent analyses were then combined in a single ordination, resulting in a co-structure between the three above-mentioned matrices, which is quantified through the so-called RLQ axes. The associations between species, traits and environmental variables along the RLQ axes represented the best compromise between traits and environmental variables through species abundances. Environmental variables were represented as the average tri-annual values for time periods of 2014-2016 and 2018-2020, as samplings were realized in years 2016, 2020-2021 (i.e., see Sini et al., 2019).

Assessing potential changes in functional composition under climate change.

In order to investigate the potential changes in traits' distribution under climate change, I estimated present and future community mean weighted traits for reef fish. First, I used random forest models as recommended in the literature (Waldock et al., 2022), and projected the future abundance of reef fish by running abundance-based models based on the set of the four uncorrelated environmental variables (min temperature of the coldest month, max temperature of the warmest month, temperature seasonality, oxygen and chlorophyll concentration), for the middle-term (2030-2060) and long-term

scenario (2060-2090). Correlations were tested among the environmental variables using the Spearman correlation coefficient test in R, under the package 'correl'. The performance of abundance-based random forest models was evaluated using three evaluation indicators suggested for species abundance models (Waldock et al., 2022). These were: (i) discrimination: spearman's rank correlation, indicating how well model predictions discern low values from high values, (ii) precision: ratio of variation of predicted values to variation of observed values and (iii) accuracy: mean absolute error of predicted to observed values divided by mean observed abundance, indicating the degree of proximity to the observed value.

I calculated present and future community mean weighted traits composition, using the FD package (Lavorel et al., 2008; Laliberté et al., 2014). CWM was computed as the mean trait value of all species present in the community weighted by their relative abundances. I then mapped CMW traits per grid cell. In order to evaluate the consistency of the projected CWM traits over the observed ones, I used the three aforementioned evaluation indicators (Discrimination, Precision, Accuracy). Finally, I tracked potential changes in trait distributions among present, short-term and long-term future conditions, by graphically representing them with ridgeline plots using R package ggplot2 (Wickham, 2016). For each trait distribution, I calculated the median value, the minimum and maximum values and the standard deviation. Performing the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test (Massey, 1951) under R package 'stats' (R Core Team, 2020), I tested for any statistically significant differentiations among the present, middle-term and long-term distributions for each of the five fish functional traits, while performing Levene's test for equality of variances (Levene, 1960) between present and future projections.

E.3 Results

Delineating observed trait-environment relationships and trait synthesis.

The observed functional composition of sampled swallow reef fish in the Northeast Mediterranean Sea is characterised mostly by reef fish species of short lifespan and size (Figure E.1). One third, that is 9 out of the 26 reef fish species have a lifespan longer than 10 years, with *Epinephelus spp*. having the maximum value of longevity (60 years), whereas the remaining two thirds of the reef species have a lifespan between 4 to 10 years. Also, 75% of reef fish reach an age of maturity of equal or lower than 2 years of their lifespan. Growth performance index phi ranges between values of 1.655 – 2.969, with *Scorpaena maderensis* and *Chromis chromis* owing the lowest values in the species pool (1.655 and 1.695 respectively). On what concerns maximum length, 75% of species reach a maximum length lower and equal to 42cm. Three reef fish of the Symphodus genus were characterized with the smallest sizes, namely *Symphodus ocellatus*, *Symphodus melanocercus* and *Symphodus rostratus*. At last, out of 27 reef fish, 15 species are characterized by a fecundity of lower than 5, while the highest values belong to *Thalassoma pavo*, *Epinephelus spp*., *Diplodus sargus* and *Diplodus puntazzo* (7.11, 6.01, 5.9 and 5.9 respectively).



Figure E.1: Histograms of the five functional traits of swallow reef fish in the Northeast Mediterranean sea.

Main patterns of observed trait – environmental relationships were revealed by the first RLQ axis (representing approximately 97% of data variability). Environmental variables and traits that had the highest positive or negative score on the RLQ axes contribute the most to the observed patterns of trait-environment relationships, while variables with a score close to 0 contribute the least to the observed relationships. Lifespan, growth parameter phi and fecundity were among the most determinant traits, while temperature seasonality and minimum temperature of coldest month were among the most important environmental factors (Figure E.2).

The analysis revealed that reef fish with longer lifespan and age at maturity were predicted to be found in more seasonal waters, richer in chlorophyll and oxygen concentration. On the contrary, in warmer and more saline waters experiencing relatively warmer winter conditions, reef fish communities were mainly composed by species of higher growth and fecundity (Figure 2). Performing a Spearman correlation rank in order to test the magnitude of covariation among traits, I observed that longevity was also highly correlated to maximum length ($r_s=0.92$) and age at maturity ($r_s=0.72$) (Figure E.2).



Figure E.2: a) Trait-environment relationships based on observed species abundances of swallow reef fish and environmental conditions from 100 sampling stations over the Northeast Mediterranean Sea, b) Spearman correlations among species traits.

Projected changes in community mean weighted traits

Models predicted that North-Eastern Mediterranean fish communities will shift towards species of lower longevity, lower maximum length and lower age at maturity, but also of higher growth and higher fecundity species (Figure E.3). Specifically, the median longevity is predicted to decrease significantly from present time to mid-century (D(2) = 0.18742, p < .01) and end-of-century periods (D(2) = 0.25545, p < .01). Similarly, long-term future max length and age at maturity were predicted to be significantly lower than present median traits (D(2) = 0.3367, p < .01 and D(2) = 0.43661, p < .01, respectively). The value of the estimated distance D between present to short-term future (D=0.34) is much higher than the one calculated for short-term future to long-term future (D=0.1), indicating the relatively faster transition to lower median values of maximum length. On the contrary, median growth performance index phi and median fecundity in the long-term future were predicted to have a significant shift towards higher values, in comparison to present and short-term future conditions (D(2) = 0.34657, p > .01 and D(2) = 0.26037, p < .01, respectively).



Figure E.3: Ridgeline plots of the distributions of CMW traits for present, middle-term future and long-term future conditions. Lines of median values are depicted in the distributions.

The projected variance of all community mean weighted trait values between present to long-term future conditions was predicted to be significantly reduced by the end-of-century. A significant decrease in the predicted long-term future distributions was revealed for longevity (F(2) = 43.375, p < .01), growth parameter phi (F(2) = 371.67, p < .01), max length (F(2) = 363.31, p < .01), age at maturity (F(2) = 514.97, p < .01) and fecundity (F(2) = 210.58, p < .01). However, for longevity from present to middle-term future scenario, variance was predicted to be significantly increased (F(2) = 20.194, p < .01).

| Kolmogorov – Smirnov test | | | | Levene's test for Equality of Variances | | | |
|---------------------------|---------------------------------|--|---------------------------------|---|----------------------------------|--|---------------------------------|
| | present to short term future | short-term future to long-term future | present to long- term future | | present to short- term future | short-term future to long-term future | present to long- term future |
| Longevity | 0.18742** | 0.19384** | 0.25545** | Longevity | 20.194*** | 95.819*** | 43.376*** |
| Growth | 0.09634** | 0.41672** | 0.34657** | Growth | 40.457*** | 127.8*** | 371.67*** |
| Max Length | 0.34008** | 0.0978** | 0.3367** | Max Length | 0.0425 | 241.95*** | 363.31*** |
| Age at maturity | 0.06919** | 0.43353** | 0.43661** | Age at maturity | 0.9276 | 395.43*** | 514.97*** |
| Fecundity | 0.13506** | 0.29314** | 0.26037** | Fecundity | 16.817*** | 72.656*** | 210.58*** |

Figure E.4: (a) Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for the test of the equality of the distributions of the five functional traits across present, short-term future and long-term future and (b) the Levene's test for Equality of Variances of the five functional traits across the three time slices.

E.5 Discussion

I investigated the potential changes in functional traits of shallow rocky reef fish communities in the Northeast Mediterranean, a climate change risk hotspot. Findings revealed a possible shift towards smaller size, shorter lived and with lower age at maturity fish species, as a response to changing environmental conditions. This trend seems to be detectable already from the mid-century period (2031-2060) but becomes even more pronounced at the end-of-century period (2061-2090), raising concerns about the possible changes at the ecosystem level.

Consistently with these findings, there have been recorded increasing population trends for species with shorter lifespan (Tzanatos et al., 2014; Damalas et al., 2021; Gómez-Gras et al., 2021) and decreasing trends for bigger-sized individuals in fish populations (Damalas et al., 2015a; Damalas et al., 2015b). This could also reflect a combined pressure deriving also from fisheries, as fishing impacts age, size and geographic diversity of populations (Brander, 2007). Disentangling the impacts of each one of these pressures is a challenging task, as there is still limited knowledge on the actual interactions of multiple stressors (Genner et al., 2010). Most importantly, climate change and fishing activity acting synergistically can cause a cascade of impacts in the provision of ecosystem services in the Mediterranean (Pita et al., 2021). Strong pressures, like changing environmental conditions, invasive species and overfishing, might drive the selection of certain trait categories, especially in distribution range edges where species are found close to their thermal limits, lowering even more the possible range of available traits in populations (Logan et al., 2014; Merilä & Hoffmann, 2016; Ehrlén & Valdés, 2020). These findings support this hypothesis bringing new evidence of a possible functional homogeneity for reef fish communities in the North-Eastern Mediterranean, one of the most prominent areas of ocean warming at the Mediterranean scale.

Shorter sized species represents one of the globally observed responses in front of increasing temperatures (Daufresne et al., 2009; Sheridan & Bickford, 2011). The very well-grounded rule between temperature and somatic size (Atkinson, 1994) predicts that in lower temperatures organisms increase with a lower rate. Size reduction has been observed for fish species of marine ecosystems (Daufresne et al., 2009; Cheung et al., 2013;Baudron et al., 2014) and freshwater ecosystems (Forster et al., 2012), for both cold-water and warm-water species (Daufresne et al., 2009; Cheung et al., 2013). For instance, two thirds of the commercially important species in the North Sea have been reduced in asymptotic length while sea water temperatures have significantly increased over the past decades (Baudron et al., 2014). However, avoiding a risky overgeneralization of size reductions, still opposite changes have been observed also (Ahti et al., 2020; Ohlberger, 2013). Particularly for the Mediterranean Sea, studies suggest a general reduction in species size (Genner et al., 2010; Audzijonyte et al., 2016; Rijn et al., 2017; Heneghan et al., 2019), while other studies suggest for the northern areas an increase in the mean size due to the migration of bigger-sized species (Albouy et al., 2013). Specifically the Aegean and Adriatic Seas are predicted to be colonized by species that will expand their distribution range (Moullec et al., 2016), particularly until the mid-century as conditions remain below the threshold of 12°-13°C (Clark et al., 2020).

Climate change impacts can be complex especially in semi-enclosed basins like the Mediterranean. Presently, the northern parts of the basin, like the Gulf of Lions, north Adriatic Sea and North Aegean Sea, serve as thermal refugia of colder conditions and

offer a sanctuary for cold-water species (Ben Rais Lasram et al., 2010). Minimum temperature of the coldest month was predicted to be an important condition for the swallow reef fish in the Northeast Mediterranean by this analysis confirming existing literature (Titelboim et al., 2019). However following ocean warming, these areas are likely to become a trap for the whole coastal fish assemblage due to the increasing temperatures (Ben Rais Lasram et al., 2010). Thermophilic and invasive species, that previously cold water temperatures acted as a natural barrier for their expansion, are expected to be now favored by increased sea temperatures and become more viable and abundant (Titelboim et al., 2019). Faster growth rates and low generation length, two of the most determinant traits revealed by our analysis, are key characteristics of most invasive species with high capacity to tolerate broad environmental conditions (Jungblut et al., 2018). Indeed, key physiological indicators have been augmented by changing environmental conditions, such as the metabolic and heart rate (Burraco et al., 2020), increasing their populations' persistence (Adloff et al., 2015).

Overall, trait-based approaches represent a useful tool for a climate smart conservation planning, as they allow incorporating information of ecological, physiological and lifehistory traits in future predictions and risk assessments. Considering marine functional groups with similar characteristics (Gallagher et al., 2021) might facilitate drawing conclusions regarding ecosystem functioning and ecosystem services in present and future communities. Few trait-based approaches investigated predictions for the functional patterns of the future conditions and particularly for the marine environment (Green et al., 2022). These approaches could contribute in the delineation of stress sensitivity characteristics, and the identification of vulnerable species and functions (Foden et al., 2019). Such approaches can provide guidelines so as to safeguard species with rare and significant functions for the ecosystem, irrespective of their abundance, as population reduction or local extinction would result in the creation of vacant functional niche (Koutsidi et al., 2020). I conclude that species occurrence and abundance future projections should be coupled with information on potential changes in the functional composition of marine communities, providing thus useful insights into potential ecosystem shifts.

In the present study, I selected five functional traits representing key dimensions of fish life history, growth and reproduction, in order to delineate future community mean weighted trait patterns and predicted the future abundance of fish based on a series of uncorrelated environmental variables. Still, the distribution and abundance of fish is dependent on additional factors and their interactions (e.g. temperature and sea currents circulation) and behavioral traits (e.g. biotic interactions (Hodge & Price, 2022) or dispersal capacity (Barber-O'Malley et al., 2022). I acknowledge that fully identifying trait-environment relationships demands extensive data and the use and comparison of multiple methods. For instance, RLQ summarizes multivariate structures, but it does not provide significance tests, whereas the fourth corner only tests the significance of bivariate associations, not considering the covariation among traits or among environmental variables. Overall, the identification of trait-environment relationships is not trivial. Both the RLQ and fourth-corner analysis do not account for the evolutionary linkage of traits, and consider one trait at a time (Dray & Legendre 2008), which could explain why some traits are not significantly associated with environmental variables, as they could be responding to a combination of factors.

In conclusion, results present a general pattern of response traits and environmental drivers, with warmer areas hosting reef fish communities dominated by species of more

rapid growth, while in more seasonal environments communities are characterized by longer-lived fish species, following a k-strategy (Pianka, 1970). This conforms to large-scale differences in community structure, along a "fast-slow continuum" (Beukhof et al., 2019), previously shown for other terrestrial and marine communities, including fish (Juan-Jordá et al., 2013; Rochet et al., 2000). These findings could support and improve predictions on species responses to climate change, offering an additional dimension, linked to ecosystem functioning and ecosystem services of important marine communities, such as the reef fish. Appointed traits could contribute in the creation of novel and more sophisticated indices based on species traits, as well as on early warning signs according to responsiveness and sensitivity of functional groups to climate change. This could, in turn, assist the monitoring of current trends and responses to better prioritize future conservation actions and climate smart approaches.

Chapter F. Conclusions

F.1 Synopsis

The prediction of marine species responses to changing climatic conditions is a highly complex task subjected to a level of uncertainty, in every step of analysis. However, the continuous collection of high-quality data from field observations and the exploration of cause-and-effect relationships through experiments can validate and strengthen our knowledge and understanding of observed and predicted changes in environmental conditions, biodiversity patterns, and ecosystem functions. To this direction, previous decades of research have expanded our knowledge of the physiological functions, ecological requirements, and behaviour of species and their connection to their changing environments, with research continuing (Urban et al., 2016). Based on this information, we can observe species' responses to climate change from additional dimensions, enriching our predictions to identify vulnerable elements that require protection, as well as elements that contribute to adaptation. Prioritizing the monitoring of these elements can provide material for a cyclical feedback process between conducted predictions and their validation or rejection based on field data (Brown et al., 2022).

In this dissertation, I aimed to contribute to the current scientific discussion regarding predictions of changes in Mediterranean marine life due to climate change. I made an effort to enhance predictions of risk to climate change by considering biological and ecological characteristics, life cycle features, and three-dimensional habitats used by species. The first goal of the dissertation was to assess the different effects of temperature increase on various life stages of a highly migratory species, such as marine turtles, to holistically evaluate potential impacts on the spatial distribution of the species suitability throughout the Mediterranean basin. The second goal, assessed the potential suitability changes in front of the rising sea temperatures on both the life stages and bathymetric characteristics of habitats used by marine turtles in a three-dimensional Mediterranean Sea. Aiming to broaden the study of climate change risk from an individual species to a broader group of Mediterranean species, the third goal of the thesis was to evaluate the risk of climate change on a particularly vulnerable group of marine species in the Mediterranean, the threatened marine fauna according to the IUCN Red List. By selecting a variety of characteristics indicating sensitivity and adaptability to climate change impacts, as well as indicators of species distribution exposure to projected sea temperature increase, I attempted to estimate the risk levels faced by different threatened marine species in future climate change impacts, as well as to identify areas hosting species at the highest risk. With the aim of identifying characteristics expected to respond more to changing climatic conditions, the fourth and final goal of the dissertation was to assess changes in the functional composition of shallow-water fish communities in the northeastern Mediterranean due to upcoming environmental changes.

F.2 Discussion of results and potential applications

In this thesis (Chapter B), I identified the potential changes due to rising temperatures on the suitability of marine habitats for sea turtles, taking into account characteristics of their life cycle, such as their different distribution in the immature and adult life phases. Model predictions for the climatic suitability of habitats for the two stages differed geographically and topographically. The models predicted suitable areas for juveniles mainly in the central and western Mediterranean, in contrast to suitable areas for adults, which were predominantly forecasted for the central and eastern basin. An encouraging finding for future predictions was the possible increase in the extent of suitable habitats for adults and the relative stability predicted surface area for juveniles. The common foraging areas, primarily located in the neritic zone of the central and eastern Mediterranean, are likely to shift westward due to the redistribution of suitable areas for adults, as well as eastward due to the expansion of foraging areas for juveniles toward the eastern Mediterranean.

For an organism with a complex life cycle and behaviour (Casale et al., 2018), changes in the conditions it experiences can affect multiple life stages. If not considered in predictions, we are not able to undertake a comprehensive assessment of the range of climate change impacts on it. In management plans, it is important to identify the life stage that is more susceptible and vulnerable to environmental changes because smaller life stages are usually more vulnerable (Crozier et al., 2021). Predicting impacts only on the adult stage could make our predictions overly optimistic. Indeed, the characteristics of the predicted areas for immature and adult individuals differ, both in terms of their distribution pattern and depth range. The distribution of suitable areas for adults is much more scattered compared to the broader and more extensive distribution of suitable areas for immature individuals. Moreover, the majority of suitable areas for adults were predicted in the neritic zone, while most suitable areas for immature individuals were forecasted in the oceanic zone, farther from the coast. These findings highlight the value of including different life stages of marine species, as individuals may exhibit different behaviours, vulnerability, and adaptive capacity.

Climate-stable regions constitute a significant portion of the current distribution of the two life stages, predicting that the average temperature conditions will not change significantly, maintaining their suitability across a broad range. Nevertheless, when the thermal tolerance range of the species is considered in predictive models, estimates align more closely with reality, and changes are less radical (Gamliel et al., 2020). It is essential to protect the climatically stable areas identified, evaluate the status of their ecosystem structure and function, and assess their overlap with distributions of other significant species that may serve as prey or predators, as they often inhabit highproductivity areas. Changes indicating a reduction in suitability in known foraging areas were identified only in the Gulf of Gabès in Tunisia. Conditions there may change unfavourably for the species' climatic habitat, necessitating better monitoring of sea turtle populations and marine fauna in general, as this region may host the southern extremes of marine species distributions. Regarding juvenile individuals, further investigation is needed for their eastern expansion, as their presence is considered incomplete due to the lack of telemetry data for the eastern Mediterranean. Data exist for their presence in Cyprus, with key areas of their spread being the Southern Adriatic and the Ionian Sea, the Strait of Sicily, and the Tyrrhenian Sea, Algeria, and the western Mediterranean due to the upwellings formed, serving as abundant sources of zooplanktonic prey for them (Casale et al., 2018).

On the other hand, the anticipated increase in favourability of conditions towards the western Mediterranean aligns with field observations (Mancino et al., 2022). Management should consider these findings as they could provide valuable insights for the design or expansion of future marine protected areas for sea turtles (Mazaris et al., 2023), given the apparent shift in their distribution westward. Additionally, nesting areas in the western Mediterranean, where sporadic events of egg-laying may occur, benefit from close monitoring of nesting trends, protection of adult females, nests, and hatchlings (Mancino et al., 2022). It is crucial to investigate the cumulative impact of anthropogenic pressures in these areas that may hinder successful future population establishment, such as high fishing efforts (Almpanidou et al., 2021). Systematic visits to the proposed new marine areas for adults in the western Mediterranean may lead to the establishment of more stable nesting areas. Thus, future enhanced and institutionalized protection for these previously occasional nesting areas is suggested (Mancino et al., 2022). Common areas for both life stages provide a fertile ground for spatially legislative measures that affect both stages, leading to greater overall effectiveness in their life cycle.

Assessing the bathymetric coherence of climatically suitable areas for marine turtles in the Mediterranean in the present and future (Chapter C), I identified suitable sea areas spanning different depths. I also highlighted cases of projections of future temperature increases that may affect the suitability of areas differently based on their depth. Deeper marine ecosystems have started to be recognized as ecosystems requiring attention for research and protection. Despite hosting particularly vulnerable ecosystems (cold-water corals, sponges), protection measures for these areas are currently insufficient (Morato et al., 2018; Visalli et al., 2020; Combes et al., 2021). Their exploration and protection are essential due to the exploitation of deeper oceans driven by the biotechnology industry, extraction of precious biochemicals, oil and gas, and mining activities (Dunn et al., 2018).

The integration of temperature predictions for 5m, 25m, and the seafloor led to a distribution pattern with fewer areas predicted as suitable for adult individuals in the oceanic zone compared to the previous analysis using surface sea temperature predictions only (Chapter B). Additionally, the distribution of immature individuals was more extensive in the surface layers compared to deeper ones and those extending throughout the water column that were spatially restricted. The distribution of suitable marine three-dimensional areas across different bathymetric zones varied for each life stage, reflecting the feeding strategy followed by immature and adult individuals. While adults exhibit a range of feeding behaviours, they primarily forage in the neritic zone, and their frequency of foraging increases with size (Hatase et al., 2007; Reich et al., 2007).

Regarding the extensive distribution of suitable areas near the sea surface for immature individuals, their presence in the oceanic zone is observed, but rarely at great depths (Freitas et al., 2018; Chimienti et al., 2020). This analysis predicted extensive suitability areas in the upper water column, with some significant areas extending throughout the water column, mainly in the northern Mediterranean. This reflects regions where immature individuals can reach coastal areas after reaching a larger size and migrate to

coastal areas to feed on benthic or pelagic prey species (Blasi & Mattei, 2017).

Temperature increase predictions on suitability differed for distinct bathymetric diets. For immature individuals, an expansion of their suitability distribution extending throughout the water column toward their northern and central suitable areas was predicted. In contrast, a contraction of their suitability near the sea surface in the southeast region was forecasted for the future. Concerning adult individuals, an expansion of climatically suitable areas toward the west was predicted, supported by an increasing number of observations of nesting events in the western Mediterranean (Hochscheid et al., 2022; Mancino et al., 2022; Cardona et al., 2023). Adults do not exhibit an increased frequency in foraging areas in the western Mediterranean as immature individuals do (Casale et al., 2018). Nevertheless, as climatic conditions in these areas become suitable for adult individuals, such as the coastal areas of the Balearic Islands, they may remain on western beaches and nest for consecutive years, maintaining a continuous presence (Hochscheid et al., 2022), as previously emphasized. The potential loss of suitability in the southern distribution and the gain of suitability in northern and western areas align with the broader pattern of species distribution changes in response to climate change, with species spreading towards the poles and contracting towards the Equator, and a decrease in abundance observed for areas near the southern extremes of distributions (Hastings et al., 2020; Hochscheid et al., 2022).

Previous research has generally shown that higher sea surface temperatures are associated with an increased frequency of daily dives, longer dive durations, and more dives to the seafloor by sea turtles (Iverson et al., 2019). On average, loggerhead sea turtles dive to depths of 5-15m, with less time spent diving below 50m. However, they spend over 70% of their time at depths of 0-30m, with an average dive duration ranging from 2 to 340 minutes. During winter, sea turtles engage in longer dives as reduced temperatures suppress their metabolic rates, leading to decreased oxygen consumption and prolonged aerobic capacity during their dives (Hochscheid, 2014). Nevertheless, loggerhead sea turtles have been found to perform deeper dives during higher temperatures. Elevated temperatures are linked to more frequent dives, suggesting that as temperatures rise, their dives may become more frequent (Iverson et al., 2019). Therefore, this could represent an adaptation mechanism to increasing temperatures or heatwaves, and their vertical movement should not be overlooked. These analyses can contribute to better understanding the increasingly competitive human activities in the sea, highlighting interactions between marine life and human pressures, especially in deeper bathymetric zones beyond the surface (Doxa et al., 2022).

By determining the exposure of bathymetric diets to increased sea temperatures and collecting a series of vulnerability and adaptive capacity characteristics (Chapter D), I attempted to assess the risk levels faced by threatened marine species in the Mediterranean. The findings of this study revealed that various taxonomic groups and threatened marine species face a high level of risk from climate change. Therefore, an ecosystem-based approach to ongoing and dynamically evolving management is necessary, with assessments of overall impacts on each marine community. Moreover, the examination should include not only individual species' vulnerabilities but also the combined vulnerability of interacting species to climate change, depending on the scale at which populations of each taxonomic and functional group are distributed in the Mediterranean (Ellis et al., 2011; Rilov et al., 2019).

In recent decades, researchers, conservationists, and policymakers have shifted their

focus from protecting a single species to preserving the structure and function of entire ecosystems. This shift allows us to move beyond understanding the potential responses of a species to a unique stress factor, to comprehend multiple factors affecting multiple organisms and their functioning in ecosystems. Similarly, there has been an increase in conducting experiments studying three or more organisms in response to changes in their conditions (Bass et al., 2021).

Most MPAs in the Mediterranean are predicted to host distributions of a significant number of species with a high level of climate risk. This underscores their crucial role in systematically monitoring these species, improving the potential for population recovery, and developing restrictive measures for unsustainable anthropogenic practices that may synergize with the impacts of climate change (Soto-Navarro et al., 2021). Marine protected areas in the Mediterranean need to explore the distributions of species they harbour, characterized by high climate risk. At least one species with a high-risk level is found in all MPAs, with over half of them hosting more than 10 species with high climate risk. MPAs alone cannot mitigate the impacts of climate change; their role lies in providing conditions that support species adaptation, reducing stress from other pressures, and monitoring the abundance and presence of these species (Rilov et al., 2019).

Marine protected areas, particularly those in the western Mediterranean, Adriatic, and Aegean, where the presence of species with high climate risk is more abundant, should incorporate the monitoring of climate-vulnerable species into their operational plans. They should identify which of these species they harbour, assess their conservation status, and propose management measures. Static spatial MPAs alone cannot fulfil their role in adapting to climate change; a management approach that encompasses the entire Mediterranean basin, regardless of MPA boundaries, is essential (Rilov et al., 2019).

MPAs themselves may not fulfil their role if the species they harbour shift their distributions beyond their boundaries. Unfortunately, the southern and eastern Mediterranean, where most populations are expected to decline, lack sufficient MPAs, and populations cannot benefit from management measures that would provide some adaptive capacity due to uncontrolled and regulated anthropogenic pressures (Rodríguez-Rodríguez et al., 2016). In the anticipated changes in the Mediterranean, it is crucial to collect data for the southern and eastern Mediterranean, where data are scarce. This region can provide information about ecosystems already undergoing transition due to the combined impact of temperature increase, fishing, pollution, and the introduction of new species from the tropics, as observed in the Levantine Sea (Rilov, 2016).

Finally, aiming to identify potential changes in key characteristics of fish communities in the northeastern Mediterranean due to changing environmental conditions (Chapter E), the results of the analysis indicated that future conditions may favour a shift in the functional composition towards smaller and short-lived fish in coastal areas, with the possibility of altering the functional patterns of the northeastern Mediterranean ecosystem, which, in turn, could impact the ecosystem services provided for human and non-human well-being. This pattern becomes evident for mid-term scenarios (2030-2060), but changes are even more pronounced for the long-term scenario (2060-2090). Indeed, Mediterranean fisheries landing data have shown an increasing trend in populations, primarily of species with shorter life spans, benefiting from the rise in water temperature (Tzanatos et al., 2014), as well as the absence of larger individuals (Damalas et al., 2015a). In this scenario, both the impacts of climate change and fishing pressure may contribute to favourable age, size, and geographic diversity of species (Brander, 2007).

With the increase in sea temperature, formerly colder conditions acting as a natural barrier to the spread of warmer species may now become sustainable (Titelboim et al., 2019). Thus, species with shorter life spans, earlier maturation age, and smaller size are predicted to expand their range and abundance northward. The minimum temperature of the coldest month, representing a thermal extreme for fish, emerged as a crucial factor for fish community patterns in the northeastern Mediterranean. While temperature and size appear to have an inversely proportional relationship, exceptions to this rule exist (Ohlberger, 2013).

The anticipated connection of these characteristics with environmental variables may contribute to creating new and advanced indicators based on features and timely warning signs, allowing for better monitoring of current trends and responses and improved prioritization of management actions based on changing functional patterns. Further investigation is crucial to explore whether favourable conditions are predicted to extend to greater depths, such as 15m, as these species have three-dimensional distribution, and this choice could aid in their potential adaptation. This may involve the expected increase in abundance of smaller species and the decrease in the distribution of larger species in surface waters, with the possibility for these species to shift their distribution towards the Black Sea.

F.3 New research proposals and challenges

Management measures against climate change must be specific, with as many quantitative targets as possible and biologically informed about impacts on the flora and fauna of the region. As highlighted above, findings of this thesis can contribute to management proposals for climate change and marine biodiversity. Primarily, findings of the present thesis highlight areas in need of protection hosting multiple life stages of marine turtles, such as common foraging areas maintained under present and future conditions, considering anthropogenic pressures at both surface and deeper layers (Stelzenmüller et al., 2018). Findings on climate suitability in certain areas varied according to different life stage and different bathymetric zones. Life cycle and bathymetric behaviour of the species matter, so spatially determining three-dimensional management areas for marine turtles necessitates considering their inclusion. Acknowledging the bathymetric range a species possesses helps to select the most representative depths for environmental data in respect to species. However, further research for the environmental variables that organisms respond to along depth is essential, as alterations in the distribution patterns may be related to events and changes in bathymetric surfaces different from the one they frequent (Collie et al., 2008).

While temperature increase corresponds to a gradual change in climate conditions, researchers and managers can derive valuable insights for species responses from short-term events, such as extreme weather phenomena such as marine heatwaves (Rilov et al., 2019; Garrabou et al., 2022). The findings of this thesis provided an initial assessment of the climate risk for vulnerable marine animals, which could prioritize these species in face of climate change. Both extreme climate events and species responses to weather phenomena could provide useful insights as indicators for the potential species responses to average changes in their environmental conditions (Bates et al., 2018). Moderate-scale marine heatwaves could prove adaptive for some populations, as individuals with higher thermal tolerance survive and are selected (Smith et al., 2023), therefore extreme weather phenomena, and their frequency, intensity, and duration, should be incorporated in species distribution models for the future projections.

Findings of this thesis support that future conditions might favour a shift in the functional patterns of fish fauna of northeastern Mediterranean shallow waters towards smaller sizes and shorter lifespans. Since responses to climate change affect not only the species and their populations, but also biotic interactions and overall, marine communities, it is essential to analyze how potential changes might interact with the existing state of marine communities. A good monitoring by all possible means of the status of marine communities in the Mediterranean (Bevilacqua et al., 2020) could contribute to recording and understanding these changes that may lead to ecosystemlevel transformations, such as the conversion of marine macrophyte ecosystems into barren areas (Rilov, 2016). Functional grouping of species within communities based on characteristics, such as their ability to migrate to greater depths (Thorpe et al., 2022), as identified in Chapter D, could shed light on marine communities that may be more susceptible to changes or, conversely, may have increased capacity for adaptation. Exploring alternative ways of perception and grouping could direct us in the creation of new monitoring indicators for species and community responses and predictions for ecosystem services.

Existing Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) can offer positive synergies for research, monitoring and further protection measures. While MPAs cannot directly mitigate the impacts of temperature increase, they can play a crucial role in securing conditions facilitating species adaptation. This includes safeguarding genetic diversity by ensuring an environment free from anthropogenic pressures such as pollution or maritime traffic, and by preventing the removal of individuals from the population from fishing (Rilov et al., 2019). As information accumulates regarding distribution shifts or abundance changes, collectively this information could contribute to identifying areas of change at sea. Thus, we should explore the level of possible protection of these areas by already existing protected areas, as some of these areas might be of great importance such as the well-known foraging area of sea turtles in the Gulf of Gabes, that was shown to be possible losing its thermal suitability in face of climate change.

The absence of protection and monitoring for such a significant marine area renders it exposed to multiple pressures beyond climate change and weakens populations' adaptive capacity. However, predictions could shed light on areas that are not expected to be impacted by climate-driven changes (Doxa et al., 2022). These areas also may spatially overlap with existing MPAs, so we would suggest future research to explore the possibility of it and assess future protection effectiveness. Moreover, future projections of distributions could help in designating potential new MPAs, as our findings revealed new areas for sea turtles in the western Mediterranean. Nevertheless, since the presence of MPAs in the southern and eastern Mediterranean is minimal (Rodríguez-Rodríguez et al., 2016), and conflicts may arise in respective countries, a more holistic understanding of the current situation for marine biotic communities and associated social groups is deemed necessary. This understanding should encompass ecological and socio-economic aspects, acknowledging that these areas may potentially host the most vulnerable southern distribution edges of marine species or even new species of tropical origin.

F.4 Conclusions

The general pattern of climate-induced changes includes poleward range expansions and equatorward contractions (Pinsky et al., 2020), with local hydrographic and microclimatic factors, however, causing a more spatially heterogeneous patterns of impacts (Helmuth et al., 2006). Within this context, projected changes in the climatic suitability for marine turtles showed a potential spread of adults towards the northwestern edge of their distribution in the Mediterranean. Nevertheless, increases and decreases in suitability were scattered across their distribution (Chapter B). Given observations supporting a potential westward shift in adults' nesting (Mancino et al., 2022), areas of increasing occurrence of foraging and nesting should be safeguarded against possible bycatch by intense incidental fishing or extended urbanization along nesting beaches, respectively.

The results of the analysis suggest that climate suitability changes varied according to sea turtle life cycle stage and thus, the corresponding foraging behaviour patterns of individuals. For instance, a reduction in climatic suitability was predicted for earlier life stages at the southeastern edge of their distribution in the Gulf of Gabes. Inclusion of different life stages emerged as a significant factor in a more comprehensive assessment of species suitability projections in face of climate change. The scattered and mainly neritic distribution of adults differed from the more extensive and oceanic distribution of immature individuals, differences primarily attributed to their foraging behaviour. At the depth level, an increase in suitability was projected for the deeper waters of the Adriatic and Aegean Seas for immature individuals (Chapter C). However, smaller immature individuals are less likely to approach these depths compared to larger, more mature individuals that exhibit better buoyancy, dive deeper, and some may begin to feed on benthic prey (Hays et al., 2004). Even for adults and larger immature individuals, pulmonary respiration restricts them to necessary surface visits, which may increase in frequency due to rising sea temperatures, representing a potential mechanism for acclimatization to higher temperatures.

While understanding the potential response of charismatic sea turtles to climate change is fundamental for comprehending broader impacts on marine biodiversity, high levels of climate risk are imminent for most marine taxonomic groups (Chapter D). Some species may have different responses due to their distinct characteristics mediating their reactions. However, certain species share common features and can be grouped into possible responses, such as species with high dispersal ability or pelagic species, mainly recorded to exhibit distribution shifts (Cheung et al., 2009; Walsh et al., 2015). Although the analysis has characterized some species as having a high risk due to climate change, the risk for each species and its populations may qualitatively differ based on the variety and significance of its interactions with other species. If the abundance of some species declines in response to climate change or other pressures, other species with similar niches, either already present in the biota or species colonizing it due to more favourable thermal conditions, may replace their ecological roles. Therefore, their functions could continue to be performed by different species (Fonseca & Ganade, 2001). This represents functional redundancy, and the ecosystem's function does not change significantly.

However, this thesis has demonstrated that in a region of interest for climate change, such as the northeastern Mediterranean, future conditions are expected to favour a shift

in the functional characteristics of shallow-water fish towards smaller sizes and shorter lifespans (Chapter E). The predicted increase in abundance and extent of smaller fish with shorter lifespans is likely to constitute a change for the functioning of the ecosystem in the northeastern Mediterranean, an ecosystem already impacted in the Southern Aegean by new herbivorous fish species (*Siganus luridus*, *Siganus rivulata*) originating from the Suez Canal, which exert pressure on marine macrophytes that have migrated to shallower waters (Rilov, 2016; Nikolaou et al., 2023).

In conclusion, the incorporation of our knowledge on species ecological requirements, habitats, physiology, behaviour and their lifecycle produced much more biologically informed results for our predictions on future distribution shifts, risk assessments to climate change and future functional patterns. This approach could enhance our modelling efforts and enrich methodological frameworks for future climate change assessments, with characteristics of marine species representing necessary parameters to be taken under consideration in current and future conservation plans.

G. References

- Adloff, F., Somot, S., Sevault, F., Jordà, G., Aznar, R., Déqué, M., Herrmann, M., Marcos, M., Dubois, C., Padorno, E., Alvarez-Fanjul, E., & Gomis, D. (2015). Mediterranean Sea response to climate change in an ensemble of twenty first century scenarios. *Climate Dynamics*, 45(9–10), 2775–2802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-015-2507-3
- Ahti, P. A., Kuparinen, A., & Uusi-Heikkilä, S. (2020). Size does matter—The ecoevolutionary effects of changing body size in fish. *Environmental Reviews*, 28(3), 311– 324. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2019-0076
- Alabia, I. D., García Molinos, J., Saitoh, S.-I., Hirawake, T., Hirata, T., & Mueter, F. J. (2018). Distribution shifts of marine taxa in the Pacific Arctic under contemporary climate changes. *Diversity and Distributions*, 24(11), 1583–1597. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12788Albouy, C., Delattre, V., Donati, G., Frölicher, T. L., Albouy-boyer, S., Marta, R., Pellissier, L., & Mouillot, D. (2020). Global vulnerability of marine mammals to global warming. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-57280-3 1
- Albouy, C., Delattre, V. L., Mérigot, B., Meynard, C. N., & Leprieur, F. (2017). Multifaceted biodiversity hotspots of marine mammals for conservation priorities. *Diversity and Distributions*, 23(6), 615–626. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12556
- Albouy, C., Guilhaumon, F., Araújo, M. B., Mouillot, D., & Leprieur, F. (2012). Combining projected changes in species richness and composition reveals climate change impacts on coastal Mediterranean fish assemblages. *Global Change Biology*, 18(10), 2995– 3003. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02772.x
- Albouy, C., Guilhaumon, F., Leprieur, F., Lasram, F. B. R., Somot, S., Aznar, R., Velez, L., Le Loc'h, F., & Mouillot, D. (2013). Projected climate change and the changing biogeography of coastal Mediterranean fishes. *Journal of Biogeography*, 40(3), 534– 547. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12013
- Allouche, O., Tsoar, A., & Kadmon, R. (2006). Assessing the accuracy of species distribution models: Prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS): Assessing the accuracy of distribution models. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 43(6), 1223–1232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01214.x
- Almpanidou, V., Doxa, A., & Mazaris, A. D. (2021). Combining a cumulative risk index and species distribution data to identify priority areas for marine biodiversity conservation in the Black Sea. Ocean & Coastal Management, 213, 105877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2021.105877
- Almpanidou, V., Tsapalou, V., Chatzimentor, A., Cardona, L., Claro, F., Hostetter, P., Kaska, Y., Liu, W., Mansui, J., Miliou, A., Pietroluongo, G., Sacchi, J., Sezgin, Ç., Sözbilen, D., & Mazaris, A. D. (2021). Foraging grounds of adult loggerhead sea turtles across the Mediterranean Sea: Key sites and hotspots of risk. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 31(1), 143–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-021-02326-0
- Angiolillo, M., & Canese, S. (2018). Deep Gorgonians and Corals of the Mediterranean Sea. In C. D. Beltran & E. T. Camacho (Eds.), *Corals in a Changing World*. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.69686
- Araujo, M., & New, M. (2007). Ensemble forecasting of species distributions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 22(1), 42–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.09.010
- Atkinson, D. (1994). *Temperature and organism size—A biological law for ectotherms*. Adv. Ecol. Res.
- Audzijonyte, A., Fulton, E., Haddon, M., Helidoniotis, F., Hobday, A. J., Kuparinen, A., Morrongiello, J., Smith, A. D., Upston, J., & Waples, R. S. (2016). Trends and management implications of human-influenced life-history changes in marine ectotherms. *Fish and Fisheries*, 17(4), 1005–1028. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12156
- Audzijonyte, A., Richards, S. A., Stuart-Smith, R. D., Pecl, G., Edgar, G. J., Barrett, N. S., Payne, N., & Blanchard, J. L. (2020). Fish body sizes change with temperature but not

all species shrink with warming. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 4(6), 809–814. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-1171-0

- Barber-O'Malley, B., Lassalle, G., Chust, G., Diaz, E., O'Malley, A., Paradinas Blázquez, C., Pórtoles Marquina, J., & Lambert, P. (2022). HyDiaD: A hybrid species distribution model combining dispersal, multi-habitat suitability, and population dynamics for diadromous species under climate change scenarios. *Ecological Modelling*, 470, 109997. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2022.109997
- Barbet-Massin, M., Jiguet, F., Albert, C. H., & Thuiller, W. (2012). Selecting pseudo-absences for species distribution models: How, where and how many?: *How to use pseudo-absences in niche modelling? Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *3*(2), 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2011.00172.x
- Barnett, T. P., Pierce, D. W., & Schnur, R. (2001). Detection of Anthropogenic Climate Change in the World's Oceans. *Science*, 292(5515), 270–274. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1058304
- Bass, A., Wernberg, T., Thomsen, M., & Smale, D. (2021). Another Decade of Marine Climate Change Experiments: Trends, Progress and Knowledge Gaps. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8, 714462. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.714462
- Bastardie, F., Feary, D. A., Brunel, T., Kell, L. T., Döring, R., Metz, S., Eigaard, O. R., Basurko, O. C., Bartolino, V., Bentley, J., Berges, B., Bossier, S., Brooks, M. E., Caballero, A., Citores, L., Daskalov, G., Depestele, J., Gabiña, G., Aranda, M., ... van Vlasselaer, J. (2022). Ten lessons on the resilience of the EU common fisheries policy towards climate change and fuel efficiency—A call for adaptive, flexible and well-informed fisheries management. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *9*, 947150. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.947150
- Bates, A. E., Helmuth, B., Burrows, M. T., Duncan, M. I., Garrabou, J., Guy-Haim, T., Lima, F., Queiros, A. M., Seabra, R., Marsh, R., Belmaker, J., Bensoussan, N., Dong, Y., Mazaris, A. D., Smale, D., Wahl, M., & Rilov, G. (2018). Biologists ignore ocean weather at their peril. *Nature*, 560(7718), 299–301. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-018-05869-5
- Baudron, A. R., Needle, C. L., Rijnsdorp, A. D., & Tara Marshall, C. (2014). Warming temperatures and smaller body sizes: Synchronous changes in growth of North Sea fishes. *Global Change Biology*, 20(4), 1023–1031. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12514
- Beaugrand, G., & Kirby, R. R. (2010). Climate, plankton and cod. *Global Change Biology*, *16*(4), 1268–1280. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02063.x
- Ben Rais Lasram, F., Guilhaumon, F., Albouy, C., Somot, S., Thuiller, W., & Mouillot, D. (2010). The Mediterranean Sea as a 'cul-de-sac' for endemic fishes facing climate change: *Global Change Biology*, 16(12), 3233–3245. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02224.x
- Bertrand, Arnaud, L., Matthieu, Takahashi, Ken, A., Angel, & Poulain, Florence. (2020). El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) effects on fisheries and aquaculture. FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/ca8348en
- Beukhof, E., Frelat, R., Pecuchet, L., Maureaud, A., Dencker, T. S., Sólmundsson, J., Punzón, A., Primicerio, R., Hidalgo, M., Möllmann, C., & Lindegren, M. (2019). Marine fish traits follow fast-slow continuum across oceans. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 17878. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-53998-2
- Bevilacqua, S., Katsanevakis, S., Micheli, F., Sala, E., Rilov, G., Sarà, G., Malak, D. A., Abdulla, A., Gerovasileiou, V., Gissi, E., Mazaris, A. D., Pipitone, C., Sini, M., Stelzenmüller, V., Terlizzi, A., Todorova, V., & Fraschetti, S. (2020). The Status of Coastal Benthic Ecosystems in the Mediterranean Sea: Evidence From Ecological Indicators. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7, 475. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00475
- Birkmanis, C. A., Freer, J. J., Simmons, L. W., Partridge, J. C., & Sequeira, A. M. M. (2020). Future Distribution of Suitable Habitat for Pelagic Sharks in Australia Under Climate Change Models. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7, 570. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00570

- Blasi, M. F., & Mattei, D. (2017). Seasonal encounter rate, life stages and main threats to the loggerhead sea turtle (Caretta caretta) in the Aeolian Archipelago (southern Thyrrenian Sea): Loggerhead sea turtle in the Aeolian Archipelago. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine* and Freshwater Ecosystems, 27(3), 617–630. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2723
- Boeuf, G., & Payan, P. (2001). How should salinity influence fish growth?. *Comparative biochemistry and physiology. Toxicology & pharmacology : CBP*, 130(4), 411–423. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1532-0456(01)00268-x
- Böhm, M., Cook, D., Ma, H., Davidson, A. D., García, A., Tapley, B., Pearce-Kelly, P., & Carr, J. (2016). Hot and bothered: Using trait-based approaches to assess climate change vulnerability in reptiles. *Biological Conservation*, 204, 32–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.06.002
- Bolten, A. B. (2003). Variation in Sea Turtle Life History Patterns: Neritic vs. Oceanic Developmental Stages. In J. A. Musick & J. Wyneken (Eds.), *The Biology of Sea Turtles, Volume II* (0 ed., pp. 295–310). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420040807-14
- Boyd, P. W., Cornwall, C. E., Davison, A., Doney, S. C., Fourquez, M., Hurd, C. L., Lima, I. D., & McMinn, A. (2016). Biological responses to environmental heterogeneity under future ocean conditions. *Global Change Biology*, 22(8), 2633–2650. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13287
- Brander, K. M. (2007). Global fish production and climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of *Sciences*, *104*(50), 19709–19714. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0702059104
- Brazo, A., Marques, R., Zimmermann, M., Aspillaga, E., Hereu, B., Saragoni, G., Mercière, A., Crec'Hriou, R., Mercader, M., Verdoit-Jarraya, M., Cadène, F., & Lenfant, P. (2021).
 Seasonal influence on the bathymetric distribution of an endangered fish within a marine protected area. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 13342. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-92633-x
- Brierley, A. S. (2014). Diel vertical migration. *Current Biology*, 24(22), R1074–R1076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.08.054
- Brito-Morales, I., Schoeman, D., Klein, C., Dunn, D., Everett, J., Molinos, J. G., Burrows, M. T., Dominguez, R. M., Possingham, H., & Richardson, A. (2022). *Climate-smart, 3-D protected areas in the high seas* [Preprint]. In Review. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-421078/v1
- Brito-Morales, I., Schoeman, D. S., Molinos, J. G., Burrows, M. T., Klein, C. J., Arafeh-Dalmau, N., Kaschner, K., Garilao, C., Kesner-Reyes, K., & Richardson, A. J. (2020). Climate velocity reveals increasing exposure of deep-ocean biodiversity to future warming. *Nature Climate Change*, 10(6), 576–581. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0773-5
- Brown, M. B., Morrison, J. C., Schulz, T. T., Cross, M. S., Püschel-Hoeneisen, N., Suresh, V., & Eguren, A. (2022). Using the Conservation Standards Framework to Address the Effects of Climate Change on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. *Climate*, 10(2), 13. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli10020013
- Burraco, P., Orizaola, G., Monaghan, P., & Metcalfe, N. B. (2020). Climate change and ageing in ectotherms. *Global Change Biology*, 26(10), 5371–5381. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15305
- Bykova, O., Chuine, I., Morin, X., & Higgins, S. I. (2012). Temperature dependence of the reproduction niche and its relevance for plant species distributions. *Journal of Biogeography*, *39*(12), 2191–2200. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2012.02764.x
- Cabral, Fonseca, Sousa, & Costa Leal. (2019). Synergistic Effects of Climate Change and Marine Pollution: An Overlooked Interaction in Coastal and Estuarine Areas. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(15), 2737. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16152737
- Camiz, S., & Gomes, G. C. (2013). Multiple and Joint Correspondence Analysis: Testing the True Dimension of a Study. *Monde Des Util. Anal. Donees*, 44, 1–21.
- Cardona, L., & Hays, G. C. (2018). Ocean currents, individual movements and genetic

structuring of populations. *Marine Biology*, 165(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-017-3262-2

- Cardona, L., San Martín, J., Benito, L., Tomás, J., Abella, E., Eymar, J., Aguilera, M., Esteban, J. A., Tarragó, A., & Marco, A. (2023). Global warming facilitates the nesting of the loggerhead turtle on the Mediterranean coast of Spain. *Animal Conservation*, 26(3), 365–380. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12828
- Carreras, C., Cardona, L., & Aguilar, A. (2004). Incidental catch of the loggerhead turtle Caretta caretta off the Balearic Islands (western Mediterranean). *Biological Conservation*, *117*(3), 321–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2003.12.010
- Carreras, C., Pont, S., Maffucci, F., Pascual, M., Barceló, A., Bentivegna, F., Cardona, L., Alegre, F., SanFélix, M., Fernández, G., & Aguilar, A. (2006). Genetic structuring of immature loggerhead sea turtles (Caretta caretta) in the Mediterranean Sea reflects water circulation patterns. *Marine Biology*, 149(5), 1269–1279. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0282-8
- Casale, P., Affronte, M., Scaravelli, D., Lazar, B., Vallini, C., & Luschi, P. (2012). Foraging grounds, movement patterns and habitat connectivity of juvenile loggerhead turtles (Caretta caretta) tracked from the Adriatic Sea. *Marine Biology*, 159(7), 1527–1535. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-012-1937-2
- Casale, P., Broderick, A., Camiñas, J., Cardona, L., Carreras, C., Demetropoulos, A., Fuller, W., Godley, B., Hochscheid, S., Kaska, Y., Lazar, B., Margaritoulis, D., Panagopoulou, A., Rees, A., Tomás, J., & Türkozan, O. (2018). Mediterranean sea turtles: Current knowledge and priorities for conservation and research. *Endangered Species Research*, 36, 229–267. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00901
- Cavicchia,L.and Gualdi,S.and Sanna,A.and Oddo,P., 20153155173, Italy, (No.RP0254), Lecce, CMCC Research Paper, (22 pp.), Centro Euro-Mediterraneo per i Cambiamenti Climatici, The regional ocean-atmosphere coupled model COSMO-NEMO_MFS.
- Cazenave, A., & Cozannet, G. L. (2014). Sea level rise and its coastal impacts. *Earth's Future*, 2(2), 15–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/2013EF000188
- Chambault, P., Hattab, T., Mouquet, P., Bajjouk, T., Jean, C., Ballorain, K., Ciccione, S., Dalleau, M., & Bourjea, J. (2021). A methodological framework to predict the individual and population-level distributions from tracking data. *Ecography*, 44(5), 766–777. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.05436
- Chatzimentor, A., Almpanidou, V., Doxa, A., Dimitriadis, C., & Mazaris, A. D. (2021). Projected redistribution of sea turtle foraging areas reveals important sites for conservation. *Climate Change Ecology*, 2, 100038. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecochg.2021.100038
- Chefaoui, R. M., Duarte, C. M., & Serrão, E. A. (2018). Dramatic loss of seagrass habitat under projected climate change in the Mediterranean Sea. *Global Change Biology*, 24(10), 4919–4928. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14401
- Cheung, W. W. L., Lam, V. W. Y., Sarmiento, J. L., Kearney, K., Watson, R., & Pauly, D. (2009). Projecting global marine biodiversity impacts under climate change scenarios. *Fish and Fisheries*, 10(3), 235–251. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2979.2008.00315.x
- Cheung, W. W. L., Sarmiento, J. L., Dunne, J., Frölicher, T. L., Lam, V. W. Y., Deng Palomares, M. L., Watson, R., & Pauly, D. (2013). Shrinking of fishes exacerbates impacts of global ocean changes on marine ecosystems. *Nature Climate Change*, 3(3), 254–258. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1691
- Chimienti, M., Blasi, M. F., & Hochscheid, S. (2020). Movement patterns of large juvenile loggerhead turtles in the Mediterranean Sea: Ontogenetic space use in a small ocean basin. *Ecology and Evolution*, *10*(14), 6978–6992. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6370
- Chin, A., Kyne, P. M., Walker, T. I., & McAULEY, R. B. (2010). An integrated risk assessment for climate change: Analysing the vulnerability of sharks and rays on Australia's Great Barrier Reef. *Global Change Biology*, 16(7), 1936–1953. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02128.x
- Clark, N. J., Kerry, J. T., & Fraser, C. I. (2020). Rapid winter warming could disrupt coastal marine fish community structure. *Nat. Clim. Chang.*, 10, 862–867.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0838-5

- Cliff, N. (1988). The eigenvalues-greater-than-one rule and the reliability of components. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103, 276-279.
- Clusa, M., Carreras, C., Pascual, M., Gaughran, S. J., Piovano, S., Avolio, D., Ollano, G., Fernández, G., Tomás, J., Raga, J. A., Aguilar, A., & Cardona, L. (2016). Potential bycatch impact on distinct sea turtle populations is dependent on fishing ground rather than gear type in the Mediterranean Sea. *Marine Biology*, 163(5), 122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-016-2875-1
- Clusa, M., Carreras, C., Pascual, M., Gaughran, S. J., Piovano, S., Giacoma, C., Fernández, G., Levy, Y., Tomás, J., Raga, J. A., Maffucci, F., Hochscheid, S., Aguilar, A., & Cardona, L. (2014). Fine-scale distribution of juvenile Atlantic and Mediterranean loggerhead turtles (Caretta caretta) in the Mediterranean Sea. *Marine Biology*, *161*(3), 509–519. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-013-2353-y
- Coelho, R., Fernandez-Carvalho, J., & Santos, M. N. (2015). Habitat use and diel vertical migration of bigeye thresher shark: Overlap with pelagic longline fishing gear. *Marine environmental research*, *112*, 91-99.
- Coll, M., Piroddi, C., Albouy, C., Ben Rais Lasram, F., Cheung, W. W. L., Christensen, V., Karpouzi, V. S., Guilhaumon, F., Mouillot, D., Paleczny, M., Palomares, M. L., Steenbeek, J., Trujillo, P., Watson, R., & Pauly, D. (2012). The Mediterranean Sea under siege: Spatial overlap between marine biodiversity, cumulative threats and marine reserves: The Mediterranean Sea under siege. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 21(4), 465–480. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00697.x
- Coll, M., Piroddi, C., Steenbeek, J., Kaschner, K., Ben Rais Lasram, F., Aguzzi, J., Ballesteros, E., Bianchi, C. N., Corbera, J., Dailianis, T., Danovaro, R., Estrada, M., Froglia, C., Galil, B. S., Gasol, J. M., Gertwagen, R., Gil, J., Guilhaumon, F., Kesner-Reyes, K., ... Voultsiadou, E. (2010). The Biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea: Estimates, Patterns, and Threats. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(8), e11842. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011842
- Colles, A., Liow, L. H., & Prinzing, A. (2009). Are specialists at risk under environmental change? Neoecological, paleoecological and phylogenetic approaches. *Ecology Letters*, *12*(8), 849–863. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01336.x
- Collie, J. S., Wood, A. D., & Jeffries, H. P. (2008). Long-term shifts in the species composition of a coastal fish community. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 65(7), 1352–1365. https://doi.org/10.1139/F08-048
- Combes, M., Vaz, S., Grehan, A., Morato, T., Arnaud-Haond, S., Dominguez-Carrió, C., Fox, A., González-Irusta, J. M., Johnson, D., Callery, O., Davies, A., Fauconnet, L., Kenchington, E., Orejas, C., Roberts, J. M., Taranto, G., & Menot, L. (2021). Systematic Conservation Planning at an Ocean Basin Scale: Identifying a Viable Network of Deep-Sea Protected Areas in the North Atlantic and the Mediterranean. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *8*, 611358. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.611358
- Comte, L., & Grenouillet, G. (2013). Species distribution modelling and imperfect detection: Comparing occupancy versus consensus methods. *Diversity and Distributions*, 19(8), 996–1007. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12078
- Corrigan, C. M., Ardron, J. A., Comeros-Raynal, M. T., Hoyt, E., Notarbartolo Di Sciara, G., & Carpenter, K. E. (2014). Developing important marine mammal area criteria: Learning from ecologically or biologically significant areas and key biodiversity areas: TOWARD DEVELOPMENT OF CRITERIA FOR IMPORTANT MARINE MAMMAL AREAS. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 24(S2), 166–183. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2513
- Costello, M. J., Claus, S., Dekeyzer, S., Vandepitte, L., Tuama, É. Ó., Lear, D., & Tyler-Walters, H. (2015). Biological and ecological traits of marine species. *PeerJ*, *3*, e1201. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1201
- Crabbe, M. J. C. (2008). Climate change, global warming and coral reefs: Modelling the effects of temperature. *Computational Biology and Chemistry*, *32*(5), 311–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compbiolchem.2008.04.001
- Crozier, L. G., Burke, B. J., Chasco, B. E., Widener, D. L., & Zabel, R. W. (2021). Climate

change threatens Chinook salmon throughout their life cycle. *Communications Biology*, 4(1), 222. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-01734-w

- Cuttitta, A., Quinci, E. M., Patti, B., Bonomo, S., Bonanno, A., Musco, M., Torri, M., Placenti, F., Basilone, G., Genovese, S., Armeri, G. M., Spanò, A., Arculeo, M., Mazzola, A., & Mazzola, S. (2016). Different key roles of mesoscale oceanographic structures and ocean bathymetry in shaping larval fish distribution pattern: A case study in Sicilian waters in summer 2009. *Journal of Sea Research*, 115, 6–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2016.04.005
- Dahlke, F. T., Wohlrab, S., Butzin, M., & Pörtner, H.-O. (2020). Thermal bottlenecks in the life cycle define climate vulnerability of fish. *Science*, *369*(6499), 65–70. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz3658
- Damalas, D., Maravelias, C. D., Osio, G. C., Maynou, F., Sbrana, M., & Sartor, P. (2015a). "Once upon a Time in the Mediterranean" Long Term Trends of Mediterranean Fisheries Resources Based on Fishers' Traditional Ecological Knowledge. *PLOS ONE*, 10(3), e0119330. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119330
- Damalas, D., Maravelias, C. D., Osio, G. C., Maynou, F., Sbrana, M., Sartor, P., & Casey, J. (2015b). Historical discarding in Mediterranean fisheries: A fishers' perception. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 72(9), 2600–2608. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsv141
- Damalas, D., Sgardeli, V., Vasilakopoulos, P., Tserpes, G., & Maravelias, C. (2021). Evidence of climate-driven regime shifts in the Aegean Sea's demersal resources: A study spanning six decades. *Ecology and Evolution*, 11(23), 16951–16971. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.8330
- Danovaro, R. (2018). Climate change impacts on the biota and on vulnerable habitats of the deep Mediterranean Sea. *Rendiconti Lincei. Scienze Fisiche e Naturali*, 29(3), 525–541. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12210-018-0725-4
- Daufresne, M., Lengfellner, K., & Sommer, U. (2009). Global warming benefits the small in aquatic ecosystems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(31), 12788–12793. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0902080106
- Davenport, J. (1997). Temperature and the life-history strategies of sea turtles. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, 22(6), 479–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4565(97)00066-1
- Davies, K. F., Margules, C. R., & Lawrence, J. F. (2004). A synergistic effect puts rare, specialized species at greater risk of extinction. *Ecology*, 85(1), 265–271. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-0110
- Dawson, T. P., Jackson, S. T., House, J. I., Prentice, I. C., & Mace, G. M. (2011). Beyond Predictions: Biodiversity Conservation in a Changing Climate. *Science*, 332(6025), 53– 58. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1200303
- de Bello, F., Carmona, C. P., Dias, A. T., Götzenberger, L., Moretti, M., Moretti, M., & Berg, M. P. (2021). *Trait-Based Ecology: From Theory to R Tools*. Cambridge University Press.
- Delach, A., Caldas, A., Edson, K. M., Krehbiel, R., Murray, S., Theoharides, K. A., Vorhees, L. J., Malcom, J. W., Salvo, M. N., & Miller, J. R. B. (2019). Agency plans are inadequate to conserve US endangered species under climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(12), 999–1004. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0620-8
- Derville, S., Barlow, D. R., Hayslip, C., & Torres, L. G. (2022). Seasonal, Annual, and Decadal Distribution of Three Rorqual Whale Species Relative to Dynamic Ocean Conditions Off Oregon, USA. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9, 868566. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.868566
- Diaz-Pulido, G., Anthony, K. R. N., Kline, D. I., Dove, S., & Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (2012). Interactions between ocean acidification and warming on the mortality and dissolution of coralline algae: warming, high co2 and corallines. *Journal of Phycology*, 48(1), 32– 39. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2011.01084.x
- Doherty, P. D., Baxter, J. M., Godley, B. J., Graham, R. T., Hall, G., Hall, J., Hawkes, L. A., Henderson, S. M., Johnson, L., Speedie, C., & Witt, M. J. (2019). Seasonal changes in basking shark vertical space use in the north-east Atlantic. *Marine Biology*, 166(10), 129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-019-3565-6

- Domínguez-Petit, R., García-Fernández, C., Leonarduzzi, E., Rodrigues, K., & Macchi, G. J. (2022). Parental Effects and Reproductive Potential of Fish and Marine Invertebrates: Cross-Generational Impact of Environmental Experiences. *Fishes*, 7(4), 188. https://doi.org/10.3390/fishes7040188
- Donelson, J. M., Sunday, J. M., Figueira, W. F., Gaitán-Espitia, J. D., Hobday, A. J., Johnson, C. R., Leis, J. M., Ling, S. D., Marshall, D., Pandolfi, J. M., Pecl, G., Rodgers, G. G., Booth, D. J., & Munday, P. L. (2019). Understanding interactions between plasticity, adaptation and range shifts in response to marine environmental change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 374(1768), 20180186. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2018.0186
- Doney, S. C., Busch, D. S., Cooley, S. R., & Kroeker, K. J. (2020). The Impacts of Ocean Acidification on Marine Ecosystems and Reliant Human Communities. *Annual Review* of Environment and Resources, 45(1), 83–112. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevenviron-012320-083019
- Donner, S. D. (2009). Coping with Commitment: Projected Thermal Stress on Coral Reefs under Different Future Scenarios. *PLoS ONE*, 4(6), e5712. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0005712
- Dowd, W. W., King, F. A., & Denny, M. W. (2015). Thermal variation, thermal extremes and the physiological performance of individuals. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 218(12), 1956–1967. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.114926
- Doxa, A., Almpanidou, V., Katsanevakis, S., Queirós, A. M., Kaschner, K., Garilao, C., Kesner-Reyes, K., & Mazaris, A. D. (2022). 4D marine conservation networks: Combining 3D prioritization of present and future biodiversity with climatic refugia. *Global Change Biology*, gcb.16268. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16268
- Dray, S., Choler, P., Dolédec, S., Peres-Neto, P. R., Thuiller, W., Pavoine, S., & ter Braak, C. J. F. (2014). Combining the fourth-corner and the RLQ methods for assessing trait responses to environmental variation. *Ecology*, 95, 14–21.
- Dray, S., & Legendre, P. (2008). Testing the species traits-environment relationships: The fourth-corner problem revisited. *Ecology*, 89(12), 3400–3412. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-0349.1
- Drenkard, E. J., Stock, C., Ross, A. C., Dixon, K. W., Adcroft, A., Alexander, M., Balaji, V., Bograd, S. J., Butenschön, M., Cheng, W., Curchitser, E., Lorenzo, E. D., Dussin, R., Haynie, A. C., Harrison, M., Hermann, A., Hollowed, A., Holsman, K., Holt, J., ... Wang, M. (2021). Next-generation regional ocean projections for living marine resource management in a changing climate. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 78(6), 1969–1987. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsab100
- Dudley, P., & Porter, W. (2014). Using empirical and mechanistic models to assess global warming threats to leatherback sea turtles. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 501, 265– 278. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10665
- Dulvy, N. K., Fowler, S. L., Musick, J. A., Cavanagh, R. D., Kyne, P. M., Harrison, L. R., Carlson, J. K., Davidson, L. N., Fordham, S. V., Francis, M. P., Pollock, C. M., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Burgess, G. H., Carpenter, K. E., Compagno, L. J., Ebert, D. A., Gibson, C., Heupel, M. R., Livingstone, S. R., ... White, W. T. (2014). Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays. *ELife*, *3*, e00590. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.00590
- Dulvy, N. K., Rogers, S. I., Jennings, S., Stelzenmller, V., Dye, S. R., & Skjoldal, H. R. (2008). Climate change and deepening of the North Sea fish assemblage: A biotic indicator of warming seas. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 45(4), 1029–1039. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2008.01488.x
- Dunn, D. C., Van Dover, C. L., Etter, R. J., Smith, C. R., Levin, L. A., Morato, T., Colaço, A., Dale, A. C., Gebruk, A. V., Gjerde, K. M., Halpin, P. N., Howell, K. L., Johnson, D., Perez, J. A. A., Ribeiro, M. C., Stuckas, H., Weaver, P., & SEMPIA Workshop Participants. (2018). A strategy for the conservation of biodiversity on mid-ocean ridges from deep-sea mining. *Science Advances*, 4(7), eaar4313. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aar4313

- Edelist, D., Rilov, G., Golani, D., Carlton, J. T., & Spanier, E. (2013). Restructuring the Sea: Profound shifts in the world's most invaded marine ecosystem. *Diversity and Distributions*, 19(1), 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12002
- Ehrlén, J., & Valdés, A. (2020). Climate drives among-year variation in natural selection on flowering time. *Ecology Letters*, 23(4), 653–662. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13468
- Eklöf, J. S., Havenhand, J. N., Alsterberg, C., & Gamfeldt, L. (2015). Community-level effects of rapid experimental warming and consumer loss outweigh effects of rapid ocean acidification. *Oikos*, *124*(8), 1040–1049. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.01544
- Elith, J., & Leathwick, J. R. (2009). Species Distribution Models: Ecological Explanation and Prediction Across Space and Time. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 40(1), 677–697. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120159
- Ellis, S. L., Incze, L. S., Lawton, P., Ojaveer, H., MacKenzie, B. R., Pitcher, C. R., Shirley, T. C., Eero, M., Tunnell, J. W., Doherty, P. J., & Zeller, B. M. (2011). Four Regional Marine Biodiversity Studies: Approaches and Contributions to Ecosystem-Based Management. *PLoS ONE*, 6(4), e18997. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018997
- Encalada, S. E., Bjorndal, K. A., Bolten, A. B., Zurita, J. C., Schroeder, B., Possardt, E., Sears, C. J., & Bowen, B. W. (1998). Population structure of loggerhead turtle (Carettacaretta) nesting colonies in the Atlantic and Mediterranean as inferred from mitochondrial DNA control region sequences. *Marine Biology*, 130(4), 567–575. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002270050278
- Engelhard, G. H., Righton, D. A., & Pinnegar, J. K. (2014). Climate change and fishing: A century of shifting distribution in North Sea cod. *Global Change Biology*, 20(8), 2473– 2483. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12513
- Estes, J. A., Heithaus, M., McCauley, D. J., Rasher, D. B., & Worm, B. (2016). Megafaunal Impacts on Structure and Function of Ocean Ecosystems. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 41(1), 83–116. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110615-085622
- Fabry, V. J., Seibel, B. A., Feely, R. A., & Orr, J. C. (2008). Impacts of ocean acidification on marine fauna and ecosystem processes. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 65(3), 414– 432. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsn048
- Fanelli, E., Bianchelli, S., Foglini, F., Canals, M., Castellan, G., Güell-Bujons, Q., Galil, B., Goren, M., Evans, J., Fabri, M.-C., Vaz, S., Ciuffardi, T., Schembri, P. J., Angeletti, L., Taviani, M., & Danovaro, R. (2021). Identifying Priorities for the Protection of Deep Mediterranean Sea Ecosystems Through an Integrated Approach. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8, 698890. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.698890
- Feary, D. A., Pratchett, M. S., J Emslie, M., Fowler, A. M., Figueira, W. F., Luiz, O. J., Nakamura, Y., & Booth, D. J. (2014). Latitudinal shifts in coral reef fishes: Why some species do and others do not shift. *Fish and Fisheries*, 15(4), 593–615. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12036
- Fielding, A. H., & Bell, J. F. (1997). A review of methods for the assessment of prediction errors in conservation presence/absence models. *Environmental Conservation*, 24(1), 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892997000088
- Foden, W. B., Butchart, S. H. M., Stuart, S. N., Vié, J.-C., Akçakaya, H. R., Angulo, A., DeVantier, L. M., Gutsche, A., Turak, E., Cao, L., Donner, S. D., Katariya, V., Bernard, R., Holland, R. A., Hughes, A. F., O'Hanlon, S. E., Garnett, S. T., Şekercioğlu, Ç. H., & Mace, G. M. (2013). Identifying the World's Most Climate Change Vulnerable Species: A Systematic Trait-Based Assessment of all Birds, Amphibians and Corals. *PLoS ONE*, 8(6), e65427. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0065427
- Foden, W. B., Young, B. E., Akçakaya, H. R., Garcia, R. A., Hoffmann, A. A., Stein, B. A., Thomas, C. D., Wheatley, C. J., Bickford, D., Carr, J. A., Hole, D. G., Martin, T. G., Pacifici, M., Pearce-Higgins, J. W., Platts, P. J., Visconti, P., Watson, J. E. M., & Huntley, B. (2019). Climate change vulnerability assessment of species. WIREs Climate Change, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.551
- Fonseca, C. R., & Ganade, G. (2001). Species functional redundancy, random extinctions and the stability of ecosystems. *Journal of Ecology*, 89(1), 118–125.

https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.2001.00528.x

- Forster, J., Hirst, A. G., & Atkinson, D. (2012). Warming-induced reductions in body size are greater in aquatic than terrestrial species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(47), 19310–19314. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1210460109
- Fortini, L., & Schubert, O. (2017). Beyond exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity: A response based ecological framework to assess species climate change vulnerability. *Climate Change Responses*, 4(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40665-017-0030-y
- Fortune, S., Ferguson, S., Trites, A., LeBlanc, B., LeMay, V., Hudson, J., & Baumgartner, M. (2020). Seasonal diving and foraging behaviour of Eastern Canada-West Greenland bowhead whales. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 643, 197–217. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13356
- Frainer, A., Primicerio, R., Kortsch, S., Aune, M., Dolgov, A. V., Fossheim, M., & Aschan, M. M. (2017). Climate-driven changes in functional biogeography of Arctic marine fish communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(46), 12202– 12207. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1706080114
- Franco, A., Franzoi, P., Malavasi, S., Riccato, F., & Torricelli, P. (2006). Fish Assemblages in Different Shallow Water Habitats of the Venice Lagoon. *Hydrobiologia*, 555(1), 159– 174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-005-1113-5
- Fredston-Hermann, A., Selden, R., Pinsky, M., Gaines, S. D., & Halpern, B. S. (2020). Cold range edges of marine fishes track climate change better than warm edges. *Global Change Biology*, 26(5), 2908–2922. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15035
- Freitas, C., Caldeira, R., Reis, J., & Dellinger, T. (2018). Foraging behavior of juvenile loggerhead sea turtles in the open ocean: From Lévy exploration to area-restricted search. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 595, 203–215. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12581
- Frihy, O. E., & El-Sayed, M. Kh. (2013). Vulnerability risk assessment and adaptation to climate change induced sea level rise along the Mediterranean coast of Egypt. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 18(8), 1215–1237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-012-9418-y
- Froese, R. and D. Pauly. Editors. 2023. FishBase. World Wide Web electronic publication. www.fishbase.org, (10/2023)
- Gaichas, S. K., Link, J. S., & Hare, J. A. (2014). A risk-based approach to evaluating northeast US fish community vulnerability to climate change. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 71(8), 2323–2342. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsu048
- Gallagher, R. V., Butt, N., Carthey, A. J. R., Tulloch, A., Bland, L., Clulow, S., Newsome, T., Dudaniec, R. Y., & Adams, V. M. (2021). A guide to using species trait data in conservation. *One Earth*, 4(7), 927–936. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.06.013
- Gamliel, I., Buba, Y., Guy-Haim, T., Garval, T., Willette, D., Rilov, G., & Belmaker, J. (2020). Incorporating physiology into species distribution models moderates the projected impact of warming on selected Mediterranean marine species. *Ecography*, 43(7), 1090– 1106. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.04423
- Gao, K., Beardall, J., Häder, D.-P., Hall-Spencer, J. M., Gao, G., & Hutchins, D. A. (2019). Effects of Ocean Acidification on Marine Photosynthetic Organisms Under the Concurrent Influences of Warming, UV Radiation, and Deoxygenation. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, 322. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00322
- Garcia-Soto, C., Cheng, L., Caesar, L., Schmidtko, S., Jewett, E. B., Cheripka, A., Rigor, I., Caballero, A., Chiba, S., Báez, J. C., Zielinski, T., & Abraham, J. P. (2021). An Overview of Ocean Climate Change Indicators: Sea Surface Temperature, Ocean Heat Content, Ocean pH, Dissolved Oxygen Concentration, Arctic Sea Ice Extent, Thickness and Volume, Sea Level and Strength of the AMOC (Atlantic Meridional Overturning Circulation). *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8, 642372. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.642372
- Gardali, T., Seavy, N. E., DiGaudio, R. T., & Comrack, L. A. (2012). A Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment of California's At-Risk Birds. *PLoS ONE*, 7(3), e29507. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029507
- Garrabou, J., Gómez-Gras, D., Medrano, A., Cerrano, C., Ponti, M., Schlegel, R., Bensoussan, N., Turicchia, E., Sini, M., Gerovasileiou, V., Teixido, N., Mirasole, A., Tamburello, L., Cebrian, E., Rilov, G., Ledoux, J., Souissi, J. B., Khamassi, F., Ghanem, R., ... Harmelin, J. (2022). Marine heatwaves drive recurrent mass mortalities in the Mediterranean Sea. *Global Change Biology*, 28(19), 5708–5725. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16301
- Genner, M. J., Sims, D. W., Southward, A. J., Budd, G. C., Masterson, P., Mchugh, M., Rendle, P., Southall, E. J., Wearmouth, V. J., & Hawkins, S. J. (2010). Body size-dependent responses of a marine fish assemblage to climate change and fishing over a centurylong scale. *Global Change Biology*, 16(2), 517–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02027.x
- Girard, F., Catteau, S., Gambaiani, D., Gérigny, O., Sénégas, J. B., Moisson, P., & Claro, F. (2021). Shift in demographic structure and increased reproductive activity of loggerhead turtles in the French Mediterranean Sea revealed by long-term monitoring. *Scientific Reports*, 11(23164). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-02629-w
- Gissi, E., Fraschetti, S., & Micheli, F. (2019). Incorporating change in marine spatial planning: A review. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 92, 191–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.12.002
- Gissi, E., Manea, E., Mazaris, A. D., Fraschetti, S., Almpanidou, V., Bevilacqua, S., Coll, M., Guarnieri, G., Lloret-Lloret, E., Pascual, M., Petza, D., Rilov, G., Schonwald, M., Stelzenmüller, V., & Katsanevakis, S. (2021). A review of the combined effects of climate change and other local human stressors on the marine environment. *Science of The Total Environment*, 755, 142564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142564
- Giusti, A., Ritter, G., & Vichi, M. (Eds.). (2013). *Classification and Data Mining*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-28894-4
- Gómez-Gras, D., Linares, C., Dornelas, M., Madin, J.S., Brambilla, V., Ledoux, J.-B., López-Sendino, P., Bensoussan, N. and Garrabou, J. (2021), Climate change transforms the functional identity of Mediterranean coralligenous assemblages. Ecology Letters, 24: 1038-1051. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13718
- Green, S. J., Brookson, C. B., Hardy, N. A., & Crowder, L. B. (2022). Trait-based approaches to global change ecology: Moving from description to prediction. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 289(1971), 20220071. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2022.0071
- Greenacre, M. (2006). Tying up the loose ends in simple, multiple and joint correspondence analysis. In *Encyclopedia of Statistics in Behavioral Science* (p. 24).
- Gutiérrez, J. L., Jones, C. G., Byers, J. E., Arkema, K. K., Berkenbusch, K., Commito, J. A., Duarte, C. M., Hacker, S. D., Lambrinos, J. G., Hendriks, I. E., Hogarth, P. J., Palomo, M. G., & Wild, C. (2011). Physical Ecosystem Engineers and the Functioning of Estuaries and Coasts. In *Treatise on Estuarine and Coastal Science* (pp. 53–81). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374711-2.00705-1
- Hadj-Hammou, J., Mouillot, D., & Graham, N. A. J. (2021). Response and Effect Traits of Coral Reef Fish. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8, 640619. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.640619
- Hale, R., Calosi, P., McNeill, L., Mieszkowska, N., & Widdicombe, S. (2011). Predicted levels of future ocean acidification and temperature rise could alter community structure and biodiversity in marine benthic communities. *Oikos*, *120*(5), 661–674. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.19469.x
- Hansen, G., & Stone, D. (2016). Assessing the observed impact of anthropogenic climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 6(5), 532–537. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2896
- Hao, T., Elith, J., Guillera-Arroita, G., & Lahoz-Monfort, J. J. (2019). A review of evidence about use and performance of species distribution modelling ensembles like BIOMOD. *Diversity and Distributions*, 25(5), 839–852. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12892
- Hare, J. A., Morrison, W. E., Nelson, M. W., Stachura, M. M., Teeters, E. J., Griffis, R. B., Alexander, M. A., Scott, J. D., Alade, L., Bell, R. J., Chute, A. S., Curti, K. L., Curtis, T. H., Kircheis, D., Kocik, J. F., Lucey, S. M., McCandless, C. T., Milke, L. M.,

Richardson, D. E., ... Griswold, C. A. (2016). A Vulnerability Assessment of Fish and Invertebrates to Climate Change on the Northeast U.S. Continental Shelf. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(2), e0146756. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146756

- Hare, J. A., Morrison, W. E., Nelson, M. W., Stachura, M. M., Teeters, J., Griffis, R. B., Alexander, M. A., Scott, J. D., Alade, L., Bell, R. J., Chute, A. S., Curti, K. L., Curtis, T. H., Kircheis, D., Kocik, J. F., Lucey, S. M., Mccandless, C. T., Milke, L. M., Richardson, E., ... Mcmanus, M. C. (2016). A Vulnerability Assessment of Fish and Invertebrates to Climate Change on the Northeast U. S. Continental Shelf. *Plos One*, 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146756
- Hart, K., & Hyrenbach, K. (2009). Satellite telemetry of marine megavertebrates: The coming of age of an experimental science. *Endangered Species Research*, 10, 9–20. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00238
- Harvey, B. P., Marshall, K. E., Harley, C. D. G., & Russell, B. D. (2022). Predicting responses to marine heatwaves using functional traits. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 37(1), 20– 29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2021.09.003
- Hastings, R. A., Rutterford, L. A., Freer, J. J., Collins, R. A., Simpson, S. D., & Genner, M. J. (2020). Climate Change Drives Poleward Increases and Equatorward Declines in Marine Species. *Current Biology*, 30(8), 1572-1577.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.02.043
- Hatase, H., Omuta, K., & Tsukamoto, K. (2007). Bottom or midwater: Alternative foraging behaviours in adult female loggerhead sea turtles. *Journal of Zoology*, 273(1), 46–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2007.00298.x
- Hawkes, L., Broderick, A., Godfrey, M., & Godley, B. (2009). Climate change and marine turtles. *Endangered Species Research*, 7, 137–154. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00198
- Hays, G. C., Bailey, H., Bograd, S. J., Bowen, W. D., Campagna, C., Carmichael, R. H., Casale, P., Chiaradia, A., Costa, D. P., Cuevas, E., Nico de Bruyn, P. J., Dias, M. P., Duarte, C. M., Dunn, D. C., Dutton, P. H., Esteban, N., Friedlaender, A., Goetz, K. T., Godley, B. J., ... Sequeira, A. M. M. (2019). Translating Marine Animal Tracking Data into Conservation Policy and Management. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *34*(5), 459–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2019.01.009
- Hays, G. C., Fossette, S., Katselidis, K. A., Mariani, P., & Schofield, G. (2010). Ontogenetic development of migration: Lagrangian drift trajectories suggest a new paradigm for sea turtles. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 7(50), 1319–1327. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2010.0009
- Hays, G. C., Metcalfe, J. D., & Walne, A. W. (2004). THE IMPLICATIONS OF LUNG-REGULATED BUOYANCY CONTROL FOR DIVE DEPTH AND DURATION. *Ecology*, 85(4), 1137–1145. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-0251
- Hays, G. C., Mortimer, J. A., Ierodiaconou, D., & Esteban, N. (2014). Use of Long-Distance Migration Patterns of an Endangered Species to Inform Conservation Planning for the World's Largest Marine Protected Area: Turtle Migration from Chagos Archipelago. *Conservation Biology*, 28(6), 1636–1644. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12325
- Haywood, J. C., Fuller, W. J., Godley, B. J., Margaritoulis, D., Shutler, J. D., Snape, R. TE., Widdicombe, S., Zbinden, J. A., & Broderick, A. C. (2020). Spatial ecology of loggerhead turtles: Insights from stable isotope markers and satellite telemetry. *Diversity and Distributions*, 26(3), 368–381. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13023
- He, Q., & Silliman, B. R. (2019). Climate Change, Human Impacts, and Coastal Ecosystems in the Anthropocene. *Current Biology*, 29(19), R1021–R1035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.08.042
- Helmuth, B., Broitman, B. R., Blanchette, C. A., Gilman, S., Halpin, P., Harley, C. D. G., O'Donnell, M. J., Hofmann, G. E., Menge, B., & Strickland, D. (2006). Mosaic patterns of thermal stress in the rocky intertidal zone: implications for climate change. *Ecological Monographs*, 76(4), 461–479. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9615(2006)076[0461:MPOTSI]2.0.CO;2
- Helmuth, B., Harley, C. D. G., Halpin, P. M., O'Donnell, M., Hofmann, G. E., & Blanchette, C. A. (2002). Climate Change and Latitudinal Patterns of Intertidal Thermal Stress.

Science, 298(5595), 1015–1017. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1076814

- Heneghan, R. F., Hatton, I. A., & Galbraith, E. D. (2019). Climate change impacts on marine ecosystems through the lens of the size spectrum. *Emerging Topics in Life Sciences*, 3(2), 233–243. https://doi.org/10.1042/ETLS20190042
- Hennige, S. J., Wicks, L. C., Kamenos, N. A., Perna, G., Findlay, H. S., & Roberts, J. M. (2015). Hidden impacts of ocean acidification to live and dead coral framework. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 282(1813), 20150990. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.0990
- Henson, S. A., Beaulieu, C., Ilyina, T., John, J. G., Long, M., Séférian, R., Tjiputra, J., & Sarmiento, J. L. (2017). Rapid emergence of climate change in environmental drivers of marine ecosystems. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), 14682. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14682
- Hillebrand, H., Brey, T., Gutt, J., Hagen, W., Metfies, K., Meyer, B., & Lewandowska, A. (2018). Climate Change: Warming Impacts on Marine Biodiversity. In M. Salomon & T. Markus (Eds.), *Handbook on Marine Environment Protection* (pp. 353–373). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60156-4_18
- Hijmans, R.J. and Van Etten, J. (2012) Geographic analysis and modeling with raster data. http://raster.r-forge.r-project.org/
- Hijmans, R.J, Phillips, S., Leathwick, J. and Elith, J. (2011), Package 'dismo'. Available online at: http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/dismo/index.html.
- Hochscheid, S. (2014). Why we mind sea turtles' underwater business: A review on the study of diving behavior. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 450, 118–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2013.10.016
- Hochscheid, S., Bentivegna, F., Bradai, M., & Hays, G. (2007). Overwintering behaviour in sea turtles: Dormancy is optional. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 340, 287–298. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps340287
- Hochscheid, S., Bentivegna, F., & Hays, G. C. (2005). First records of dive durations for a hibernating sea turtle. *Biology Letters*, 1(1), 82–86. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2004.0250
- Hochscheid, S., Godley, B., Broderick, A., & Wilson, R. (1999). Reptilian diving:highly variable dive patterns in the green turtle Chelonia mydas. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *185*, 101–112. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps185101
- Hochscheid, S., Maffucci, F., Abella, E., Bradai, M. N., Camedda, A., Carreras, C., Claro, F., de Lucia, G. A., Jribi, I., Mancusi, C., Marco, A., Marrone, N., Papetti, L., Revuelta, O., Urso, S., & Tomás, J. (2022). Nesting range expansion of loggerhead turtles in the Mediterranean: Phenology, spatial distribution, and conservation implications. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 38, e02194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2022.e02194
- Hodge, J. R., & Price, S. (2022). Biotic Interactions and the Future of Fishes on Coral Reefs: The Importance of Trait-Based Approaches. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 62(6), 1734–1747. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icac147
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., & Bruno, J. F. (2010). The Impact of Climate Change on the World's Marine Ecosystems. *Science*, 328(5985), 1523–1528. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1189930
- Hoffmann, A. A., & Sgrò, C. M. (2011). Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. *Nature*, 470(7335), 479–485. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09670
- Howard, R., Bell, I., & Pike, D. (2014). Thermal tolerances of sea turtle embryos: Current understanding and future directions. *Endangered Species Research*, 26(1), 75–86. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00636
- Huang, M., Ding, L., Wang, J., Ding, C., & Tao, J. (2021). The impacts of climate change on fish growth: A summary of conducted studies and current knowledge. *Ecological Indicators*, 121, 106976. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106976
- Hughes, T. P., Anderson, K. D., Connolly, S. R., Heron, S. F., Kerry, J. T., Lough, J. M., Baird, A. H., Baum, J. K., Berumen, M. L., Bridge, T. C., Claar, D. C., Eakin, C. M., Gilmour, J. P., Graham, N. A. J., Harrison, H., Hobbs, J.-P. A., Hoey, A. S., Hoogenboom, M., Lowe, R. J., ... Wilson, S. K. (2018). Spatial and temporal patterns of mass bleaching

of corals in the Anthropocene. *Science*, *359*(6371), 80–83. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan8048

- IPCC. (2014). *Summary for policymakers* (Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability, pp. 1–32). Cambridge University Press.
- Irvin, D. N. (1974). Temperature Tolerance of Early Developmental Stages of Dover Sole, Solea solea (L.). In J. H. S. Blaxter (Ed.), *The Early Life History of Fish* (pp. 449–463). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-65852-5_37
- Iverson, A. R., Fujisaki, I., Lamont, M. M., & Hart, K. M. (2019). Loggerhead sea turtle (Caretta caretta) diving changes with productivity, behavioral mode, and sea surface temperature. *PLOS ONE*, 14(8), e0220372. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220372
- IUCN. 2021. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2021-1. https://www.iucnredlist.org. Accessed on October 2021.
- Jones, M. C., & Cheung, W. W. L. (2018). Using fuzzy logic to determine the vulnerability of marine species to climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 24(2), e719–e731. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13869
- Jorda, G., Marbà, N., Bennett, S., Santana-Garcon, J., Agusti, S., & Duarte, C. M. (2020). Ocean warming compresses the three-dimensional habitat of marine life. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 4(1), 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-1058-0
- Juan-Jordá, M. J., Mosqueira, I., Freire, J., & Dulvy, N. K. (2013). Life in 3-D: Life history strategies in tunas, mackerels and bonitos. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 23(2), 135–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-012-9284-4
- Jungblut, S., Liebich, V., & Bode, M. (Eds.). (2018). Understanding the Success of Marine Invasive Species. In YOUMARES 8 – Oceans Across Boundaries: Learning from each other. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93284-2
- Kaczmarek, H., Włodarska-Kowalczuk, M., Legeżyńska, J., & Zajączkowski, M. (2005). Shallow sublittoral macrozoobenthos in Kongsfjord, West Spitsbergen, Svalbard. 26(2), 137–155.
- Kaschner, K., Rius-Barile, J., Kesner-Reyes, K., Garilao, C., Kullander, S. O., Rees, T., & Froese, R. (2010). AquaMaps: Predicted range maps for aquatic species. World Wide Web electronic publication, version 08/2010. www.aquamaps.org
- Katsanevakis, S., Coll, M., Fraschetti, S., Giakoumi, S., Goldsborough, D., Mačić, V., Mackelworth, P., Rilov, G., Stelzenmüller, V., Albano, P. G., Bates, A. E., Bevilacqua, S., Gissi, E., Hermoso, V., Mazaris, A. D., Pita, C., Rossi, V., Teff-Seker, Y., & Yates, K. (2020a). Twelve Recommendations for Advancing Marine Conservation in European and Contiguous Seas. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *7*, 565968. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.565968
- Katsanevakis, S., Coll, M., Piroddi, C., Steenbeek, J., Ben Rais Lasram, F., Zenetos, A., & Cardoso, A. C. (2014). Invading the Mediterranean Sea: Biodiversity patterns shaped by human activities. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 1. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2014.00032
- Katsanevakis, S., Zenetos, A., Corsini-Foka, M., & Tsiamis, K. (2020b). Biological Invasions in the Aegean Sea: Temporal Trends, Pathways, and Impacts.
- Keppeler, F. W., Montaña, C. G., & Winemiller, K. O. (2020). The relationship between trophic level and body size in fishes depends on functional traits. *Ecological Monographs*, 90(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1415
- Kerosky, S. M., Širović, A., Roche, L. K., Baumann-Pickering, S., Wiggins, S. M., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2012). Bryde's whale seasonal range expansion and increasing presence in the Southern California Bight from 2000 to 2010. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 65, 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2012.03.013
- Khangar, N., & Kamalja, K. K. (2017). Multiple Correspondence Analysis and its applications. *Electronic Journal of Applied Statistical Analysis*, 10, 432–462. https://doi.org/10.1285/i20705948v10n2p432.
- Klein, C. J., Brown, C. J., Halpern, B. S., Segan, D. B., McGowan, J., Beger, M., & Watson, J.

E. M. (2015). Shortfalls in the global protected area network at representing marine biodiversity. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 17539. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17539

- Koenigstein, S., Mark, F. C., Gößling-Reisemann, S., Reuter, H., & Poertner, H.-O. (2016). Modelling climate change impacts on marine fish populations: Process-based integration of ocean warming, acidification and other environmental drivers. *Fish and Fisheries*, 17(4), 972–1004. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12155
- Koutsidi, M., Moukas, C., & Tzanatos, E. (2020). Trait-based life strategies, ecological niches, and niche overlap in the nekton of the data-poor Mediterranean Sea. *Ecology and Evolution*, *10*(14), 7129–7144. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6414
- Kristiansen, T., Butenschön, M., & Peck, M. A. (2024). Statistically downscaled CMIP6 ocean variables for European waters. Scientific reports, 14(1), 1209. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-51160-1
- Kristiansen, Trond, & Butenschön, Momme. (2022). An ensemble of trend preserving statistically downscaled projections for key marine variables under three different future scenarios for the North Sea (1.0) [Data set]. Zenodo. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.6523926
- Kurz, M. L., Heins, D. C., & Bell, M. A. (2016). Shifts in life-history traits of two introduced populations of threespine stickleback.
- Kyprioti, A., Almpanidou, V., Chatzimentor, A., Katsanevakis, S., & Mazaris, A. D. (2021). Is the current Mediterranean network of marine protected areas resilient to climate change? *Science of The Total Environment*, 792, 148397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148397
- Laliberté E, Legendre P, Shipley B (2014). FD: measuring functional diversity from multiple traits, and other tools for functional ecology. R package version 1.0-12.3.
- Lascelles, B., Notarbartolo Di Sciara, G., Agardy, T., Cuttelod, A., Eckert, S., Glowka, L., Hoyt, E., Llewellyn, F., Louzao, M., Ridoux, V., & Tetley, M. J. (2014). Migratory marine species: Their status, threats and conservation management needs. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 24(S2), 111–127. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2512
- Lavorel, S., Grigulis, K., McIntyre, S., Williams, N. S. G., Garden, D., Dorrough, J., Berman, S., Quétier, F., Thébault, A., & Bonis, A. (2007). Assessing functional diversity in the field – methodology matters! *Functional Ecology*, 0(0), 071124124908001-??? https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01339.x
- Learmonth, J. A., Macleod, C. D., Santos, M. B., Pierce, G. J., Crick, H. Q. P., & Robinson, R. A. (2006). POTENTIAL EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON MARINE MAMMALS. 44, 431–464.
- Lee, J. R., Maggini, R., Taylor, M. F. J., & Fuller, R. A. (2015). Mapping the Drivers of Climate Change Vulnerability for Australia's Threatened Species. *PLOS ONE*, 10(5), e0124766. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124766
- Leis, J. M., & McCormick, M. I. (2002). The biology, behavior, and ecology of the pelagic, larval stage of coral reef fishes. In *Coral Reef Fishes: Dynamics and Diversity in a Complex Ecosystem*. (pp. 171–199). Academic Press.
- Lenz, B., Fogarty, N. D., & Figueiredo, J. (2019). Effects of ocean warming and acidification on fertilization success and early larval development in the green sea urchin Lytechinus variegatus. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 141, 70–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.02.018
- Leutner, B.; Horning, N.; Schwalb-Willmann, J.; Hijmans, R.J. *Package 'RStoolbox'*; German Aerospace Center (DLR): Köln, Germany, 2022.
- Levene, H. (1960) Robust Tests for Equality of Variances. In: Olkin, I., Ed., Contributions to Probability and Statistics, Stanford University Press, Palo Alto, 278-292.
- Levin, L. A., & Le Bris, N. (2015). The deep ocean under climate change. Science, 350(6262), 766–768. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad0126
- Levin, N., Kark, S., & Danovaro, R. (2018). Adding the Third Dimension to Marine Conservation. *Conservation Letters*, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12408
- Levin, P. S., & Möllmann, C. (2015). Marine ecosystem regime shifts: Challenges and

opportunities for ecosystem-based management. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *370*(1659), 20130275. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0275

- Le Heron, R. (2006). Environment and sustainability policy: Creation, implementation, evaluation-Stephen Dovers.
- Liu, C., Newell, G., & White, M. (2016). On the selection of thresholds for predicting species occurrence with presence-only data. *Ecology and Evolution*, 6(1), 337–348. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1878
- Löffler, F., Poniatowski, D., & Fartmann, T. (2020). Extinction debt across three taxa in wellconnected calcareous grasslands. *Biological Conservation*, 246, 108588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108588
- Logan, M. L., Cox, R. M., & Calsbeek, R. (2014). Natural selection on thermal performance in a novel thermal environment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(39), 14165–14169. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1404885111
- Lucchetti, A., Vasapollo, C., & Virgili, M. (2017). Sea turtles bycatch in the Adriatic Sea set net fisheries and possible hot-spot identification. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 27(6), 1176–1185. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2787
- Luschi, P., & Casale, P. (2014). Movement patterns of marine turtles in the Mediterranean Sea: A review. *Italian Journal of Zoology*, 81(4), 478–495. https://doi.org/10.1080/11250003.2014.963714
- Luschi, P., Hays, G. C., & Papi, F. (2003). A review of long-distance movements by marine turtles, and the possible role of ocean currents. *Oikos*, *103*(2), 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12123.x
- Luschi, P., Mencacci, R., Cerritelli, G., Papetti, L., & Hochscheid, S. (2018). Large-scale movements in the oceanic environment identify important foraging areas for loggerheads in central Mediterranean Sea. *Marine Biology*, 165(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-017-3255-1
- Madeira, D., Costa, P. M., Vinagre, C., & Diniz, M. S. (2016). When warming hits harder: Survival, cellular stress and thermal limits of Sparus aurata larvae under global change. *Marine Biology*, 163(4), 91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-016-2856-4
- Maffucci, F., Corrado, R., Palatella, L., Borra, M., Marullo, S., Hochscheid, S., Lacorata, G., & Iudicone, D. (2016). Seasonal heterogeneity of ocean warming: A mortality sink for ectotherm colonizers. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 23983. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep23983
- Mainka, S. A., & Howard, G. W. (2010). Climate change and invasive species: Double jeopardy. *Integrative Zoology*, 5(2), 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-4877.2010.00193.x
- Mamauag, S. S., Aliño, P. M., Martinez, R. J. S., Muallil, R. N., Doctor, M. V. A., Dizon, E. C., Geronimo, R. C., Panga, F. M., & Cabral, R. B. (2013). A framework for vulnerability assessment of coastal fisheries ecosystems to climate change—Tool for understanding resilience of fisheries (VA–TURF). *Fisheries Research*, 147, 381–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2013.07.007
- Mancino, C., Canestrelli, D., & Maiorano, L. (2022). Going west: Range expansion for loggerhead sea turtles in the Mediterranean Sea under climate change. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, *38*, e02264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2022.e02264
- Marbà, N., Jordà, G., Agustí, S., Girard, C., & Duarte, C. M. (2015). Footprints of climate change on Mediterranean Sea biota. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 2, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2015.00056
- Martin, S., & Gattuso, J.P. (2009). Response of Mediterranean coralline algae to ocean acidification and elevated temperature. *Global Change Biology*, *15*(8), 2089–2100. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01874.x
- Mathews, C. P., & Samuel, M. (1990). Using the growth performance index Phi to choose species aquaculture: An example from Kuwait. *Aquabyte*, *3*(2), 2–4.
- Mazaris, A. D., Schofield, G., Gkazinou, C., Almpanidou, V., & Hays, G. C. (2017). Global sea turtle conservation successes. Science advances, 3(9), e1600730.

https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1600730

- Mazaris, A. D., Almpanidou, V., Giakoumi, S., & Katsanevakis, S. (2018). Gaps and challenges of the European network of protected sites in the marine realm. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 75(1), 190–198. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsx125
- Mazaris, A. D., Dimitriadis, C., Papazekou, M., Schofield, G., Doxa, A., Chatzimentor, A., Turkozan, O., Katsanevakis, S., Lioliou, A., Abalo-Morla, S., Aksissou, M., Arcangeli, A., Attard, V., El Hili, H. A., Atzori, F., Belda, E. J., Ben Nakhla, L., Berbash, A. A., Bjorndal, K. A., ... Peck, M. A. (2023). Priorities for Mediterranean marine turtle conservation and management in the face of climate change. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 339, 117805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2023.117805
- Mazaris, A. D., Kallimanis, A., Gissi, E., Pipitone, C., Danovaro, R., Claudet, J., Rilov, G., Badalamenti, F., Stelzenmüller, V., Thiault, L., Benedetti-Cecchi, L., Goriup, P., Katsanevakis, S., & Fraschetti, S. (2019). Threats to marine biodiversity in European protected areas. *Science of The Total Environment*, 677, 418–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.333
- Mazor, T., Beger, M., McGowan, J., Possingham, H.P. and Kark, S. (2016), Conservation planning of migratory species. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 25: 540-552. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12434
- Massey, F. J. (1951). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test for Goodness of Fit. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 46(253), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.2307/2280095
- McClellan, C. M., & Read, A. J. (2007). Complexity and variation in loggerhead sea turtle life history. Biology Letters, 3(6), 592–594. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2007.0355
- McDonald, J. (2012). Detection of the tropical mussel species Perna viridis in temperate Western Australia: Possible association between spawning and a marine heat pulse. Aquatic Invasions, 7(4), 483–490. https://doi.org/10.3391/ai.2012.7.4.005
- Merilä, J., & Hoffmann, A. A. (2016). Evolutionary Impacts of Climate Change. In J. Merilä & A. A. Hoffmann, Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Environmental Science. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780199389414.013.136
- Miller, G. M., Kroon, F. J., Metcalfe, S., & Munday, P. L. (2015). Temperature is the evil twin: Effects of increased temperature and ocean acidification on reproduction in a reef fish. *Ecological Applications*, 25(3), 603–620. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-0559.1
- Möllmann, C., Folke, C., Edwards, M., & Conversi, A. (2015). Marine regime shifts around the globe: Theory, drivers and impacts. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 370(1659), 20130260. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0260
- Monk, C. T., Bekkevold, D., Klefoth, T., Pagel, T., Palmer, M., & Arlinghaus, R. (2021). The battle between harvest and natural selection creates small and shy fish. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences, 118(9), e2009451118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2009451118
- Morato, T., Pham, C. K., Pinto, C., Golding, N., Ardron, J. A., Durán Muñoz, P., & Neat, F. (2018). A Multi Criteria Assessment Method for Identifying Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems in the North-East Atlantic. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 5, 460. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00460
- Moullec, F., Ben Rais Lasram, F., Coll, M., Guilhaumon, F., Halouani, G., Hattab, T., Le Loc'H, F., & Shin, Y.-J. (2016). Sub-chapter 2.1.3. Climate change impacts on marine resources. In J.-P. Moatti & S. Thiébault (Eds.), *The Mediterranean region under climate change* (pp. 229–248). IRD Éditions. https://doi.org/10.4000/books.irdeditions.23421
- Mrosovsky, N. (1980). Thermal Biology of Sea Turtles. *American Zoologist*, 20(3), 531–547. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/20.3.531
- Musa, S. M., Ripley, D. M., Moritz, T., & Shiels, H. A. (2020). Ocean warming and hypoxia affect embryonic growth, fitnessand survival of small-spotted catsharks, Scyliorhinus canicula. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 97(1), 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14370
- Naimi, B., & Araújo, M. B. (2016). sdm: A reproducible and extensible R platform for species distribution modelling. *Ecography*, 39(4), 368–375. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.01881

- Nenadic, O. ., & Greenacre, M. (2007). Correspondence Analysis in R, with Two- and Threedimensional Graphics: The ca Package. Journal of Statistical Software, 20(3), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v020.i03
- Nikolaou, A., Tsirintanis, K., Rilov, G., & Katsanevakis, S. (2023). Invasive Fish and Sea Urchins Drive the Status of Canopy Forming Macroalgae in the Eastern Mediterranean. *Biology*, 12(6), 763. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology12060763
- Nivière, M., Chambault, P., Pérez, T., Etienne, D., Bonola, M., Martin, J., Barnérias, C., Védie, F., Mailles, J., Dumont-Dayot, É., Gresser, J., Hiélard, G., Régis, S., Lecerf, N., Thieulle, L., Duru, M., Lefebvre, F., Milet, G., Guillemot, B., ... Chevallier, D. (2018). Identification of marine key areas across the Caribbean to ensure the conservation of the critically endangered hawksbill turtle. *Biological Conservation*, 223, 170–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.05.002
- Nogués-Bravo, D., Rodríguez-Sánchez, F., Orsini, L., de Boer, E., Jansson, R., Morlon, H., Fordham, D. A., & Jackson, S. T. (2018). Cracking the Code of Biodiversity Responses to Past Climate Change. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 33(10), 765–776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.07.005
- Notarbartolo di Sciara, G. (2016). Marine Mammals in the Mediterranean Sea. In *Advances in Marine Biology* (Vol. 75, pp. 1–36). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.amb.2016.08.005
- Ohlberger, J. (2013). Climate warming and ectotherm body size—From individual physiology to community ecology. *Functional Ecology*, 27(4), 991–1001. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12098
- O'Neill, B. C., Tebaldi, C., van Vuuren, D. P., Eyring, V., Friedlingstein, P., Hurtt, G., Knutti, R., Kriegler, E., Lamarque, J.-F., Lowe, J., Meehl, G. A., Moss, R., Riahi, K., & Sanderson, B. M. (2016). The Scenario Model Intercomparison Project (ScenarioMIP) for CMIP6. *Geoscientific Model Development*, 9(9), 3461–3482. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-9-3461-2016
- O'Regan, S. M., Archer, S. K., Friesen, S. K., & Hunter, K. L. (2021). A Global Assessment of Climate Change Adaptation in Marine Protected Area Management Plans. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *8*, 711085. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.711085
- Pacifici, M., Foden, W. B., Visconti, P., Watson, J. E. M., Butchart, S. H. M., Kovacs, K. M., Scheffers, B. R., Hole, D. G., Martin, T. G., Akçakaya, H. R., Corlett, R. T., Huntley, B., Bickford, D., Carr, J. A., Hoffmann, A. A., Midgley, G. F., Pearce-Kelly, P., Pearson, R. G., Williams, S. E., ... Rondinini, C. (2015). Assessing species vulnerability to climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, *5*(3), 215–224. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2448
- Pacifici, M., Visconti, P., Butchart, S. H. M., Watson, J. E. M., Cassola, F. M., & Rondinini, C. (2017). Species' traits influenced their response to recent climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 7(3), 205–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3223
- Pandori, L. L. M., & Sorte, C. J. B. (2019). The weakest link: Sensitivity to climate extremes across life stages of marine invertebrates. *Oikos*, 128(5), 621–629. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.05886
- Papafitsoros, K. (2022). Underreported in-water behaviours of the loggerhead sea turtle: Getting buried in the sand [Preprint]. Animal Behavior and Cognition. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.08.26.505133
- Patel, S. H., Morreale, S. J., Panagopoulou, A., Bailey, H., Robinson, N. J., Paladino, F. V., Margaritoulis, D., & Spotila, J. R. (2015). Changepoint analysis: A new approach for revealing animal movements and behaviors from satellite telemetry data. *Ecosphere*, 6(12), art291. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES15-00358.1
- Patel, S. H., Morreale, S. J., Saba, V. S., Panagopoulou, A., Margaritoulis, D., & Spotila, J. R. (2016). Climate Impacts on Sea Turtle Breeding Phenology in Greece and Associated Foraging Habitats in the Wider Mediterranean Region. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(6), e0157170. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157170
- Patel, S. H., Winton, M. V., Hatch, J. M., Haas, H. L., Saba, V. S., Fay, G., & Smolowitz, R. J. (2021). Projected shifts in loggerhead sea turtle thermal habitat in the Northwest

Atlantic Ocean due to climate change. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 8850. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-88290-9

- Patel, S., Panagopoulou, A., Morreale, S., Kilham, S., Karakassis, I., Riggall, T., Margaritoulis, D., & Spotila, J. (2015). Differences in size and reproductive output of loggerhead turtles Caretta caretta nesting in the eastern Mediterranean Sea are linked to foraging site. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 535, 231–241. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11433
- Paulus, E. (2021). Shedding Light on Deep-Sea Biodiversity—A Highly Vulnerable Habitat in the Face of Anthropogenic Change. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8, 667048. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.667048
- Payne, M. R., Barange, M., Cheung, W. W. L., MacKenzie, B. R., Batchelder, H. P., Cormon, X., Eddy, T. D., Fernandes, J. A., Hollowed, A. B., Jones, M. C., Link, J. S., Neubauer, P., Ortiz, I., Queirós, A. M., & Paula, J. R. (2016). Uncertainties in projecting climatechange impacts in marine ecosystems. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 73(5), 1272– 1282. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsv231
- Pearson, R. G., Stanton, J. C., Shoemaker, K. T., Aiello-Lammens, M. E., Ersts, P. J., Horning, N., Fordham, D. A., Raxworthy, C. J., Ryu, H. Y., McNees, J., & Akçakaya, H. R. (2014). Life history and spatial traits predict extinction risk due to climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 4(3), 217–221. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2113
- Peckham, S., Maldonado Diaz, D., Tremblay, Y., Ochoa, R., Polovina, J., Balazs, G., Dutton, P., & Nichols, W. (2011). Demographic implications of alternative foraging strategies in juvenile loggerhead turtles Caretta caretta of the North Pacific Ocean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 425, 269–280. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08995
- Pecl, G. T., Araújo, M. B., Bell, J. D., Blanchard, J., Bonebrake, T. C., Chen, I.-C., Clark, T. D., Colwell, R. K., Danielsen, F., Evengård, B., Falconi, L., Ferrier, S., Frusher, S., Garcia, R. A., Griffis, R. B., Hobday, A. J., Janion-Scheepers, C., Jarzyna, M. A., Jennings, S., ... Williams, S. E. (2017). Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: Impacts on ecosystems and human well-being. *Science*, 355(6332), eaai9214. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aai9214
- Perry, A. L., Low, P. J., Ellis, J. R., & Reynolds, J. D. (2005). Climate Change and Distribution Shifts in Marine Fishes. *Science, New Series*, 308(5730), 1912–1915.
- Perry, D., Staveley, T. A. B., Hammar, L., Meyers, A., Lindborg, R., & Gullström, M. (2018). Temperate fish community variation over seasons in relation to large-scale geographic seascape variables. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 75(10), 1723– 1732. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2017-0032
- Petersen-Perlman, J. D., Veilleux, J. C., & Wolf, A. T. (2017). International water conflict and cooperation: Challenges and opportunities. *Water International*, 42(2), 105–120. https://doi.org/10.1080/02508060.2017.1276041
- Petitgas, P., Rijnsdorp, A. D., Dickey-Collas, M., Engelhard, G. H., Peck, M. A., Pinnegar, J. K., Drinkwater, K., Huret, M., & Nash, R. D. M. (2013). Impacts of climate change on the complex life cycles of fish. *Fisheries Oceanography*, 22(2), 121–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/fog.12010
- Petsas, P., Doxa, A., Kyrpioti, A., Chatzimentor, A., & Mazaris, A. (2023). Can sea surface climatic connectivity help marine species track future favourable areas? 226.
- Pianka, E. R. (1970). On r- and K-Selection. The American Naturalist, 104(940), 592–597. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2459020
- Pierce, D. (2012). ncdf4: Interface to Unidata netCDF (version 4 or earlier) format data files. *R* package, URL http://CRAN. *R*-project. org/package= ncdf4.
- Pikesley, S. K., Broderick, A. C., Cejudo, D., Coyne, M. S., Godfrey, M. H., Godley, B. J., Lopez, P., López-Jurado, L. F., Elsy Merino, S., Varo-Cruz, N., Witt, M. J., & Hawkes, L. A. (2015). Modelling the niche for a marine vertebrate: A case study incorporating behavioural plasticity, proximate threats and climate change. *Ecography*, 38(8), 803– 812. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.01245
- Pilcher, N. J., Antonopoulou, M., Perry, L., Abdel-Moati, M. A., Al Abdessalaam, T. Z., Albeldawi, M., Al Ansi, M., Al-Mohannadi, S. F., Al Zahlawi, N., Baldwin, R., Chikhi,

A., Das, H. S., Hamza, S., Kerr, O. J., Al Kiyumi, A., Mobaraki, A., Al Suwaidi, H. S., Al Suweidi, A. S., Sawaf, M., ... Willson, A. (2014). Identification of Important Sea Turtle Areas (ITAs) for hawksbill turtles in the Arabian Region. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 460, 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2014.06.009

- Pimiento, C., Leprieur, F., Silvestro, D., Lefcheck, J. S., Albouy, C., Rasher, D. B., Davis, M., Svenning, J.-C., & Griffin, J. N. (2020). Functional diversity of marine megafauna in the Anthropocene. *Science Advances*, 6(16), eaay7650. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aay7650
- Pinsky, M. L., Selden, R. L., & Kitchel, Z. J. (2020). Climate-Driven Shifts in Marine Species Ranges: Scaling from Organisms to Communities. *Annual Review of Marine Science*, 12(1), 153–179. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-marine-010419-010916
- Pinsky, M. L., Worm, B., Fogarty, M. J., Sarmiento, J. L., & Levin, S. A. (2013). Marine Taxa Track Local Climate Velocities. *Science*, 341(6151), 1239–1242. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1239352
- Pita, I., Mouillot, D., Moullec, F., & Shin, Y. (2021). Contrasted patterns in climate change risk for Mediterranean fisheries. *Global Change Biology*, 27(22), 5920–5933. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15814
- Poloczanska, E. S., Brown, C. J., Sydeman, W. J., Kiessling, W., Schoeman, D. S., Moore, P. J., Brander, K., Bruno, J. F., Buckley, L. B., Burrows, M. T., Duarte, C. M., Halpern, B. S., Holding, J., Kappel, C. V., O'Connor, M. I., Pandolfi, J. M., Parmesan, C., Schwing, F., Thompson, S. A., & Richardson, A. J. (2013). Global imprint of climate change on marine life. *Nature Climate Change*, *3*(10), 919–925. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1958
- Poloczanska, E. S., Burrows, M. T., Brown, C. J., García Molinos, J., Halpern, B. S., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Kappel, C. V., Moore, P. J., Richardson, A. J., Schoeman, D. S., & Sydeman, W. J. (2016). Responses of Marine Organisms to Climate Change across Oceans. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00062
- Poloczanska, E. S., Limpus, C. J., & Hays, G. C. (2009). Vulnerability of Marine Turtles to Climate Change. In Advances In Marine Biology (1st ed., Vol. 56, Issue 09, pp. 151– 211). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2881(09)56002-6
- Ponti, M., Perlini, R. A., Ventra, V., Grech, D., Abbiati, M., & Cerrano, C. (2014). Ecological Shifts in Mediterranean Coralligenous Assemblages Related to Gorgonian Forest Loss. *PLoS ONE*, 9(7), e102782. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102782
- Pörtner, H. O., & Farrell, A. P. (2008). Physiology and Climate Change. Science, 322(5902), 690–692. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1163156
- Purtlebaugh, C. H., Martin, C. W., & Allen, M. S. (2020). Poleward expansion of common snook Centropomus undecimalis in the northeastern Gulf of Mexico and future research needs. *PLOS ONE*, 15(6), e0234083. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234083
- Queirós, A. M., Strong, J. A., Mazik, K., Carstensen, J., Bruun, J., Somerfield, P. J., Bruhn, A., Ciavatta, S., Flo, E., Bizsel, N., Özaydinli, M., Chuševė, R., Muxika, I., Nygård, H., Papadopoulou, N., Pantazi, M., & Krause-Jensen, D. (2016). An Objective Framework to Test the Quality of Candidate Indicators of Good Environmental Status. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00073
- Queirós, A. M., Stephens, N., Cook, R., Ravaglioli, C., Nunes, J., Dashfield, S., et al. (2015). Can benthic community structure be used to predict the process of bioturbation in real ecosystems? *Prog. Oceanog.* 137, 559–569. doi: 10.1016/j.pocean.2015.04.027
- R Core Team (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Ragonese, S., Vitale, S., Mazzola, S., Pagliarino, E., & Bianchini, M. L. (2012). Behavior of some growth performance indexes for exploited Mediterranean hake. 20.
- Rahel, F. J., & Olden, J. D. (2008). Assessing the Effects of Climate Change on Aquatic Invasive Species. *Conservation Biology*, 22(3), 521–533. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00950.x
- Range, P., Chícharo, M. A., Ben-Hamadou, R., Piló, D., Matias, D., Joaquim, S., Oliveira, A.

P., & Chícharo, L. (2011). Calcification, growth and mortality of juvenile clams Ruditapes decussatus under increased pCO2 and reduced pH: Variable responses to ocean acidification at local scales? *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *396*(2), 177–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2010.10.020

- Rattray, A., Ierodiaconou, D., & Womersley, T. (2015). Wave exposure as a predictor of benthic habitat distribution on high energy temperate reefs. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2015.00008
- Rees, Al. F., Carreras, C., Broderick, A. C., Margaritoulis, D., Stringell, T. B., & Godley, B. J. (2017). Linking loggerhead locations: Using multiple methods to determine the origin of sea turtles in feeding grounds. *Marine Biology*, 164(2), 30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-016-3055-z
- Rees, Al. F., Margaritoulis, D., Newman, R., Riggall, T. E., Tsaros, P., Zbinden, J. A., & Godley, B. J. (2013). Ecology of loggerhead marine turtles Caretta caretta in a neritic foraging habitat: Movements, sex ratios and growth rates. *Marine Biology*, 160(3), 519–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-012-2107-2
- Reglero, P., Ortega, A., Balbín, R., Abascal, F. J., Medina, A., Blanco, E., de la Gándara, F., Alvarez-Berastegui, D., Hidalgo, M., Rasmuson, L., Alemany, F., & Fiksen, Ø. (2018). Atlantic bluefin tuna spawn at suboptimal temperatures for their offspring. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 285(1870), 20171405. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.1405
- Reich, K. J., Bjorndal, K. A., & Bolten, A. B. (2007). The 'lost years' of green turtles: Using stable isotopes to study cryptic lifestages. *Biology Letters*, 3(6), 712–714. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2007.0394
- Revelles, M., Cardona, L., Aguilar, A., San Félix, M., & Fernández, G. (2007). Habitat use by immature loggerhead sea turtles in the Algerian Basin (western Mediterranean): Swimming behaviour, seasonality and dispersal pattern. *Marine Biology*, 151(4), 1501–1515. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0602-z
- Ricevuto, E., Vizzini, S., & Gambi, M. C. (2015). Ocean acidification effects on stable isotope signatures and trophic interactions of polychaete consumers and organic matter sources at a CO2 shallow vent system. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 468, 105–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2015.03.016
- Richardson, L. E., Graham, N. A. J., Pratchett, M. S., Eurich, J. G., & Hoey, A. S. (2018). Mass coral bleaching causes biotic homogenization of reef fish assemblages. *Global Change Biology*, 24(7), 3117–3129. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14119
- Richter, T., & Zglinicki, T. von. (2007). A continuous correlation between oxidative stress and telomere shortening in fibroblasts. *Experimental Gerontology*, 42(11), 1039–1042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2007.08.005
- Rijn, I., Buba, Y., DeLong, J., Kiflawi, M., & Belmaker, J. (2017). Large but uneven reduction in fish size across species in relation to changing sea temperatures. *Global Change Biology*, 23(9), 3667–3674. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13688
- Rijnsdorp, A. D., Peck, M. A., Engelhard, G. H., Möllmann, C., & Pinnegar, J. K. (2009). Resolving the effect of climate change on fish populations. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 66(7), 1570–1583. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsp056
- Rilov, G. (2016). Multi-species collapses at the warm edge of a warming sea. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 36897. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep36897
- Rilov, G., Mazaris, A. D., Stelzenmüller, V., Helmuth, B., Wahl, M., Guy-Haim, T., Mieszkowska, N., Ledoux, J.-B., & Katsanevakis, S. (2019). Adaptive marine conservation planning in the face of climate change: What can we learn from physiological, ecological and genetic studies? *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 17, e00566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00566
- Rivetti, I., Fraschetti, S., Lionello, P., Zambianchi, E., & Boero, F. (2014). Global Warming and Mass Mortalities of Benthic Invertebrates in the Mediterranean Sea. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(12), e115655. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115655
- Robinson, N. M., Nelson, W. A., Costello, M. J., Sutherland, J. E., & Lundquist, C. J. (2017). A Systematic Review of Marine-Based Species Distribution Models (SDMs) with

Recommendations for Best Practice. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *4*, 421. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2017.00421

- Rochet, M. (2000). A comparative approach to life-history strategies and tactics among four orders of teleost fish. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 57(2), 228–239. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.2000.0641
- Rodgers, E. M. (2021). Adding climate change to the mix: Responses of aquatic ectotherms to the combined effects of eutrophication and warming. *Biology Letters*, 17(10), 20210442. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2021.0442
- Rodríguez-Rodríguez, D., Rodríguez, J., Abdul Malak, D., Nastasi, A., & Hernández, P. (2016).
 Marine protected areas and fisheries restricted areas in the Mediterranean: Assessing "actual" marine biodiversity protection coverage at multiple scales. *Marine Policy*, 64, 24–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.11.006
- Rodríguez-Romero, A., Gaitán-Espitía, J. D., Opitz, T., & Lardies, M. A. (2022). Heterogeneous environmental seascape across a biogeographic break influences the thermal physiology and tolerances to ocean acidification in an ecosystem engineer. *Diversity and Distributions*, 28(8), 1542–1553. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13478
- Russell, B. D., Harley, C. D. G., Wernberg, T., Mieszkowska, N., Widdicombe, S., Hall-Spencer, J. M., & Connell, S. D. (2012). Predicting ecosystem shifts requires new approaches that integrate the effects of climate change across entire systems. *Biology Letters*, 8(2), 164–166. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2011.0779
- Sanford, E., Holzman, S. B., Haney, R. A., Rand, D. M., & Bertness, M. D. (2006). LARVAL TOLERANCE, GENE FLOW, AND THE NORTHERN GEOGRAPHIC RANGE LIMIT OF FIDDLER CRABS. *Ecology*, 87(11), 2882–2894. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[2882:LTGFAT]2.0.CO;2
- Santidrian Tomillo, P., Tomás, J., Marco, A., Panagopoulou, A., & Tavecchia, G. (2022). Environmental changes in the Mediterranean Sea could facilitate the western expansion of loggerhead turtles. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, SHIFT. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps14149
- Schaber, M., Gastauer, S., Cisewski, B., Hielscher, N., Janke, M., Peña, M., Sakinan, S., & Thorburn, J. (2022). Extensive oceanic mesopelagic habitat use of a migratory continental shark species. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 2047. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-05989-z
- Schofield, G., Dimadi, A., Fossette, S., Katselidis, K. A., Koutsoubas, D., Lilley, M. K. S., Luckman, A., Pantis, J. D., Karagouni, A. D., & Hays, G. C. (2013). Satellite tracking large numbers of individuals to infer population level dispersal and core areas for the protection of an endangered species. *Diversity and Distributions*, 19(7), 834–844. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12077
- Schofield, G., Hobson, V. J., Fossette, S., Lilley, M. K. S., Katselidis, K. A., & Hays, G. C. (2010). Fidelity to foraging sites, consistency of migration routes and habitat modulation of home range by sea turtles: Foraging and migration of sea turtles. *Diversity and Distributions*, 16(5), 840–853. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00694.x
- Schofield, G., Klaassen, M., Papafitsoros, K., Lilley, M. K. S., Katselidis, K. A., & Hays, G. C. (2020). Long-term photo-id and satellite tracking reveal sex-biased survival linked to movements in an endangered species. *Ecology*, 101(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.3027
- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. (2010). *Global biodiversity outlook* 3, Montreal, 94 p.
- Sguotti, C., Blöcker, A. M., Färber, L., Blanz, B., Cormier, R., Diekmann, R., Letschert, J., Rambo, H., Stollberg, N., Stelzenmüller, V., Stier, A. C., & Möllmann, C. (2022). Irreversibility of regime shifts in the North Sea. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9, 945204. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.945204
- Sheridan, J. A., & Bickford, D. (2011). Shrinking body size as an ecological response to climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 1(8), 401–406. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1259
- Shimada, T., Limpus, C. J., Hamann, M., Bell, I., Esteban, N., Groom, R., & Hays, G. C. (2020).

Fidelity to foraging sites after long migrations. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 89(4), 1008–1016. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13157

- Shipley, J. R., Twining, C. W., Mathieu-Resuge, M., Parmar, T. P., Kainz, M., Martin-Creuzburg, D., Weber, C., Winkler, D. W., Graham, C. H., & Matthews, B. (2022). Climate change shifts the timing of nutritional flux from aquatic insects. *Current Biology*, 32(6), 1342-1349.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2022.01.057
- Simpson, S. D., Jennings, S., Johnson, M. P., Blanchard, J. L., Schön, P.-J., Sims, D. W., & Genner, M. J. (2011). Continental Shelf-Wide Response of a Fish Assemblage to Rapid Warming of the Sea. *Current Biology*, 21(18), 1565–1570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2011.08.016
- Sini, M., Vatikiotis, K., Thanopoulou, Z., Katsoupis, C., Maina, I., Kavadas, S., Karachle, P. K., & Katsanevakis, S. (2019). Small-Scale Coastal Fishing Shapes the Structure of Shallow Rocky Reef Fish in the Aegean Sea. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, 599. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00599
- Slein, M. A., Bernhardt, J. R., O'Connor, M. I., & Fey, S. B. (2023). Effects of thermal fluctuations on biological processes: A meta-analysis of experiments manipulating thermal variability. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 290(1992), 20222225. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2022.2225
- Smale, D. A., Wernberg, T., Oliver, E. C. J., Thomsen, M., Harvey, B. P., Straub, S. C., Burrows, M. T., Alexander, L. V., Benthuysen, J. A., Donat, M. G., Feng, M., Hobday, A. J., Holbrook, N. J., Perkins-Kirkpatrick, S. E., Scannell, H. A., Sen Gupta, A., Payne, B. L., & Moore, P. J. (2019). Marine heatwaves threaten global biodiversity and the provision of ecosystem services. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(4), 306–312. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0412-1
- Smith, K., Burrows, M., Hobday, A., Sen Gupta, A., Moore, P., Thomsen, M., Wernberg, T., & Smale, D. A. (2021). Socioeconomic impacts of marine heatwaves: Global issues and opportunities. *Science*, 374(6566), eabj3593. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abj3593
- Smith, K. E., Burrows, M. T., Hobday, A. J., King, N. G., Moore, P. J., Sen Gupta, A., Thomsen, M. S., Wernberg, T., & Smale, D. A. (2023). Biological Impacts of Marine Heatwaves. *Annual Review of Marine Science*, 15(1), 119–145. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevmarine-032122-121437
- Smith, S. M., Nager, R. G., & Costantini, D. (2016). Meta-analysis indicates that oxidative stress is both a constraint on and a cost of growth. *Ecology and Evolution*, 6(9), 2833– 2842. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2080
- Soto-Navarro, J., Jordá, G., Compa, M., Alomar, C., Fossi, M. C., & Deudero, S. (2021). Impact of the marine litter pollution on the Mediterranean biodiversity: A risk assessment study with focus on the marine protected areas. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 165, 112169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112169
- Spotila, J. R. (2004). Sea Turtles: A Complete Guide to Their Biology, Behavior and Conservation. The Johns Hopkins University Press and Oakwood Arts.
- Stelzenmüller, V., Coll, M., Mazaris, A. D., Giakoumi, S., Katsanevakis, S., Portman, M. E., Degen, R., Mackelworth, P., Gimpel, A., Albano, P. G., Almpanidou, V., Claudet, J., Essl, F., Evagelopoulos, T., Heymans, J. J., Genov, T., Kark, S., Micheli, F., Pennino, M. G., ... Ojaveer, H. (2018). A risk-based approach to cumulative effect assessments for marine management. *Science of The Total Environment*, *612*, 1132–1140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.289
- Storlie, C., Merino-Viteri, A., Phillips, B., VanDerWal, J., Welbergen, J., & Williams, S. (2014). Stepping inside the niche: Microclimate data are critical for accurate assessment of species' vulnerability to climate change. *Biology Letters*, 10(9), 20140576. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2014.0576
- Stortini, C. H., Shackell, N. L., Tyedmers, P., & Beazley, K. (2015). Assessing marine species vulnerability to projected warming on the Scotian Shelf, Canada. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 72, 1731–1743.
- Sunday, J. M., Pecl, G. T., Frusher, S., Hobday, A. J., Hill, N., Holbrook, N. J., Edgar, G. J.,

Stuart-Smith, R., Barrett, N., Wernberg, T., Watson, R. A., Smale, D. A., Fulton, E. A., Slawinski, D., Feng, M., Radford, B. T., Thompson, P. A., & Bates, A. E. (2015). Species traits and climate velocity explain geographic range shifts in an ocean-warming hotspot. *Ecology Letters*, *18*(9), 944–953. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12474

- Supp, S. R., & Ernest, S. K. M. (2014). Species-level and community-level responses to disturbance: A cross-community analysis. *Ecology*, 95(7), 1717–1723. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-2250.1
- Talukder, B., Ganguli, N., Matthew, R., vanLoon, G. W., Hipel, K. W., & Orbinski, J. (2022). Climate change-accelerated ocean biodiversity loss & associated planetary health impacts. *The Journal of Climate Change and Health*, 6, 100114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joclim.2022.100114
- Thomsen, M. S., & South, P. M. (2019). Communities and Attachment Networks Associated with Primary, Secondary and Alternative Foundation Species; A Case Study of Stressed and Disturbed Stands of Southern Bull Kelp. *Diversity*, *11*(4), 56. https://doi.org/10.3390/d11040056
- Thorne, L. H., & Nye, J. A. (2021). Trait-mediated shifts and climate velocity decouple an endothermic marine predator and its ectothermic prey. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 18507. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-97318-z
- Thorpe, R. B., Arroyo, N. L., Safi, G., Niquil, N., Preciado, I., Heath, M., Pace, M. C., & Lynam, C. P. (2022). The Response of North Sea Ecosystem Functional Groups to Warming and Changes in Fishing. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9, 841909. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.841909
- Thuiller, W., Guéguen, M., Renaud, J., Karger, D. N., & Zimmermann, N. E. (2019). Uncertainty in ensembles of global biodiversity scenarios. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), 1446. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09519-w
- Tingley, M. W., Koo, M. S., Moritz, C., Rush, A. C., & Beissinger, S. R. (2012). The push and pull of climate change causes heterogeneous shifts in avian elevational ranges. *Global Change Biology*, 18(11), 3279–3290. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02784.x
- Titelboim, D., Almogi-Labin, A., Herut, B., Kucera, M., Asckenazi-Polivoda, S., & Abramovich, S. (2019). Thermal tolerance and range expansion of invasive foraminifera under climate changes. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 4198. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40944-5
- Tittensor, D. P., Mora, C., Jetz, W., Lotze, H. K., Ricard, D., Berghe, E. V., & Worm, B. (2010). Global patterns and predictors of marine biodiversity across taxa. *Nature*, 466(7310), 1098–1101. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09329
- Todgham, A. E., & Mandic, M. (2020). Understanding the Metabolic Capacity of Antarctic Fishes to Acclimate to Future Ocean Conditions. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 60(6), 1425–1437. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icaa121
- Tourne, D. C. M., Ballester, M. V. R., James, P. M. A., Martorano, L. G., Guedes, M. C., & Thomas, E. (2019). Strategies to optimize modeling habitat suitability of *Bertholletia excelsa* in the Pan-Amazonia. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9(22), 12623–12638. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5726
- Tseng, C.-T., Sun, C.-L., Yeh, S.-Z., Chen, S.-C., Su, W.-C., & Liu, D.-C. (2011). Influence of climate-driven sea surface temperature increase on potential habitats of the Pacific saury (Cololabis saira). *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 68(6), 1105–1113. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsr070
- Tsirintanis, K., Sini, M., Ragkousis, M., Zenetos, A., & Katsanevakis, S. (2023). Cumulative Negative Impacts of Invasive Alien Species on Marine Ecosystems of the Aegean Sea. *Biology*, 12(7), 933. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology12070933
- Tyberghein, L., Verbruggen, H., Pauly, K., Troupin, C., Mineur, F., & De Clerck, O. (2012). Bio-ORACLE: A global environmental dataset for marine species distribution modelling: Bio-ORACLE marine environmental data rasters. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 21(2), 272–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00656.x
- Tzanatos, E., Moukas, C., & Koutsidi, M. (2020). Mediterranean nekton traits: distribution,

relationships

and significance for marine ecology monitoring and management. PeerJ, 8, e8494. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.8494

- Tzanatos, E., Raitsos, D. E., Triantafyllou, G., Somarakis, S., & Tsonis, A. A. (2014). Indications of a climate effect on Mediterranean fisheries. *Climatic Change*, *122*(1–2), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-0972-4
- UNEP-WCMC, IUCN. (2019, October). Protected Planet: The World Database on Protected Areas (WDPA) [October 2019]. UKUNEP-WCMC and IUCN, Cambridge Available at: Http://www.protectedplanet.net.
- Urban, M. C., Bocedi, G., Hendry, A. P., Mihoub, J.-B., Pe'er, G., Singer, A., Bridle, J. R., Crozier, L. G., De Meester, L., Godsoe, W., Gonzalez, A., Hellmann, J. J., Holt, R. D., Huth, A., Johst, K., Krug, C. B., Leadley, P. W., Palmer, S. C. F., Pantel, J. H., ... Travis, J. M. J. (2016). Improving the forecast for biodiversity under climate change. *Science*, 353(6304), aad8466. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad8466
- Uthicke, S., Pecorino, D., Albright, R., Negri, A. P., Cantin, N., Liddy, M., Dworjanyn, S., Kamya, P., Byrne, M., & Lamare, M. (2013). Impacts of Ocean Acidification on Early Life-History Stages and Settlement of the Coral-Eating Sea Star Acanthaster planci. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), e82938. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0082938
- Van Houtan, K. S., & Bass, O. L. (2007). Stormy oceans are associated with declines in sea turtle hatching. *Current Biology*, 17(15), R590–R591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.06.021
- Venegas-Li, R., Levin, N., Possingham, H., & Kark, S. (2018). 3D spatial conservation prioritisation: Accounting for depth in marine environments. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 9(3), 773–784. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12896
- Verdura, J., Linares, C., Ballesteros, E., Coma, R., Uriz, M. J., Bensoussan, N., & Cebrian, E. (2019). Biodiversity loss in a Mediterranean ecosystem due to an extreme warming event unveils the role of an engineering gorgonian species. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 5911. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-41929-0
- Violle, C., Navas, M.-L., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I., & Garnier, E. (2007). Let the concept of trait be functional! *Oikos*, *116*(5), 882–892. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2007.15559.x
- Visalli, M. E., Best, B. D., Cabral, R. B., Cheung, W. W. L., Clark, N. A., Garilao, C., Kaschner, K., Kesner-Reyes, K., Lam, V. W. Y., Maxwell, S. M., Mayorga, J., Moeller, H. V., Morgan, L., Crespo, G. O., Pinsky, M. L., White, T. D., & McCauley, D. J. (2020). Data-driven approach for highlighting priority areas for protection in marine areas beyond national jurisdiction. *Marine Policy*, *122*, 103927. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2020.103927
- Visser, M. E., & Both, C. (2005). Shifts in phenology due to global climate change: The need for a yardstick. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 272(1581), 2561–2569. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3356
- Waldock, C., Stuart-Smith, R. D., Albouy, C., Cheung, W. W. L., Edgar, G. J., Mouillot, D., Tjiputra, J., & Pellissier, L. (2022). A quantitative review of abundance-based species distribution models. *Ecography*, 2022(1), ecog.05694. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.05694
- Wallace, B. P., Posnik, Z. A., Hurley, B. J., DiMatteo, A. D. et al. (2023). Marine turtle regional management units 2.0: an updated framework for conservation and research of wide-ranging megafauna species. *Endang Species Res* 52:209-223. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr01243
- Wallace, B. P., DiMatteo, A. D., Hurley, B. J., Finkbeiner, E. M., Bolten, A. B., Chaloupka, M. Y., Hutchinson, B. J., Abreu-Grobois, F. A., Amorocho, D., Bjorndal, K. A., Bourjea, J., Bowen, B. W., Dueñas, R. B., Casale, P., Choudhury, B. C., Costa, A., Dutton, P. H., Fallabrino, A., Girard, A., ... Mast, R. B. (2010). Regional Management Units for Marine Turtles: A Novel Framework for Prioritizing Conservation and Research across Multiple Scales. *PLoS ONE*, 5(12), e15465. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015465

- Walsh, H. J., Richardson, D. E., Marancik, K. E., & Hare, J. A. (2015). Long-Term Changes in the Distributions of Larval and Adult Fish in the Northeast U.S. Shelf Ecosystem. *PLOS ONE*, 10(9), e0137382. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0137382
- Walther, G.-R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T. J. C., Fromentin, J.M., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., & Bairlein, F. (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature*, 416(6879), 389–395. https://doi.org/10.1038/416389a
- Wei T., Simko V. (2021). R package 'corrplot': Visualization of a Correlation Matrix. (Version 0.92), https://github.com/taiyun/corrplot.
- Wernberg, T., Russell, B. D., Moore, P. J., Ling, S. D., Smale, D. A., Campbell, A., Coleman, M. A., Steinberg, P. D., Kendrick, G. A., & Connell, S. D. (2011). Impacts of climate change in a global hotspot for temperate marine biodiversity and ocean warming. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 400(1–2), 7–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2011.02.021
- Wheatley, C. J., Beale, C. M., Bradbury, R. B., Pearce-Higgins, J. W., Critchlow, R., & Thomas, C. D. (2017). Climate change vulnerability for species—Assessing the assessments. *Global Change Biology*, 23(9), 3704–3715. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13759
- Wickham H (2016). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York. ISBN 978-3-319-24277-4, https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org.
- Whitney, J. E., Whittier, J. B., Paukert, C. P., Olden, J. D., & Strecker, A. L. (2017). Forecasted range shifts of arid-land fishes in response to climate change. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, 27(2), 463–479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-017-9479-9
- Wiens, J. J. (2016). Climate-Related Local Extinctions Are Already Widespread among Plant and Animal Species. *PLOS Biology*, 14(12), e2001104. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001104
- Willis-Norton, E., Hazen, E. L., Fossette, S., Shillinger, G., Rykaczewski, R. R., Foley, D. G., Dunne, J. P., & Bograd, S. J. (2015). Climate change impacts on leatherback turtle pelagic habitat in the Southeast Pacific. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 113, 260–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2013.12.019
- Woodson, C. B., Micheli, F., Boch, C., Al-Najjar, M., Espinoza, A., Hernandez, A., Vázquez-Vera, L., Saenz-Arroyo, A., Monismith, S. G., & Torre, J. (2019). Harnessing marine microclimates for climate change adaptation and marine conservation. *Conservation Letters*, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12609
- Yeruham, E., Shpigel, M., Abelson, A., & Rilov, G. (2020). Ocean warming and tropical invaders erode the performance of a key herbivore. *Ecology*, 101(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2925
- Zhao, H., Matsuoka, A., Manizza, M., & Winter, A. (2022). Recent Changes of Phytoplankton Bloom Phenology in the Northern High-Latitude Oceans (2003–2020). Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 127(10). https://doi.org/10.1029/2021JC018346
- Zintzen, V., Anderson, M. J., Roberts, C. D., Harvey, E. S., Stewart, A. L., & Struthers, C. D. (2012). Diversity and Composition of Demersal Fishes along a Depth Gradient Assessed by Baited Remote Underwater Stereo-Video. *PLoS ONE*, 7(10), e48522. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048522

H. Appendix with supplementary methods and results

Supplementary material – Chapter B

List of sources used to compile a database of the available satellite tracked data and delineate the foraging areas of adult and juvenile loggerhead sea turtles in the Mediterranean region:

Adults' presences:

- T.F. Backof, Tracking and analysis of the spatial and thermal habitats of inter-nesting loggerheads (*Caretta caretta*) in Kyparissia Bay, Greece.
 MSc Dissertation, Purdue University, Indiana 2013.
- [2] T.F. Backof, S.J. Morreale, T.E. Riggall, Thermal and spatial tracking of inter-nesting loggerhead turtles(Caretta caretta) in Kyparissia Bay, Greece. (2013). 2013 IPFW Student Research and Creative Endeavor Symposium.Book 5.http://opus.ipfw.edu/stu_symp2013/5
- [3] A.C. Broderick, M.S. Coyne, W.J. Fuller, F. Glen, B. Godley, Fidelity and overwintering of sea turtles, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 274 (2007) pp. 1533-1539.
- [4] P. Casale, G. Simone, Seasonal residency of loggerhead turtles *Caretta caretta* tracked from the Gulf of Manfredonia, south Adriatic. Mediterr. Mar. Sci. 18 (2017) pp. 4-10.
- [5] A.M. Dujon, G. Schofield, R.E. Lester, N. Esteban, G.C. Hays, Fastloc-GPS reveals daytime departure and arrival during long-distance migration and the use of different resting strategies in sea turtles, Mar. Biol. 164, (2017) pp. 187.
- [6] A.M. Dujon, G. Schofield, R.E. Lester, K. Papafitsoros, G.C. Hays, Complex movement patterns by foraging loggerhead sea turtles outside the breeding season identified using Argos-linked Fastloc-Global Positioning System, Mar. Ecol. 39 (2018) pp. e12489.
- B. Godley, A. Broderick, F. Glen, G. Hays, Post-nesting movements and submergence patterns of loggerhead marine turtles in the Mediterranean assessed by satellite tracking, J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 287 (2003) pp. 119-134.
- [8] G.C. Hays, S. Fossette, K.A. Katselidis, G. Schofield, M.B. Gravenor, Breeding periodicity for male sea turtles, operational sex ratios, and implications in the face of climate change, Conserv. Biol. 24 (2010) pp. 1636-1643.
- [9] G.C. Hays, A. Christensen, S. Fossette, G. Schofield, J. Talbot, P. Mariani, Route optimisation and solving Zermelo's navigation problem during long distance migration in cross flows, Ecol. Lett. 17 (2014) pp. 137-143.
- [10] J.C. Haywood, W.J. Fuller, B.J. Godley, D. Margaritoulis, J.D. Shutler, R.T. Snape, S. Widdicombe, J.A. Zbinden, A.C. Broderick, Spatial ecology of loggerhead turtles:

Insights from stable isotope markers and satellite telemetry, Divers. Distrib., 26 (2020) pp. 368-381.

- [11] Y. Levy, T. Keren, N. Leader, G. Weil, D. Tchernov, G. Rilov, Spatiotemporal hotspots of habitat use by loggerhead (*Caretta caretta*) and green (*Chelonia mydas*) sea turtles in the Levant basin as tools for conservation, Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 575 (2017) pp. 165-179.
- [12] D. Margaritoulis, A.F. Rees, Loggerhead turtles nesting at Rethymno, Greece, prefer the Aegean Sea as their main foraging area, MTN 2011, 12, 12-14.
- [13] T. Mingozzi, R. Mencacci, G. Cerritelli, D. Giunchi, P. Luschi, Living between widely separated areas: Long-term monitoring of Mediterranean loggerhead turtles sheds light on cryptic aspects of females spatial ecology, J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 485 (2016) pp. 8-17.
- [14] S.H. Patel, Movements, behaviors and threats to loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the Mediterranean Sea. PhD Dissertation, Drexel University, Philadelphia, 2013.
- [15] S.H. Patel, S.J. Morreale, A. Panagopoulou, H. Bailey, N.J. Robinson, F.V. Paladino, D. Margaritoulis, J.R. Spotila, Changepoint analysis: a new approach for revealing animal movements and behaviors from satellite telemetry data. Ecosphere., 6 (2015) pp. 1-13.
- [16] A.F. Rees, Ecology of marine turtles across the eastern Mediterranean and the Middle East. PhD Dissertation, University of Exeter, United Kingdom, 2013.
- [17] A.F. Rees, C. Carreras, A.C, Broderick, D. Margaritoulis, T.B. Stringell, B.J. Godley, Linking loggerhead locations: using multiple methods to determine the origin of sea turtles in feeding grounds. Mar. Biol. 164 (2017) pp. 30.
- [18] A.F. Rees, D. Margaritoulis, The Longest Migratory Distance Recorded for a Loggerhead Nesting in Greece. MTN 2019, 158, 10-11.
- [19] G. Schofield, A. Dimadi, S. Fossette, K.A. Katselidis, D. Koutsoubas, M.K. Lilley, A. Luckman, J.D Pantis, A.D. Karagouni, G.C. Hays, Satellite tracking large numbers of individuals to infer population level dispersal and core areas for the protection of an endangered species. Divers. Distrib. 19 (2013) pp. 834-844.
- [20] G. Schofield, V.J., Hobson, S. Fossette, M.K. Lilley, K.A. Katselidis, G.C. Hays, Fidelity to foraging sites, consistency of migration routes and habitat modulation of home range by sea turtles. Divers. Distrib. 16 (2010) pp. 840-853.
- [21] G. Schofield, M.K. Lilley, C.M. Bishop, P. Brown, K.A. Katselidis, P. Dimopoulos, J.D. Pantis, G.C. Hays, Conservation hotspots: implications of intense spatial area use by breeding male and female loggerheads at the Mediterranean's largest rookery. Endanger. Spec. Res. 10 (2009) pp. 191-202.
- [22] R.T. Snape, A.C. Broderick, B.A Çiçek, W.J. Fuller, F. Glen, K. Stokes, B. Godley, Shelf life: neritic habitat use of a turtle population highly threatened by fisheries.

| Divers. $District. 22 (2010) pp. 77.007$ | Divers. | Distrib. | 22 | (2016) | pp. | 797-807. |
|--|---------|----------|----|--------|-----|----------|
|--|---------|----------|----|--------|-----|----------|

- [23] J.A. Zbinden, A. Aebischer, D. Margaritoulis, R.Arlettaz, Important areas at sea for adult loggerhead sea turtles in the Mediterranean Sea: satellite tracking corroborates findings from potentially biased sources, Mar. Biol., 153 (2008) pp. 899-906.
- [24] J.A. Zbinden, S. Bearhop, P, Bradshaw, B. Gill, D. Margaritoulis, J., Newton, B. Godley, Migratory dichotomy and associated phenotypic variation in marine turtles revealed by satellite tracking and stable isotope analysis. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 421 (2011) pp. 291-302.

Juveniles' presences:

- P. Casale, A.C. Broderick, D. Freggi, R. Mencacci, W.J Fuller, B.J. Godley, P. Luschi,
 Long-term residence of juvenile loggerhead turtles to foraging grounds: a potential conservation hotspot in the Mediterranean. Aquatic Conserv: Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 22 (2012) pp. 144-154. doi:10.1002/aqc.2222
- P. Casale, M. Affronte, D. Scaravelli, B. Lazar, C. Vallini, P. Luschi, Foraging [2] grounds, movement patterns and habitat connectivity of juvenile loggerhead turtles (Caretta tracked from the Adriatic *caretta*) Sea. Marine Biology. 159 (2012)1527-1535. 10.1007/s00227-012-1937-2. pp.
- [3] P. Casale, G. Simone, Seasonal residency of loggerhead turtles Caretta caretta tracked from the Gulf of Manfredonia, south Adriatic, Mediterranean Marine Science 18(2017) pp. 4-10. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.12681/mms.1663
- L. Cardona, M. Revelles, M. Parga, J. Tomás, A. Aguilar, F. Alegre, J. Raga, [4] X. Ferrer. Habitat use by loggerhead sea turtles Caretta caretta off the coast of eastern Spain results in high vulnerability to neritic fishing gear. a Marine Biology. 156 (2009) pp. 2621-2630. 10.1007/s00227-009-1288-9.
- [5] F. Bentivegna, F. Valentino, P. Falco, E. Zambianchi, S. Hochscheid, The relationship between loggerhead turtle (Caretta caretta) movement patterns and Mediterranean currents, Marine Biology. 151 (2007) pp. 1605-1614. 10.1007/s00227-006-0600-1.
- [6] L. Cardona, M. Revelles, C. Carreras, M. San Felix, M. Gazo, A. Aguilar, Western Mediterranean immature loggerhead turtles: Habitat use in spring and summer assessed through satellite tracking and aerial surveys. Marine Biology. 147 (2005) pp. 583-591. 10.1007/s00227-005-1578-9.
- [7] A. Rees, D. Margaritoulis, INTERNATIONAL MIGRATIONS OF NON-NESTING LOGGERHEAD TURTLES FROM GREECE TO TURKEY AND LIBYA Proceedings of the Second Mediterranean Conference on Marine Turtles. Barcelona Convention – Bern Convention – Bonn Convention (CMS). Demetropoulos A. and O.

| Turkozan | (editors). | 2009, | 188pp. |
|----------|------------|-------|--------|
|----------|------------|-------|--------|

- [8] S.A. Eckert, J.E. Moore, D.C. Dunn, R.S. van Buiten, K.L. Eckert, P.N. Halpin, MODELING LOGGERHEAD TURTLE MOVEMENT IN THE MEDITERRANEAN: IMPORTANCE OF BODY SIZE AND OCEANOGRAPHY, Ecological Applications, 18 (2008) pp. 290-308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/06-2107.1</u>
- [9] R. Aguilar, X. Pastor, M. Hernández, Migraciones y preferencias de hábitat de la tortuga boba en el Mediterráneo. 2006, OCEANA.
- [10] M. Chimienti, M.F. Blasi, S. Hochscheid, Movement patterns of large juvenile loggerhead turtles in the Mediterranean Sea: Ontogenetic space use in a small ocean basin, Ecol Evol. 00 (2020) pp. 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6370

Predictive capability of the model according to different buffers used

Pseudoabsences were randomly selected with a standard distance (buffer) away from the presence data. Applying buffers with alternative distances (3, 5, 8 and 10 cells away from presence data) it was observed that as distance increased, the performance of the models got better measured by indices of AUC.

Supplementary Table B.S1: Predictive performance of the model with application of different distances (buffer) away from the presence data.

| | AUC | | | | |
|-----------|---------|---------|---------|----------|--|
| Buffer | 3 cells | 5 cells | 8 cells | 10 cells | |
| Juveniles | 0.82 | 0.86 | 0.88 | 0.90 | |
| Adults | 0.83 | 0.8485 | 0.85 | 0.8580 | |

Principal Components Analysis (PCA)

PCA analysis constructs new uncorrelated variables (called eigenvectors or PCA axes), by using the nine bioclimatic variables. Each new variable interprets a certain percentage of data variability of the initial bioclimatic variables. The percentage of variability explained by the new synthetic variables is decreased moving from the first to the last variable.

PCA processed the rasterbrick of 9 bioclimatic variables, both for the present and for the future conditions. It reconstructed new nine variables, the principal components, that are uncorrelated. Each one explains a certain percentage of variance of the previous data derived from the 9 bioclimatic variables. The selection of the suitable number of principal components to include in the analysis can be also drawn with the assistance of the scree plot (Fig. S1).

Supplementary Table B.S2: Eigenvalues of each one of the nine principal components of the PCA

| Principal Components | Eigenvalue |
|-------------------------|--------------|
| PC1 | 4.683096e+00 |
| PC2 | 2.992103e+00 |
| PC3 | 1.270969e+00 |
| PC4 | 3.185494e-02 |
| PC5 | 1.489704e-02 |
| PC6 | 6.478261e-03 |
| PC7 | 5.683383e-04 |
| PC8 | 3.369513e-05 |
| PC9 | 3.634985e-16 |



Supplementary Figure B.S1: Scree plot of the PCA of the nine bioclimatic variables showing the percentage of explained variance by its principal component. The first 3 principal components account for the 99.4% of the variance of the data.



Supplementary Figure B.S2: The distribution of foraging grounds of (a) juvenile and (b) adult loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, under future (2051-2080) climatic conditions across the Mediterranean Sea. Neritic grounds are colored in purple, while oceanic ones are colored in dark green. Marine ecoregions (sensu Spalding et al., 2007) comprising the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black dashed lines.



Supplementary Figure B.S3: The distribution of common foraging grounds of juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, under (a) present (1991-2020) and (b) future climatic conditions (2051-2080) across the Mediterranean Sea. Neritic grounds are delineated in purple color, while oceanic ones are colored in dark green. In panel c) the distribution of important foraging grounds of juvenile and adult individuals, (i.e., areas that sustain their climatic suitability under present (1991-2020) and future climatic conditions (2051-2080)) across the Mediterranean Sea is depicted in red color. Marine ecoregions (sensu Spalding et al., 2007) comprising the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black dashed lines.

Supplementary Material – Chapter C



Supplementary Figure C.S1: Potential distribution of climatically suitable foraging areas for 5m, 25m and neritic bottom habitats for adult (a-c) and juvenile (d-f) loggerhead sea turtles under present-day conditions in the Mediterranean Sea in combination with presence points of adult and juvenile sea turtles, respectively.

PCA analysis constructs new uncorrelated variables (called eigenvectors or PCA axes), by using the nine bioclimatic variables. Each new variable interprets a certain percentage of data variability of the initial bioclimatic variables. The percentage of variability explained by the new synthetic variables is decreased moving from the first to the last variable. PCA processed the rasterbrick of 9 bioclimatic variables, both for the present and for the future conditions. It reconstructed new nine variables, the principal components, that are uncorrelated. Each one explains a certain percentage of variance of the previous data derived from the 9 bioclimatic variables.

Supplementary Table C.S1: Proportion of variance explained for the first two out of nine produced principal components of the PCA analysis, for the nine bioclimatic variables of every depth layer considered (5m, 25m, bottom neritic) for the two lifecycle stages (juvenile, adult) considered.

| | Proporti | Proportion of variance explained | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|----------|----------------------------------|-------------------|----------|--------|-------------------|--|--|
| | Adults | | | Juvenile | | | | |
| Principal Components | 5m | 25m | Bottom neritic | 5m | 25m | Bottom neritic | | |
| PC1 | 0.9957 | 0.9905 | 0.9724 | 0.9679 | 0.9888 | 0.9978 | | |
| PC2 | 0.0042 | 0.0094 | 0.0250 | 0.0294 | 0.0111 | 0.0020 | | |

Supplementary Table C.S2: Mean predictive performance (AUC and TSS indices) of each of the ensemble model for the two lifecycle stages (juvenile, adult) for every depth layer considered (5m, 25m, bottom neritic).

| Lifecycle stage | Depth | Mean AUC | Mean TSS |
|-----------------|----------------|----------|----------|
| | 5m | 0.88 | 0.66 |
| Juveniles | 25m | 0.89 | 0.7 |
| | Bottom neritic | 0.73 | 0.38 |
| | 5m | 0.77 | 0.57 |
| Adults | 25m | 0.78 | 0.57 |
| | Bottom neritic | 0.91 | 0.79 |

Supplementary Material – Chapter D

Detailed description of information acquisition for traits and their ordered levels

1. Quantitative traits

I retrieved information concerning the species **preference in narrow thermal conditions** based on their preferred temperature range as noted in Fishbase for fish and sharks, SeaLifeBase for marine mammals, sea turtles and invertebrates, as well as WORMS which accounts for all marine taxa. Information on species **generation length** and **body size** were also retrieved from the abovementioned databases, considering an average generation length in case of various reported estimations per species and the maximum reported length per species for body size. To convert these quantitative traits into vulnerability ranks, I considered the 3 respective quantiles for each of the three traits, we assigned them into three levels of vulnerability (high, moderate, low).

2. Qualitative traits

Information on species **dispersal ability** was extracted from Fishbase and SeaLifeBase, considering two modalities, i.e., migratory (oceanodromous, anadromous, catadromous) or sessile species. Sessiles were considered as high climate change vulnerability species. Migratory species were considered as low vulnerability species to climate change, while motile species at least at one life stage were considered as moderate vulnerability species.

The **IUCN status** was retrieved from the IUCN RedList website (https://www.iucnredlist.org/), based on the Mediterranean regional assessment. Critically endangered species were considered in the high vulnerability rank category.

Information on the **impact score of other non-climatic threats** was also retrieved from the IUCN RedList website, from the "Threats in detail" section. I assigned species a high, moderate or low score according to the highest score received for a threat in the list. E.g., if for at least one threat the impact score was medium, then the species was considered of medium impact score of other non-climatic threats, whereas if at least one threat had a high impact score, the species was considered of high impact score.

Information on **use of habitats likely to be impacted by sea level rise** was also retrieved from the IUCN RedList website, as reported in the "Habitat and Ecology" section. Considered habitats included: marine neritic, marine oceanic, marine deep benthic, marine intertidal, marine coastal/supratidal and artificial/aquatic & marine. For species assigned to solely oceanic habitats, vulnerability rank was considered low. For species assigned to coastal terrestrial and neritic habitats with no reference to an oceanic habitat, I assigned a high vulnerability rank. Moderate vulnerability referred to a combination of these habitats.

Regarding species' **dependence on calcification processes**, I classified them according to their taxonomic group, which we retrieved from the IUCN RedList website. Highest

vulnerability was accounted for Anthozoa, Malacostraca and Bivalvia, which use calcification processes for their survival. Fish were accounted for medium sensitivity because of calcification processes in their ear and impacts of ocean acidification on lethality of larvae (Koenigstein et al., 2016). Rest of the groups, such as mammals and sea turtles, were accounted as of low vulnerability rank. Species that do not use calcification processes, like fish, but are vulnerable to ocean acidity levels during juvenile life stage, were categorized as moderate vulnerability rank species.

Information on species **vertical dispersal ability** as a possible response to climate change was retrieved from the Aquamaps database (personal communication). Based on species' depth ranges, we considered three categories: i) low vulnerability species, the ones occurring in depths greater than 200m, as they could be able to migrate deeper, ii) high vulnerability species, the ones occurring in the shallow waters up to 40m, as they would be more exposed to surface temperatures and iii) moderate vulnerability species those occurring within 40m to 200m of depth.

Finally, for the two traits of **specialized requirements on habitat and diet**, information was acquired from experts' judgement. Diet specialization was categorized in two large categories, of (i) diet generalists and (ii) species with very specific requirements in diet selection. Categories for specialized requirements on habitat were retrieved from the publication of NOAA Technical Memorandum on the Methodology for Assessing the Vulnerability of Marine Fish and Shellfish Species to a Changing Climate, based on experts' opinion (Morrison et al, 2015).



Supplementary Figure D.S1: Number of species considered as high vulnerable according to the selected threshold. The threshold values represent the number of traits of high vulnerability. The higher the threshold (more high vulnerability traits needed to define high vulnerability species) the lower the number of species with high overall vulnerability. In threshold >=3, the system seems to reach an overall plateau, as lower threshold values do not increase dramatically the number of highly vulnerable species.

| | | Vulnerability factor 1 | | | |
|---------------|-------------------|------------------------|----------|----------|--|
| | Low Moderate High | | | | |
| ility 2 | Low | Low | Low | Moderate | |
| ierab ctor | Moderate | Low | Moderate | High | |
| Vuln fa | High | Moderate | High | High | |

Supplementary Figure D.S2: Estimation of the overall vulnerability of a species based on a combination of semi-quantitative and quantitative approach (Vulnerability factor 1 & 2), according to the logical matrix adapted from (Jones & Cheung, 2018), for the three categories of vulnerability.



Supplementary Figure D.S3: Number of threatened species with high risk to climate change inside Mediterranean marine protected areas. Marine ecoregions (sensu Spalding et al., 2007) of the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black lines. MPAs are highlighted in green color.

Supplementary Table D.S1: Number of high climate risk species in each marine ecoregion of the Mediterranean Sea. The last column includes mean number of all threatened species in each marine ecoregion.

| Marine ecoregion | High climate | All threatened species | | |
|--------------------------------------|--|---|---|---------------------------------|
| | Mean number of species per cell | Minimum number of species per cell | Maximum number of species per cell | Mean number of species per cell |
| Adriatic Sea | 7.9 | 1 | 16 | 34.9 |
| Levantine Sea | 1.7 | 1 | 11 | 6.5 |
| Tunisian Plateau/Gulf of Sidra | 3.28 | 1 | 11 | 15.3 |
| Ionian Sea | 3.4 | 1 | 15 | 12.9 |
| Aegean Sea | 6.05 | 1 | 20 | 22.6 |
| Alboran Sea | 18.6 | 10 | 22 | 60.1 |
| Western Mediterranean | 8.34 | 1 | 22 | 26.9 |

Supplementary Table D.S2: Threatened species of the Mediterranean Sea with high risk to climate change and their respective vulnerability and exposure scores. High risk is a combination of the species exposure and vulnerability rank. In order to be characterized with high risk, a species should have either a moderate exposure and a high vulnerability, or vice-versa, or both high ranks for vulnerability and exposure. Taxonomic group was selected based on the taxonomic organization of class, assigned by the IUCN RedList.

| Species | IUCN status | Taxonomic group | Exposure | Vulnerability |
|---------------------------|----------------|--------------------|----------|---------------|
| Aetomylaeus bovinus | CR | Chondrichthyes | moderate | high |
| Alopias superciliosus | VU | Chondrichthyes | moderate | high |
| Alopias vulpinus | VU | Chondrichthyes | moderate | high |
| Anguilla anguilla | CR | Actinopterygii | moderate | high |
| Balaenoptera physalus | VU | Mammalia | high | moderate |
| Carcharhinus brachyurus | VU | Chondrichthyes | moderate | high |
| Carcharhinus brevipinna | VU | Chondrichthyes | moderate | high |
| Carcharhinus melanopterus | VU | Chondrichthyes | high | high |
| Carcharhinus obscurus | EN | Chondrichthyes | high | high |
| Carcharhinus plumbeus | EN | Chondrichthyes | moderate | high |
| Carcharias taurus | CR | Chondrichthyes | high | high |
| Carcharodon carcharias | CR | Chondrichthyes | moderate | high |
| Caretta caretta | VU | Reptilia | high | high |
| Centrophorus granulosus | CR | Chondrichthyes | moderate | high |
| Cetorhinus maximus | EN | Chondrichthyes | high | high |
| Chelonia mydas | EN | Reptilia | high | moderate |
| Cladocora caespitosa | EN | Anthozoa | high | high |
| Corallium rubrum | EN | Anthozoa | high | high |
| Crassophyllum | EN | | | |
| thessalonicae | X / I T | Anthozoa | high | high |
| Delphinus delphis | VU | Mammalia | high | moderate |
| Dermochelys coriacea | VU | Reptilia | moderate | high |
| Desmophyllum dianthus | VU | Anthozoa | moderate | high |
| Isidella elongata | CR | Anthozoa | moderate | high |
| Madrepora oculata | VU | Anthozoa | moderate | high |
| Physeter macrocephalus | VU | Mammalia | moderate | high |

Supplementary Table D.S3: Eigenvalues of each of the eight dimensions from the Joint Correspondence Analysis, with the percentage of the variance explained by each of them. Dimensions with darker colour were selected for the analysis (inertias lower than 0.013)

| Dimension | Principal Inertias | % of inertia |
|----------------|-----------------------|---------------------|
| | | explained by JCA |
| 1 | 0.041493 | 43.8% |
| 2 | 0.025664 | 62.5% |
| 3 | 0.012974 | 74.4% |
| 4 | 0.006402 | 84% |
| 5 | 0.004025 | 90.2% |
| 6 | 0.001209 | 92.7% |
| 7 | 0.000994 | 95% |
| 8 | 0.000572 | 96.6% |
| | | |
| Total inertia: | 0.100992 | |

Supplementary Table D.S4: Loadings of the vulnerability traits' modalities to the first two dimensions of the Joint Correspondence analysis. K=1 and K=2 represent the principal coordinate for each dimension K of the solution (x1000). Trait modalities grouped in the same graph quadrant are highlighted in bold.

| Trait | Modality | K=1 | K=2 |
|--|----------|------|------|
| Use of calcification processes | low | -130 | -237 |
| Dispersal ability | high | -107 | -207 |
| Specialized requirement on diet | high | -143 | -186 |
| Preference in narrow thermal conditions | low | -177 | -125 |
| Body size | high | -169 | -131 |
| Preference in narrow thermal conditions | moderate | -110 | -168 |
| Use of habitats likely to be impacted by SLR | low | -32 | -91 |
| Use of habitats likely to be impacted by SLR | moderate | -29 | -50 |
| Vertical migration ability | low | -46 | -34 |
| Specialized requirements on habitat | moderate | 389 | -317 |
| Impact score of other non-climatic threats | moderate | 125 | -292 |
| Specialized requirements on habitat | high | 317 | -240 |
| Generation length | high | 11 | -229 |
| IUCN status | moderate | 74 | -222 |
| Use of calcification processes | high | 865 | -121 |
| Specialized requirement on diet | low | 7 | 9 |
| IUCN status | low | 57 | 64 |
| Body size | low | 376 | 101 |
| Use of habitats likely to be impacted by SLR | high | 62 | 126 |
| Dispersal ability | low | 862 | 135 |
| Impact score of other non-climatic threats | high | 305 | 145 |
| Preference in narrow thermal conditions | high | 144 | 146 |
| Vertical migration ability | moderate | 199 | 251 |
| Generation length | low | 169 | 277 |
| Vertical migration ability | high | 767 | 321 |

| Use of calcification processes | moderate | -244 | 67 |
|--|----------|------|-----|
| Generation length | moderate | -192 | 201 |
| Dispersal ability | moderate | -81 | 237 |
| IUCN status | high | -165 | 108 |
| Body size | moderate | -252 | 99 |
| Specialized requirements on habitat | low | -107 | 84 |
| Impact score of other non-climatic threats | low | -68 | 90 |

Supplementary References

Morrison, W.E., M. W. Nelson, J. F. Howard, E. J. Teeters, J. A. Hare, R. B. Griffis, J.D. Scott, and M.A. Alexander. 2015. Methodology for Assessing the Vulnerability of Marine Fish and Shellfish Species to a Changing Climate. U.S. Dept. of Commer., NOAA. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-OSF-3, 48 p.

I. Glossary of key terms

| English term | Greek term | Explanation | Chapters | Literature |
|---|---|--|----------|--|
| Climatic niche | Κλιματικός θώκος | The range of climatic factors that a given species experiences, beyond which it cannot survive, grow or reproduce. | B, C | Pearman, P. B., Guisan, A., Broennimann, O., & Randin, C. F. (2008). Niche dynamics in space and time. Trends in ecology & evolution, 23(3), 149–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2007.11.005 |
| Climatic niche modelling | Μοντέλα κλιματικής καταλληλότητας | Thesemodelsexploretherelationshipbetweengeographicaloccurrencesofspeciesandcorrespondingclimatic variables. | B, C | Adapted from Naimi, B. and Araújo, M.B. (2016), sdm: a reproducible and extensible R platform for species distribution modelling. Ecography, 39: 368- 375. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.01881 |
| Ensemble modelling | Συζευγμένα μοντέλα | Or bioclimatic 'envelope' modelling approach: use of multiple models for range projections | B, C | Araújo, M.B., & New, M.G. (2007). Ensemble forecasting of species distributions. <i>Trends in ecology & evolution</i> , 22 1, 42-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.09.010 |
| Range shift | Μετατόπιση εύρους εξάπλωσης | When the geographical limits within which a species survives and reproduces is altered. | B, C | Bates, O. K., & Bertelsmeier, C. (2021). Climatic niche shifts in introduced species. <i>Current biology: CB</i> , <i>31</i> (19), R1252–R1266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.08.035 |
| Climatically suitable areas | Κλιματικά κατάλληλες περιοχές | Areas that are projected to host climatically suitable conditions for the species. | B, C | Chatzimentor, A., Almpanidou, V., Doxa, A., Dimitriadis, C., & Mazaris, A. D. (2021). Projected redistribution of sea turtle foraging areas reveals important sites for conservation. <i>Climate Change Ecology</i> , 2, 100038. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecochg.2021.100038 |
| Three- dimensional suitable areas | Τρισδιάστατες κατάλληλες περιοχές | Areas projected to host suitable conditions across consecutive depth layers. | С | Chatzimentor A., Doxa A., Butenschon M., Kristiansen T., Peck M., Katsanevakis S., Mazaris A. D. (2024). Diving into warming oceans: assessing 3D climatically suitable foraging areas of loggerhead sea turtles under climate change. Journal of Nature Conservation – Under review |
| Marine megafauna | Θαλάσσια μεγαπανίδα | All large-bodied organisms (body mass, ≥ 45 kg) inhabiting the | B, C, D | Estes, J. A., Heithaus, M., McCauley, D. J., Rasher, D. B., & Worm, B. (2016). Megafaunal impacts on structure and function |

| | | coastal and open oceans, including bony fishes, elasmobranchs, mammals, reptiles, a species of sea bird (i.e., the emperor penguin), and a few species of mollusks (clams, squids, and octopuses). | | of ocean ecosystems. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 41, 83-116. |
|---------------------------------------|---|---|------|--|
| Trait | Χαρακτηριστικό | A broad range of species-level characteristics, including ecological preferences and life history information. | D, E | Foden, W. B., Young, B. E., Akçakaya, H. R., Garcia, R. A., Hoffmann, A. A., Stein, B. A., Thomas, C. D., Wheatley, C. J., Bickford, D., Carr, J. A., Hole, D. G., Martin, T. G., Pacifici, M., Pearce-Higgins, J. W., Platts, P. J., Visconti, P., Watson, J. E. M., & Huntley, B. (2019). Climate change vulnerability assessment of species. <i>WIREs Climate</i> <i>Change</i> , 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.551 |
| Functional trait | Λειτουργικό χαρακτηριστικό | Morpho-physio- phenological traits which impact fitness indirectly via their effects on growth, reproduction and survival, the three components of individual performance. | E | Violle, C., Navas, ML., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I., & Garnier, E. (2007). Let the concept of trait be functional. <i>Oikos</i> , <i>116</i> (5), 882–892. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030- 1299.2007.15559.x |
| Functional redundancy | Λειτουργικός πλεονασμός | The concept of functional redundancy implies that species loss is compensated by other species contributing similarly to functioning. | E | Fetzer, I., Johst, K., Schäwe, R., Banitz, T., Harms, H., & Chatzinotas, A. (2015). The extent of functional redundancy changes as species' roles shift in different environments. <i>Proceedings of the National</i> <i>Academy of Sciences of the United States of</i> <i>America</i> , <i>112</i> (48), 14888–14893. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1505587112 |
| Community- mean- weighted trait | Μέσο σταθμισμένο χαρακτηριστικό κοινότητας | Mean of trait values present in the community weighted by the relative abundance of taxa bearing each value. | E | Lavorel, S., Grigulis, K., McIntyre, S., Williams, N.S.G., Garden, D., Dorrough, J., Berman, S., Quétier, F., Thébault, A. and Bonis, A. (2008), Assessing functional diversity in the field – methodology matters!. Functional Ecology, 22: 134- 147. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365- 2435.2007.01339.x |

| Vulnerability | Τρωτότητα | The propensity or predisposition to be adversely affected. | D | IPCC. (2014). Summary for policymakers (Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability, pp. 1–32). Cambridge University Press. |
|---------------|-----------|--|---|--|
| Exposure | Έκθεση | The presence of people, livelihoods, species or ecosystems, environmental functions, services, and resources, infrastructure, or economic, social, or cultural assets in places that could be adversely affected. | D | IPCC. (2014). Summary for policymakers (Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability, pp. 1–32). Cambridge University Press. |
| Risk | Κίνδυνος | The probability of harmful consequences resulting from climate change. Risk results from the interaction of vulnerability, exposure, and hazard. | D | IPCC. (2014). Summary for policymakers (Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability, pp. 1–32). Cambridge University Press. |
J. Index of tables and figures

Figure B.1: The distribution of foraging grounds of (a) juvenile and (b) adult loggerhead sea turtles, Caretta caretta, under present (1991-2020) climatic conditions across the Mediterranean Sea. Neritic grounds are colored in purple, while oceanic ones are colored in dark green. Marine ecoregions (sensu (Spalding et al., 2007)) comprising the Mediterranean Figure B.2: The distribution of foraging grounds of (a) juvenile and (b) adult loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, under present (1991-2020) and future climatic conditions (2051-2080) across the Mediterranean Sea. Areas that will persist on supporting foraging both in the present and future conditions are delineated in pink color, while new potential foraging areas are in green. Present areas that might no longer support foraging in the future are colored in dark red. Marine ecoregions (sensu (Spalding et al., 2007)) comprising the Mediterranean Sea are Figure C.1: Flowchart of the methodology followed in order to delineate present-day and future 3D thermally suitable habitats (near-surface, water-column, deep) for adult and juvenile loggerhead sea turtles. Figure C.2: Potential distribution of thermally suitable foraging areas for 5m, 25m and neritic bottom habitats for adult (a-f) and juvenile (g-l) loggerhead sea turtles under present-day and conditions the Mediterranean future in Sea. Figure C.3: Water-column habitats, near-surface habitats and deep habitats of juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles as a proportion of (a) the potential distribution of all thermally suitable areas and (b) the total percentage cover of the Mediterranean Sea. Figure C.4: Water-column habitats, near-surface habitats and deep habitats of juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles as a proportion of (a) the potential distribution of all thermally suitable areas and (b) the total percentage cover of the Mediterranean Sea. Table D.1: The list of 11 vulnerability traits of the 90 threatened marine species along with their modalities (low, moderate, high), their source of extraction and the type of variable or (continuous categorical). Figure D.1: Overview scheme of the estimation of climate risk. The estimation of the overall risk categories was based on the combination of vulnerability and exposure scores and categories. The table of risk estimation is adapted from (Jones & Cheung, 2018), for the three categories of risk and the estimation of the overall vulnerability. 48 Figure D.2: Percentages of threatened marine species at high climate risk in the Mediterranean Sea. Risk is depicted with dark blue colour, vulnerability with magenta and exposure with light blue. Taxonomic group (and the corresponding total number of species considered) belong to high climate risk category, with the class of Cephalopoda (1 species) missing. Figure D.3: a) Species inertias along the first and second dimension produced by the JCA, categorized according to their level of risk. b) Traits inertias along the first two dimensions produced by the JCA. Each trait modality is represented by a different shape (high; square, moderate; circle, low; triangle). Traits associated with high risk are depicted in red. The abbreviations of traits in the figure stand for: Gnrt: Generation length, Thrml: Preference in narrow thermal conditions, Depth: Vertical migration ability, Dsp: Dispersal ability, Calc: Dependence on calcification processes, IUCN: IUCN status, Size: Body size, SLR: Use of habitats likely to be impacted by SLR, Diet: Specialized requirements on diet, Hbt: Specialized requirements on habitat, Thrt: Impact score of other non-climatic threats. Figure D.4: Hotspot areas of threatened marine species at high climate risk in the Mediterranean Sea. In the right, the average number of threatened species at high and very high climate risk for each marine ecoregion of the Mediterranean Sea. Marine ecoregions (sensu Spalding et al., 2007) of the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black lines. Figure D.5: Hotspot areas with high concentrations of threatened marine species at (a) high climatic vulnerability and (b) high exposure to ocean warming in the Mediterranean Sea. (c) the average number of threatened species at high vulnerability (purple) and high exposure (orange) for each marine ecoregion of the Mediterranean Sea. Marine ecoregions (sensu Spalding et al., 2007) of the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black lines. Figure E.1: Histograms of the five functional traits of swallow reef fish in the Northeast Figure E.2: a) Trait-environment relationships based on observed species abundances of swallow reef fish and environmental conditions from 100 sampling stations over the Northeast Mediterranean Sea. b) Spearman correlations among species traits. Figure E.3: Ridgeline plots of the distributions of CMW traits for present, middle-term future and long-term future conditions. Lines of median values are depicted in the distributions. Figure E.4: (a) Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for the test of the equality of the distributions of the five functional traits across present, short-term future and long-term future and (b) the Levene's test for Equality of Variances of the five functional traits across the three time slices. Supplementary Table B.S1: Predictive performance of the model with application of different distances (buffer) away from the presence data. Supplementary Table B.S2: Eigenvalues of each one of the nine principal components of the Supplementary Figure B.S1: Scree plot of the PCA of the nine bioclimatic variables showing the percentage of explained variance by its principal component. The first 3 principal 99.4% of components account for the the variance of the data **Supplementary Figure B.S2**: The distribution of foraging grounds of (a) juvenile and (b) adult loggerhead sea turtles, Caretta caretta, under future (2051-2080) climatic conditions across the Mediterranean Sea. Neritic grounds are colored in purple, while oceanic ones are colored in dark green. Marine ecoregions (sensu Spalding et al., 2007) comprising the Mediterranean Sea delineated bv black dashed are lines. Supplementary Figure B.S3: The distribution of common foraging grounds of juvenile and adult loggerhead sea turtles, Caretta caretta, under (a) present (1991-2020) and (b) future climatic conditions (2051-2080) across the Mediterranean Sea. Neritic grounds are delineated in purple color, while oceanic ones are colored in dark green. In panel c) the distribution of important foraging grounds of juvenile and adult individuals, (i.e., areas that sustain their climatic suitability under present (1991-2020) and future climatic conditions (2051-2080)) across the Mediterranean Sea is depicted in red color. Marine ecoregions (sensu Spalding et al., 2007) comprising the Mediterranean Sea are delineated by black dashed lines. **Supplementary Figure C.S1:** Potential distribution of climatically suitable foraging areas for 5m, 25m and neritic bottom habitats for adult (a-c) and juvenile (d-f) loggerhead sea turtles under present-day conditions in the Mediterranean Sea in combination with presence points of

| adult | and | juvenile | sea | turtles, | respectively. |
|--|---|--|--|---|--|
| Supplement produced prin depth layer c considered. | ary Table ncipal com considered | C.S1: Proportion ponents of the PCA (5m, 25m, bottom) | of variance ex analysis, for neritic) for the | xplained for the the he nine bioclima two lifecycle sta | first two out of nine tic variables of every ages (juvenile, adult) |
| Supplement the ensemble considered | ary Table e model fo | C.S2: Mean predic or the two lifecyo (5m, | tive performaticle stages (jur 25m, | nce (AUC and TS venile, adult) fo bottom | S indices) of each of r every depth layer neritic). 112 |
| Supplement the selected t The higher t species) the l system seems the | ary Figure hreshold. T he threshol lower the n s to reach as number | e D.S1: Number of The threshold value Id (more high vulu umber of species v n overall plateau, as of | species consists s represent the nerability traits with high overa s lower thresho highly | dered as high vul number of traits s needed to defin all vulnerability. I old values do not i vulnerab | nerable according to of high vulnerability. In high vulnerability In threshold >=3, the Increase dramatically le species. |
| Supplement combination according to of | ary Figure of semi-q the logical | D.S2: Estimation uantitative and qu matrix adapted fro | of the overall antitative app om (Jones & C | vulnerability of roach (Vulnerab heung, 2018), fo | a species based on a ility factor 1 & 2), r the three categories vulnerability. |
| Supplement inside Medito of the Medito | ary Figure erranean m erranean Se | D.S3 : Number of arine protected are are delineated b | threatened speas. Marine eco y black lines. | ecies with high ri pregions (sensu S MPAs are highli | sk to climate change palding et al., 2007) ghted in green color. |
| Supplement the Mediterra marine | ary Table anean Sea. ' | D.S1: Number of h The last column ind | high climate ris cludes mean nu | sk species in each umber of all threa | marine ecoregion of tened species in each ecoregion. |
| Supplement climate char combination high risk, a s versa, or both on the ta | ary Table nge and th of the spec species sho h high rank axonomic | D.S2: Threatened neir respective vul- cies exposure and vul- uld have either a n s for vulnerability organization of | species of the Inerability an vulnerability ra noderate expos and exposure. class, ass | Mediterranean S d exposure sco ank. In order to b sure and a high v Taxonomic grou igned by the | Sea with high risk to res. High risk is a be characterized with ulnerability, or vice- p was selected based IUCN RedList. |
| Supplement Corresponde Dimensions | ary Table nce Analys with darke | D.S3 : Eigenvalue sis, with the perce or colour were sel- | es of each of entage of the ected for the | the eight dimens variance explaine analysis (inertias | sions from the Joint dby each of them. s lower than 0.013). |
| Supplement dimensions coordinate fo graph | ary Table of the Join or each dim quadra | D.S4 : Loadings of nt Correspondence ension K of the sol int are | f the vulnerab e analysis. K= lution (x1000) high | ility traits' moda =1 and K=2 rep . Trait modalities ilighted | lities to the first two resent the principal grouped in the same in bold. |